

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease





e-journal.unair.ac.id/index.php/IJTID



Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte and Platelet-to-lymphocyte Ratio as Predictors of CD4 Count among People Living with HIV

Occupational and Return-To-Work Characteristics of Covid-19 Patients After Treated in Udayana University Hospital

In Silico Analysis of Inhibitor Potential of Punicalagin Compound in Pomegranate (*Punica granatum*) Against NS5 DENV-3 Protein

The Effect of C-Reactive Protein Levels, Neutrophil, and Lymphocyte Count to Mortality of COVID-19 Patients with Sepsis in Referral Hospital

Exploring the Therapeutic Potential of Glycyrrhizic Acid in Liver Implication in Dengue Infection: A Case Report

Relationship between Knowledge and Stigma with Attitude Towards People with Leprosy in Professional Nursing Students

Re-Emergence of Ampicillin Sensitive *Salmonella* Typhi and the Increase of Ciprofloxacin Resistance in Typhoid Fever Treatment in Asia: A Systematic Review

Purple Urine Bag Syndrome: a Rare Manifestation of Urinary Tract Infection

Vol. 12 • No. 1 January - April 2024



Volume 12 Number 1 January - April 2024

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

EDITORIAL TEAM OF INDONESIAN JOURNAL OF TROPICAL AND INFECTIOUS DISEASE

EDITOR IN CHIEF

Prihartini Widiyanti, Indonesia

EDITORIAL BOARD

Henri A. Verbrugh, Netherlands Mark Alan Graber, United States Kazufumi Shimizu, Japan Hak Hotta, Japan Masanori Kameoka, Japan Bimo Ario Tejo, Malaysia Yimam Getaneh, Ethiopia Matthew Kelly, Australia Che Puteh Osman, Malaysia Retno Handajani, Indonesia Kuntaman Kuntaman, Indonesia Dadik Raharjo, Indonesia Ni Nyoman Sri Budayanti, Indonesia Tri Wibawa, Indonesia Siti Qomariyah Khairunnisa, Indonesia Teguh Hari, Indonesia

SECRETARIAT

Salwa Almas Shalihah

Secretariat Office

Publishing Unit of Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease, Institute of Tropical Disease Universitas Airlangga Kampus C, Jalan Mulyorejo Surabaya 60115, Jawa Timur – Indonesia. Phone 62-31-5992445-46 Faximile 62-31-5992445 E-mail: ijtid@itd.unair.ac.id Homepage: e-journal.unair.ac.id/index.php/IJTID

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

CONTENTS

		Page
1.	Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte and Platelet-to-lymphocyte Ratio as Predictors of CD4 Count among People Living with HIV Zahra Roidah Amalia Hasna, Agus Jati Sunggoro, Sri Marwanta, Dhani Redhono Harioputro, Vimam Cataneh Misgania. Siti Oamariyah Khairunisa	, 1 13
2	Occupational and Return-To-Work Characteristics of Covid-19 Patients After Treated in Udavana	1-15
2.	University Hospital	
	I Kadek Jony Dwi Karya, I Made Ady Wirawan, Cokorda Agung Wahyu Purnamasidhi, Maria Florensia, Haruko Akatsu	.14–23
3.	In Silico Analysis of Inhibitor Potential of Punicalagin Compound in Pomegranate (Punica granatum) Against NS5 DENV-3 Protein	
	Radinal Kautsar, Yuanita Rachmawati, Saiku Rokhim, Teguh Hari Sucipto, Mamik Damayanti, Aisyah Hadi Ramadhani	.24-34
4.	The Effect of C-Reactive Protein Levels, Neutrophil, and Lymphocyte Count to Mortality of COVID-19 Patients with Sepsis in Referral Hospital	
	Avina Norma Malikhah, Dhani Redhono Harioputro, Agung Susanto, Evi Nurhayatun	.35–42
5.	Exploring the Therapeutic Potential of Glycyrrhizic Acid in Liver Implication in Dengue Infection:	
	A Case Report	
	Indah Sagitaisna Putri, Pipik Ripa'i, Donghwa Na, Herry Wibowo	.43–49
6.	Relationship between Knowledge and Stigma with Attitude Towards People with Leprosy in Professional Nursing Students	
	Ishomatul Faizah, Laily Hidayati, Ika Nur Pratiwi	50–57
7.	Re-Emergence of Ampicillin Sensitive Salmonella Typhi and the Increase of Ciprofloxacin	
	Resistance in Typhoid Fever Treatment in Asia: A Systematic Review	
	Felicity Tanjaya, Johan Nathan, Ita M. Nainggola, Lucky H. Moehario, Anita Devi Krishnan Thantry, Andi Miyanza R. L. Tunru, Sherlyn Sean	.58–66
8.	Purple Urine Bag Syndrome: a Rare Manifestation of Urinary Tract Infection	
	Ilma Dzurriyyatan Toyyibah, Rosida Fajariya, Catur Budi Keswardiono , Lucas Teixeira	
	Campos Queiroz, Tarissa Diandra Putri Wibowo	67-72

Available online at IJTID Website: https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/

Indonesian Journal of **Tropical and Infectious Disease**

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Original Article

Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte and Platelet-to-lymphocyte Ratio as Predictors of CD4 Count among People Living with HIV

Zahra Roidah Amalia Hasna¹, Agus Jati Sunggoro², Sri Marwanta², Dhani Redhono Harioputro^{3*}, Yimam Getaneh Misganie^{4,5}, Siti Qamariyah Khairunisa⁶

¹Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, Surakarta, Indonesia. ²Division of Hematology and Medical Oncology, Department of Internal Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Indonesia ³Division of Tropic Infection Diseases, Department of Internal Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Indonesia ⁴State Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, National Clinical Research Center for Infectious Diseases, Collaborativy Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, College of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China. ⁵Ethiopian Public Health Institute, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. ⁶Institute of Tropical Disease, Universitas Airlangga, Surabaya 60115, East Java, Indonesia orative

Received: 20th September 2023; Revised: 21th September 2023; Accepted: 18th October 2023

ABSTRACT

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection remains a global health concern characterized by the reduction of CD4 lymphocyte cells and weakened immune systems. Knowing the CD4 count and the factors affecting it is crucial for assessing the immune status of HIV patients. Hematological markers, including neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR), have been recognized as prognostic tools that were associated with CD4 Count. The goal of this study was to determine the impact of NLR and PLR on CD4 count among people living with HIV (PLHIV). This study used analytic observational method with a crosssectional on HIV-positive individuals who were treated at Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Indonesia. The Chi-Square and Pearson correlation tests were performed to identify the correlation between variables and the linear regression test was done to investigate the association between NLR and PLR with CD4 count. A total of 80 PLHIV were identified for this study, with the median CD4 count of 103 cells/mm3. NLR and PLR were found to be 3.06 and 181.03, respectively. This study found that opportunistic infection, duration on ARV treatment, body mass index, total lymphocyte count, and hemoglobin were significantly associated with CD4 count. The Pearson correlation test revealed a strong correlation between NLR and PLR to CD4 count. Linear regression analyses showed that NLR and PLR could predict the CD4 count. These findings indicate that NLR and PLR could serve as alternative prognostic parameters for monitoring treatment outcomes in PLHIV, particularly in health facilities where access to CD4 count testing is limited.

Keywords: HIV, Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio, Platelet to Lymphocyte Ratio, CD4 count, and prognostic factor.

Highlights: This study confirms the predictive role of NLR and PLR in CD4 count as the indicator of immune status in PLHIV. Both of these are widely available markers that can aid clinicians in monitoring HIV patients' immune status, thereby reducing morbidity and mortality from HIV infection.

How to Cite: Hasna, Z.R.A., Sunggoro, A.J., Marwanta, S. and Harioputro, D.R., Misganie, Y. G., Khairunisa, S. Q. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte and Platelet-to-lymphocyte Ratio as Predictors of CD4 Count among People Living with HIV. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 1-13. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.49929

* Corresponding Author: dhani redhono@staff.uns.ac.id



INTRODUCTION

Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection has become a health challenge with increasing case rates worldwide. According to UNAIDS data, a total of 39 million people worldwide had HIV and approximately 1.3 million of them were newly diagnosed in 2022.¹ Since the first cases were officially reported in 1981, a total of 84.2 million cases of HIV have been found.² The primary targets of HIV infection are the Cluster of Differentiation 4 (CD4) and chemokine receptors, both of which can be found in several human immune system cells.³ These cells include helper T lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and macrophages.³ Viruses attached to receptors on target cells will proceed with membrane fusion, allowing the viral components to enter the cells and replicate.⁴ Continued replication will destroy target cells, decreasing CD4 levels.⁵ This leads to impaired immunity and susceptibility to various opportunistic infections.⁶

Examining CD4 counts needs to be done regularly to determine the immune status of HIV patients.⁶ However, there are several obstacles in conducting the examination, such as high examination fees and limited availability of this service in health facilities.⁷ For this matter, it is crucial to discover alternatives to CD4 tests to monitor the immune status of HIV patients. Over the past few years, the neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet-tolymphocyte ratio (PLR) have emerged as systemic inflammatory indicators and predictive factors of death in the general population.⁸ NLR reflects both types of the body's immune response, neutrophils as an innate response and lymphocytes as an response.⁹ adaptive Meanwhile, PLR simultaneously connects inflammatory pathways and aggregation.¹⁰

HIV infection is linked with immune hyperactivation and chronic inflammation,

characterized by rising levels of various proinflammatory cytokines and hypercoagulable biomarkers.¹¹ High NLR and PLR have been shown to reflect severity and were linked with increased mortality in PLHIV as a result of the immunosuppression linked to low CD4 count.9 One of the challenges in the clinical management of PLHIV is the limited access to CD4 count service in primary healthcare facilities while there is hematologic testing in these facilities. Despite the potential role of NLR and PLR to predict CD4 count, there is limited evidence in this area. Therefore, the goal of this study was to determine the correlation between NLR and PLR on CD4 count among PLHIV.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This research is characterized as a cross-sectional study carried out at the Voluntary Counselling and Testing Polyclinic of Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Central Java, Indonesia, involving patients with HIV from 2017 – 2023. The participant inclusion criteria included patients diagnosed with HIV aged 18 - 65. The exclusion criteria encompassed patients with malignancy; patients with chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease, liver cirrhosis, chronic kidney failure, and hematological disorders; patients with a history of autoimmune or currently undergoing immunosuppressant therapy; and patients with herpes simplex virus (HSV) coinfection. The sample selection involved purposive random sampling, with a minimum requirement of 60 subjects. The variables investigated within this study consisted of NLR and PLR as independent variables and CD4 as the dependent variable.

Laboratory Testing

The NLR and PLR were derived from routine hematology examination results using a hematology analyzer based on flow cytometry. The calculation of the NLR



involved dividing the total of neutrophils by the total of lymphocytes, while the PLR was determined by dividing the total of platelet count by the total of lymphocytes.

CD4 counts were also obtained using the flow cytometry method. All data were sourced from medical records, selecting patients who underwent both routine hematology test and CD4 test within a close period. For this study, a total of 80 patients were included.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyzes were conducted on both the main variables and patients' characteristic variables. The characteristics of research subjects encompassed the demographic variables such as age and along with clinical variables gender, including opportunistic infections, duration on ARV treatment, body mass index, total lymphocyte count, and hemoglobin. A normality test was conducted on continuous variables. Those that followed a normal distribution were presented as mean \pm SD, whereas variables with a non-normal distribution were reported as median (interquartile range). Statistical analysis of categorical variables was conducted using the Chi-Square test, while continuous variables were analyzed using the Pearson test. The Pearson test was also performed to asses the correlation between NLR and PLR with CD4 count, and linear regression analysis was employed to identify the impact of NLR and PLR on CD4 count. To be considered as a statistically significant finding, the p-value should be <0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

HIV Patients Characteristics

Table 1 shows the demographic and clinical profiles of research subjects. A total of 80 HIV patients were included. The majority of patients were ≥35 years old (53.8%), male (66.3%), had a normal BMI (51.3%), and had opportunistic infection (75%). Fifty-five (68.8%) of the patients had duration of ARV treatment for <3 months and used tenofovir-lamivudine-48 (60%)efavirenz (TDF + 3TC + EFV) ARV regimen. Most of patients had CD4 count <200 cells/mm³ (61.3%), had normal AST (71.3%), and had normal ALT (90%). Also, 44 (55%) patients were anemic.

Table 2 shows the hematological characteristics of the research subjects including neutrophils, lymphocytes, platelets, leukocytes, NLR, PLR, CD4, TLC, hemoglobin, AST, and ALT. The median CD4 at presentation was 103 (2 – 927) cells/mm³, with the median NLR and PLR were 3.06 (0.87 - 15.94) and 181.03 (69.17 - 741.26), respectively.

Table 3 shows that opportunistic infection, body mass index (BMI), total lymphocyte count (TLC), duration on ARV treatment, and hemoglobin (Hb) were significantly associated with CD4 count.

Variables	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)
Age		
<35 years	37	46.3
≥35 years	43	53.8
Sex		
Male	53	66.3
Female	27	33.8
BMI		
Underweight (<18,5 kg/m ²)	25	31.3
Normal $(18,5 - 24,9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$	41	51.3
Overweight ($\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$)	14	17.5

Table 1. Demographic and Clinical Profiles of HIV Patients



CD4 count		
<200 cells/mm ³	49	61.3
$\geq 200 \text{ cells/mm}^3$	31	38.8
Opportunistic infection		
Without opportunistic infection	20	25
With opportunistic infection	60	75
Candidiasis	19	31.7
Wasting syndrome	19	31.7
Pulmonary tuberculosis	6	10
Pneumonia	4	6.7
Toxoplasmosis	8	13.3
Cytomegalovirus	2	3.3
Pruritic papular eruption	4	6.7
Duration of ARV treatment		
\leq 3 months	55	68.8
>3 months	25	31.3
ARV regimen		
TDF + 3TC + EFV	48	60
TDF + 3TC + DTG	20	25
AZT + 3TC + NVP	10	12.5
TDF + FTC + EFV	1	1.3
AZT + 3TC + EFV	1	1.3
Liver function test		
Normal AST (5 - $40 \mu/l$)	57	71.3
High AST (>40 μ /l)	23	28.8
Normal ALT (7 - 56 μ /l)	72	90
High ALT (>56 μ /l)	8	10
Hematological characteristics		
Anemia (<13 g/dl in men, <12 g/dl in women)	44	55
Thrombocytosis (>450 \times 10 ³ /µl)	4	5
Thrombocytopenia ($<150 \times 10^{3}/\mu l$)	5	6.3
Lymphopenia (<1000 cells/mm ³)	29	36.4

Table 2. Hematological Characteristics of HIV Patients.

Variables	Mean ± SD or Median (Range)
Neutrofil (%)	$65.15 \pm 12.16^{*}$
Limfosit (%)	$22.62 \pm 10.07^{*}$
Platelet $(10^3/\mu l)$	$287.43 \pm 97.01^*$
Leukosit $(10^3/\mu l)$	6.5 (2.4 – 16.3)#
NLR	$3.06 (0.87 - 15.94)^{\#}$
PLR	181.03 (69.17 - 741.26)#
CD4 (cells/mm ³)	103 (2 – 927)#
TLC	1475.6 (3672 – 4661.8)#
Hb (g/dl)	$12.25 (8.4 - 16.9)^{\#}$
ALT (μ/l)	24 (8-190)#
AST (μ/l)	29 (15 – 208)#

*) Data with normal distribution are presented in mean \pm SD

4



f) Data with abnorma	al distribution are presente	d in median	(interquartile range)
-------------------------------	------------------------------	-------------	-----------------------

CD4 C						
	CD4 Count					
Variables	<200 cells/mm ³		≥200 cells/mm ³		p-value	
	n	%	n	%		
Age						
<35 years	23	46.9	14	45.2	0.877^{a}	
≥35 years	26	53.1	17	54.8		
Sex						
Male	33	67.3	20	64.5	0.794^{a}	
Female	16	32.7	11	35.5		
Opportunistic infection						
Without opportunistic infection	4	8.2	16	51.6	0.000^{a}	
With opportunistic infection	45	91.8	15	48.4		
Duration on ARV treatment						
\leq 3 months	45	91.8	10	32.3	0.000^{a}	
>3 months	4	8.2	21	67.7		
Total lymphocyte count						
Normal	20	40.8	31	0	0.000^{b}	
Lymphopenia	29	59.2	0	100		
Hemoglobin						
Normal	15	30.6	21	67.7	0.000^{b}	
Anemia	34	69.4	10	32.3		
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)						
Underweight	20	40.8	5	16.1	0.002	
Normal	21	42.9	20	64.5	0.0025	
Overweight	8	16.3	6	25.8		

oun
D

Bivariate analysis: a. Chi-Square; b. Pearson Correlation

This study found that the majority of characteristic variables of the patients were associated with CD4 count, except age and gender. This finding is consistent with the conducted cohort study in Cipto Mangunkusumo Hospital, Indonesia, which showed that age and gender were not linked with the increase of CD4 count (p = 0.112; p = 0.554).¹² A cohort study in Africa also proved that age was not a factor that significantly influenced the recovery of CD4 count after undergoing ARV therapy.¹³ However, these findings are in contrast to the results of a cohort study in Iran, which revealed that older age affected lower CD4 count.¹⁴ The aging process is linked with the atrophy of the thymus and reduced production of T and B lymphocytes.^{15,16} Therefore, older patients can face a higher risk of HIV complications than younger patients due to weakened immune system.¹⁴

In terms of gender, the majority of the study participants (66.3%) were male. This is consistent with a research by Sajadipour et al.¹⁷, which found that males had higher rates of HIV infection than females because they engaged in riskier sexual behavior.¹⁷ According to the Chi-Square test analysis results, there was no significant association between gender and CD4 count (p = 0.794). Similarly, study by Yogani et al.¹² also stated that gender was not related to an increase in CD4 count (p = 0.544).¹² In addition, a cohort study in Tanzania has proven that men and women have similar immunological and clinical conditions after one year of ARV treatment.18

This study displayed that most patients who have CD4 count lower than 200 cells/mm³ had opportunistic infections. The bivariate analysis results using the Chi-Square test indicated a significant association



between opportunistic infections and CD4 count (p = 0.000). This result aligns with previous studies, that low CD4 levels were predictor of opportunistic infections.^{19,20,21} Patients with CD4 <200 cells/mm³ were shown to be 4.9 times higher of getting opportunistic infections than patients with CD4 >350 cells/mm³.¹⁹ The reduction in CD4 T lymphocytes can lead to impaired humoral and cellular immune responses, putting patients with low CD4 levels at risk of being more susceptible to various pathogenic infections.²²

According to the duration of ARV treatment, it was found that the majority of patients with CD4 count <200 cells/mm³ were patients undergoing therapy for ≤ 3 months, while those with CD4 count >200 cells/mm³ were dominated by patients undergoing therapy for >3 months. The bivariate analysis using the Chi-Square test indicated a significant relationship between the duration of ARV treatment and CD4 count (p = 0.000). CD4 count can increase especially in the first 3 months after ARV initiation and continue to increase for up to 10 years of therapy.²³ This finding is also supported by study by Hidayat et al.²⁴ which found that ARV therapy for 6, 12, and 24 months had a significant effect on increasing CD4 levels in HIV patients.²⁴

A cross-sectional study by Kwantwi et al.¹⁴ in Ghana, West Africa revealed that total lymphocyte count (TLC), hemoglobin (Hb), and body mass index (BMI) could provide prognostic information about CD4 count in HIV patients.²⁵ Therefore, this study analyzed the relationship between TLC, Hb, and BMI with CD4 count. The analysis using the Pearson test showed that TLC, Hb, and BMI had a significant positive correlation with CD4 count. TLC has a strong positive correlation with CD4 count with a correlation coefficient of r = 0.767. Similar results were found in the study by Ola Wuan et al.²⁶ involving 121 HIV patients in Kupang, a strong positive correlation was found between TLC and CD4 count (r = 0.799).²⁶ This finding is also supported by several studies showing that TLC can be a predictor of CD4 levels.^{27,28} The study conducted by Chen et al.²⁶ showed that TLC <1570 cells/mm³ could be a predictor of CD4 levels <350 cells/mm³ with a sensitivity of 65% and a specificity of 80%.²⁷

This study found a moderate positive correlation between BMI and CD4 count (r = 0.422). Correspondingly, study conducted by Dwiadnyana et al.²⁹ showed a strong positive correlation between Hb and CD4 count (r = 0.698).²⁹ The occurrence of cytokine dysregulation, especially the increase in TNF, IL-6, and IFN- γ in HIV infection inhibits the process of erythropoiesis so that Hb levels can decrease along with decreased CD4 levels during the course of infection.³⁰ As a result, anemia is one of the hematological symptoms that occurs most frequently HIV infection.³¹

This study also found a weak positive correlation between BMI and CD4 count (r = 0.342). Matching results were found in the study of Kwantwi et al.25, which stated a positive correlation between BMI and CD4 (r = 0.301).²⁵ Another research by Widiyanti et al.³² also stated that the BMI value significantly affected increasing CD4 count.³² BMI is an indicator for assessing nutritional status, which can be a predictor of immune status in HIV patients.³³ A study in China proved that HIV patients with higher baseline BMI had a better immune recovery process.³⁴

Correlation between NLR and PLR with CD4 Count

As displayed in Table 4 and Figure 1, this study indicated a strong negative correlation between NLR to the CD4 count (r = -0.648; p = 0.000) and between PLR to the CD4 count (r = -0.668; p = 0.000).

Table 4. Correlation between NLR and PLRwith CD4 Count.





Figure 1. Scatter plot of the correlation between NLR and CD4 (A), PLR and CD4 (B)

Correlation between NLR and CD4 Count

Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte Ratio (NLR) refers to the ratio between neutrophils and lymphocytes which is used as a marker of the progression of various diseases including HIV. NLR combines both types of the body's immune response, lymphocytes as the adaptive immune response and neutrophils as the innate immune response. The Spearman correlation analysis between NLR and CD4 count yielded a correlation value of r = -0.648

which means that the higher the NLR value, the lower the CD4 count. This finding is in accordance with the research carried out by Handayani et al.³⁵, which found a negative correlation between NLR and CD4 count (r = -0.321; p < 0.001).³⁵

The discovery of a negative correlation between NLR values and CD4 count is backed by Nugraha dan Suryana's (2021) study on the association between NLR and CD4 with opportunistic infections.³⁶ The study proved that NLR has a positive correlation with opportunistic infections (r =0.47; p <0.001), while CD4 has a negative correlation with opportunistic infections (r =-0.69; p <0.001).³⁶ Opportunistic infections are more common at higher clinical stages and lower CD4 levels.¹⁹ Meanwhile, HIV patients with bacterial infection demonstrated a higher NLR compared to HIV patients who are not infected with bacteria due to an increase in neutrophils, especially during the beginning phases of the inflammatory response.³⁷ This shows that the increase in NLR occurs linearly with the decrease in CD4.

The opposite result was found in the study of Wande et al.³⁸ which showed that NLR had a weak positive correlation with CD4 (r = 0.375).³⁸ NLR values can be influenced by various factors including age, BMI, side effects of treatment for chronic infections such as hepatitis C and hepatitis B, and various chronic conditions, including cancer, diabetes, stroke, malnutrition, and coronary heart disease.^{39,40} In addition, neutrophil levels can also decrease in advanced-stage HIV patients due to the cytotoxic effects of the virus and damage to hematopoietic stem cells which causes pancytopenia.⁴¹ This decrease in neutrophil levels can cause a decrease in NLR values along with the decrease in CD4 count as HIV infection develops. Therefore, the use of NLR as a biomarker should consider the factors that can influence it, including medication usage and other medical conditions that affect hematology.



The standard NLR value typically falls within the range of 1 to 2.40 Contrarily, an NLR value greater than three can indicate conditions like pathological cancer. inflammation, and infection.⁴⁰ Our study showed that the median of NLR was 3.06 (0.87 - 15.94) cells/mm³, which means it has increased from the normal value. Correspondingly, research conducted by Emokpae et al.42 also found higher NLR values in subjects with HIV compared to the control group.⁴²

Increased NLR in HIV infection can occur from increased neutrophil or reduced lymphocyte counts. The increase in neutrophils happens due to basal hyperactivation of polymorphonuclear cells, greater release driven by a of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-18. IL-22, TGF-B, and IL-8 during chronic inflammation.43 On the other hand, the decrease in lymphocytes can occur from the decrease in CD4 T lymphocytes as a cytopathic effect of the virus through several mechanisms such as apoptosis, pyroptosis, or direct destruction by viruses.⁵ Therefore, the increase in NLR in HIV infection occurs linearly with the decrease in CD4 count.

Correlation between PLR and CD4 Count

Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratio (PLR) is the ratio between platelets and lymphocytes which is used as an indicator to assess the progression of various diseases including HIV. A high PLR value can reflect the level of systemic inflammation and infection.⁴⁴ The Spearman test finding established a strong negative correlation between PLR and CD4 (r = -0.668; p = 0.000). This means that the higher the PLR value, the lower the CD4 level.

Although no studies have directly examined the relationship between PLR and CD4, previous study has discussed the prognostic role of PLR in HIV. The cohort study conducted by Raffetti et al.⁹ demonstrated that an increasing PLR was linked with the mortality risk among HIV patients.⁹ Using the Cox proportional hazard model, it was found that PLR <100 and PLR >200 compared to PLR 100-200 are linked with a higher risk of death.⁹

In HIV infection, increased PLR can occur due to increased platelets and decreased lymphocytes. Increased platelets occur due to dysregulation of various cytokines and coagulation biomarkers such as fibrinogen, fibrin, thrombin, D-dimer, and VWF.45 Platelet activation levels can also increase due to the presence of viral antigen-antibody complexes and anti-platelet antibodies produced by B lymphocyte cells in response to viruses.⁴⁶ This was demonstrated in research conducted by Nkambule et al.47 which showed higher platelet activation in HIV patients compared to the participants of the control group.⁴⁷ Meanwhile, advanced HIV infection can also have a cytopathic effect and induce increased apoptosis of CD4 T lymphocyte cells, causing lymphopenia.⁴⁸ Therefore, the increase in PLR in HIV infection occurs linearly with the decrease in CD4 count.

The Roles of NLR and PLR as Predictor of CD4 Count

The linear regression analyses concluded that NLR and PLR significantly influenced the CD4 count (p = 0.020; p =0.016) as shown in Table 5. *Nagelkerke R Square* was 0.282 which means that the tested variable had a 28.2% influence on the dependent variable (CD4 count), while other variables outside this research analysis influenced the additional 71.8%.

 Table 5. Linear Regression Test.

Variables	В	p-value	Nagelkerke R Square
NLR	-25.549	0.020	
PLR	-0.486	0.016	0.282
Constant	436.740	0.000	

The regression model in this multivariate analysis is as follows:



$$Y = 436.740 - 25.549 X_1 - 0.486 X_2$$

$$\begin{array}{ll} Y & = CD4 \ count \\ X_1 & = NLR \\ X_2 & = PLR \end{array}$$

Our finding in multivariate analysis showed that NLR and PLR had a prognostic role in determining the CD4 count. This result is strengthened by previous research which reported that NLR and PLR could be markers of the progressivity of HIV infection.^{9,49} The cohort study conducted by Raffetti et al.9 regarding the relationship between NLR and PLR with the mortality risk of 8230 HIV patients showed that patients with NLR 2-4 and >4 had a higher mortality risk compared to patients with NLR <2.9 Also, patients with PLR <100 and PLR >200 had a higher mortality risk than those who had PLR 100-200.9 Another cohort study also found that HIV patients with Non-AIDS-Defining Cancers (NADCs) who had increased NLR and PLR had a higher risk of death.⁵⁰

A research conducted by Merriman et al.⁵¹ involving 259 HIV patients, proved that increased NLR and PLR could arise among patients who were receiving ARV treatment or patients who were newly diagnosed with uncontrolled infections.⁵¹ This study revealed that increased NLR was associated with patient mortality (p = 0.0405).⁵¹ This corresponds with the study by Hanberg et al.49 demonstrated which а strong relationship between NLR and PLR with patient mortality (p <0.0001).⁴⁹

An increase in NLR and PLR indicates systemic inflammation, which has been shown to increase the risk of mortality in various diseases.⁹ Meanwhile, in HIV infection, CD4 count reflects the patient's immunological status and decreased levels of this marker is a factor that can increase the risk of mortality and morbidity.⁵² This study identified a significantly strong negative correlation between NLR and PLR on CD4. This is corroborated by the result of the linear regression test, revealing that NLR and PLR

contributed to a 28.2% influence on CD4 count. Thus, this study could validate that high NLR and PLR reflect the immunological status and the progressivity of HIV infection as indicated by low CD4 count.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

Our study highlights the impact of NLR and PLR in CD4 count and expands previous results about the prognostic role of these two markers. As inflammatory markers, they are cheap and widely available from routine hematology test in limited healthcare settings. This can provide a simple and easy way to determine the immune status of HIV patients as reflected by the CD4 count. There are several limitations such as we have not carried out serial monitoring of the hematological variables throughout the disease course and the data we collected consisted of patients who had varying durations of ARV treatment. Thus, we suggest a further study to investigate the predictive role of NLR and PLR in each disease stage with the larger sample size of HIV patients, which may provide more specific results.

CONCLUSIONS

This study found a significantly strong negative correlation between NLR and PLR to CD4 count in HIV patients, showing that high NLR and PLR could predict decreased immunity in HIV patients as indicated by low CD4 count. In health facilities where access to CD4 count testing is limited, NLR and PLR could serve as alternative prognostic parameters for monitoring treatment outcomes in PLHIV. This could possibly assist clinicians in monitoring HIV patients' immune status, thus contributing to a reduction in HIVrelated morbidity and mortality.

ETHICAL CLEARANCE

This research was approved by the Health Research Ethics Committee of Dr. Moewardi Hospital with number 102/II/HREC/2023.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to express our sincere thanks to the Head of Department of Internal Medicine of Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Central Java, Indonesia, for giving the opportunity to carry out our research.

FUNDING

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

We affirm that there are no conflicts of interest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

We affirm that all authors have contributed to this work. Each author has been involved in drafting and critically revising the content. All authors have given approval and agree to be accountable for this work.

REFERENCES

- 1. United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Global HIV & AIDS statistics [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 21]. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fac t-sheet
- 2. World Health Organization. HIV [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 May 21]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/them es/hiv-aids
- 3. Abbas A, Lichtman A, Pillai S.

Immunologi Dasar Abbas: Fungsi dan Kelainan Sistem Imun. Edisi ke 5. Jakarta: Elsevier; 2016.

- 4. Deeks SG, Overbaugh J, Phillips A, Buchbinder S. HIV infection. Nat Rev Dis Prim. 2015 Oct 1;1(1):1–22.
- Vijayan KV, Karthigeyan KP, Tripathi SP, Hanna LE. Pathophysiology of CD4+ T-Cell depletion in HIV-1 and HIV-2 infections. Front Immunol. 2017;8(May):1–8.
- Garcia SAB, Guzman N. Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome CD4+ Count. StatPearls [Internet]. 2021 Aug 11 [cited 2022 Sep 18]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/N BK513289/
- Rosaria I. Perbandingan Kadar CD4 dan Total Lymphocyte Count dengan Kombinasi Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy pada pasien HIV/AIDS di RSUP Dr.Kariadi Semarang. J Kesehat Andalas. 2020;9(1):59.
- Luo Z, Zhang W, Chen L, Xu N. Prognostic Value of Neutrophil:Lymphocyte and Platelet:Lymphocyte Ratios for 28-Day Mortality of Patients with AECOPD. Int J Gen Med. 2021;14:2839–48.
- Raffetti E, Donato F, Casari S, Castelnuovo F, Sighinolfi L, Bandera A, et al. Systemic inflammation-based scores and mortality for all causes in HIV-infected patients: A MASTER cohort study. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17(1):1–9.
- Qu R, Ling Y, Zhang Y hui zhi, Wei L ya, Chen X, Li X mian, et al. Platelet-tolymphocyte ratio is associated with prognosis in patients with coronavirus disease-19. J Med Virol. 2020;92(9):1533.
- Deeks SG, Tracy R, Douek DC. Systemic Effects of Inflammation on Health during Chronic HIV Infection. Immunity. 2013;39(4):633.
- 12. Yogani I, Karyadi TH, Uyainah A,



Koesnoe S. Faktor-faktor yang Berhubungan dengan Kenaikan CD4 pada Pasien HIV yang Mendapat Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy dalam 6 bulan Pertama. J Penyakit Dalam Indones. 2017;2(4):217.

- Bahemana E, Esber A, Dear N, Ganesan K, Parikh A, Reed D, et al. Impact of age on CD4 recovery and viral suppression over time among adults living with HIV who initiated antiretroviral therapy in the African Cohort Study. AIDS Res Ther. 2020;17(1):1–8.
- 14. Afrashteh S, Fararouei M, Ghaem H, Aryaie M. Factors Associated with Baseline CD4 Cell Counts and Advanced HIV Disease among Male and Female HIV-Positive Patients in Iran: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Trop Med. 2022;2022.
- Pinti M, Appay V, Campisi J, Frasca D, Fülöp T, Sauce D, et al. Aging of the immune system – focus on inflammation and vaccination. Eur J Immunol. 2016;46(10):2286.
- Montecino-Rodriguez E, Berent-Maoz B, Dorshkind K. Causes, consequences, and reversal of immune system aging. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(3):958.
- Sajadipour M, Rezaei S, Irandoost SF, Ghaumzadeh M, Salmani nadushan M, Gholami M, et al. What explains gender inequality in HIV infection among highrisk people? A Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition. Arch Public Heal. 2022;80(1):1–9.
- 18. Mosha F, Muchunguzi V, Matee M, Sangeda RZ, Vercauteren J, Nsubuga P, et al. Gender differences in HIV disease progression and treatment outcomes among HIV patients one year after starting antiretroviral treatment (ART) in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. BMC Public Health. 2013;13(1):1–7.
- Damtie D, Yismaw G, Woldeyohannes D, Anagaw B. Common opportunistic infections and their CD4 cell correlates among HIV-infected patients attending

at antiretroviral therapy clinic of Gondar University Hospital, Northwest Ethiopia. BMC Res Notes. 2013;6(1):534.

- 20. Kumar A, Singh S, Sahu N. Evaluation of CD4 count and correlation with development of opportunistic infection among HIV seropositives. East J Med Sci. 2016;1:12–6.
- 21. Widya AM, Mertaniasih NM, Kawilarang AP, Marhana IA. Low Cd4 Lymphocyte Count Related Risk to Pneumocystis Jiroveci Pneumonia in HIV/AIDS Patients From Bronchoalveolar Lavage Specimens Using Real Time PCR Detection. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 2017;6(6):145-9.
- 22. Clumeck N, Wit S de. Prevention of Opportunistic Infections in HIV/AIDS. Infect Dis Third Ed [Internet]. 2023 May 22 [cited 2023 Aug 19];2:958–63. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/N BK513345/
- Bishop JD, DeShields S, Cunningham T, Troy SB. CD4 Count Recovery After Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Patients Infected With Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Am J Med Sci. 2016;352(3):239–44.
- 24. Hidayat R, Amir H, Agus AI, Hisyam M. Pengaruh Pemberian Lama Obat Antiretroviral Terhadap Sel CD4 Pada Penderita HIV/AIDS di Makassar Indonesia. Idea Nurs J. An 2023;2(01):24-30.
- 25. Kwantwi LB, Tunu BK, Boateng D, Quansah DY. Body Mass Index, Haemoglobin, and Total Lymphocyte Count as a Surrogate for CD4 Count in Resource Limited Settings. J Biomarkers. 2017 Apr 18;2017:1–6.
- Ola Wuan A, Herlinalt Gloria Banunu A, Tiku Kambuno N, Johannes W. Total Lymfosit Count (TLC) with CD4 in HIV/AIDS Patients at Kupang. J Teknol Lab. 2019;8(2):70–5.
- 27. Chen J, Li W, Huang X, Guo C, Zou R,



Yang Q, et al. Evaluating Total Lymphocyte Count as a Surrogate Marker for CD4 Cell Count in the Management of HIV-Infected Patients in Resource-Limited Settings: A Study from China. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e69704.

- Abdollahi A, Saffar H, Shoar S, Jafari S. Is total lymphocyte count a predictor for CD4 cell count in initiation antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected patients? Niger Med J. 2014;55(4):289.
- 29. Dwiadnyana SBK, Suega K, Merati KTP. Korelasi antara kadar hemoglobin dengan jumlah limfosit t CD4 pada penderita terinfeksi human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) pra terapi antiretroviral. Medicina (B Aires). 2018;49(1).
- 30. Mohamad WMW, Rahman WSWA, Al-Salih SAA, Hussin CMC, Mohamad WMW, Rahman WSWA. et al. Immunological and Haematological Changes in HIV Infection. Trends in Basic and Therapeutic Options in HIV Infection - Towards a Functional Cure, ed. Okechukwu IB. [Internet]. 2015 Sep 2 [cited 2023 May 21]; Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/4 9045
- 31. Cao G, Wang Y, Wu Y, Jing W, Liu J, Liu M. Prevalence of anemia among people living with HIV: A systematic review and meta-analysis. eClinicalMedicine. 2022;44.
- Widiyanti M, Hadi I, Lina M, Kumalasari F, Natalia EI, Purba D, et al. Body mass index increases CD4+ count in HIV/AIDS patients on first-line therapy. Universa Med. 2020;39(2):121– 7.
- 33. Zhu J, Huang H, Wang M, Zhang Y, Mo J, Tian W, et al. High baseline body mass index predicts recovery of CD4+ T lymphocytes for HIV/AIDS patients receiving long-term antiviral therapy. PLoS One. 2022;17(12):e0279731.

- 34. Li X, Ding H, Geng W, Liu J, Jiang Y, Xu J, et al. Predictive effects of body mass index on immune reconstitution among HIV-infected HAART users in China. BMC Infect Dis. 2019;19(1):1–9.
- 35. Handayani K, Katu S, Bakri S, Halim R, Aman AM, Rasyid H, et al. Correlation of Count and Neutrophil-CD4 Lymphocyte Ratio Human in Immunodeficiency Virus-Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (HIV-AIDS)Patients. Eur J Mol Clin Med. 2020;7(8):985-93.
- Nugraha IKA, Suryana K. Association of Neutrophil-Lymphocyte Ratio and Monocyte-Lymphocyte Ratio with Opportunistic Infections in Patients with HIV infection. Int J Sci Res. 2021;10(8):1201–5.
- 37. Kusnadi D, Liwang MNI, Katu S, Mubin AH, Halim R. Correlation between the neutrophil-lymphocyte count ratio and bacterial infection in patient with human immunodeficiency virus. IOP Conf Ser Earth Environ Sci. 2018 Mar 1;125(1):012029.
- 38. Wande IN, Fuadi MR, Hadi S. The Correlation between total lymphocyte count, hemoglobin levels, lymphocyte/leukocyte ratio (LLR), and lymphocyte/neutrophil ratio (LNR) to CD4 levels in patients with Human Immunodeficiency Virus infection at Sanglah Hospital. Bali Med J. 2019;8(2):429.
- 39. Mouchli M, Reddy S, Gerrard M, Boardman L, Rubio M. Usefulness of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) as a prognostic predictor after treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma." Review article. Ann Hepatol. 2021 May 1;22:100249.
- 40. Zahorec R. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, past, present and future perspectives. Bratisl Lek Listy. 2021;122(7):474–88.
- 41. Shi X, Sims MD, Hanna MM, Xie M,

Gulick PG, Zheng YH, et al. Neutropenia HIV Infection: during Adverse Consequences and Remedies. Int Rev Immunol. 2014;33(6):511.

- 42. Emokpae MA, Aruomaren AI, Mrakpor BA. Association of Neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio with Respiratory burst enzymes in Human Immunodeficiency virus type 1 infected Africans. J Med Discov. 2017;2(2):17025.
- 43. Campillo-Gimenez L, Casulli S, Dudoit Y, Seang S, Carcelain G, Lambert-Niclot S, et al. Neutrophils in antiretroviral therapy-controlled HIV demonstrate hyperactivation associated with а specific IL-17/IL-22 environment. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014;134(5):1142-1152.e5.
- 44. Bai YY, Xi Y, Yin BB, Zhang JH, Chen F, Zhu B. Reference intervals of systemic immune-inflammation index, neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio, lymphocyte-tomonocyte platelet-toratio, and lymphocyte ratio during normal pregnancy in China. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2023;27(3):1033-44.
- 45. Pretorius E. Platelets in HIV: A Guardian of Host Defence or Transient Reservoir of the Virus? Front Immunol. 2021;12:1394.
- 46. Assinger A. Platelets and Infection An Emerging Role of Platelets in Viral Infection. Front Immunol. 2014;5(Dec).
- 47. Nkambule BB, Mxinwa V, Mkandla Z, Mutize T, Mokgalaboni K, Nyambuya TM, et al. Platelet activation in adult HIV-infected patients on antiretroviral

therapy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Med. 2020;18(1):1-13.

- 48. Mbita Z, Hull R, Dlamini Z. Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 (HIV-1)-Mediated Apoptosis: New Therapeutic Targets. Viruses. 2014;6(8):3181–227.
- 49. Hanberg JS, Freiberg MS, Goetz MB, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Gibert C, Oursler KA, et al. Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte and Platelet-to-Lymphocyte Ratios Prognostic as Inflammatory Biomarkers in Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV), Hepatitis C Virus (HCV), and HIV/HCV Coinfection. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2019;6(10):1-9.
- 50. Raffetti E, Donato F, Pezzoli C, Digiambenedetto S, Bandera A, Di Pietro M, et al. Systemic Inflammation-Based Biomarkers and Survival in HIV-Positive Subject with Solid Cancer in an Italian Multicenter Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015;69(5):585-92.
- 51. Merriman RC, Dissanayake O, Alnjar S, Burns F, Miller RF. Incidence and significance of elevated platelet-tolymphocyte and neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratios among hospitalised HIV-positive adult patients. Int J STD AIDS. 2019;30(13):1329-32.
- 52. Garcia SAB, Guzman N. Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome CD4+ Count. StatPearls [Internet]. 2022 Aug 8 [cited 2022 Nov 18]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/N BK513289/.



Available online at IJTID Website: https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Original Article

Occupational and Return-To-Work Characteristics of Covid-19 Patients After Treated in Udayana University Hospital

I Kadek Jony Dwi Karya¹, I Made Ady Wirawan¹⁰, Cokorda Agung Wahyu Purnamasidhi^{2*0}, Maria Florensia³⁰, Haruko Akatsu⁴

¹Department of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Udayana University
²Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Udayana University - Udayana University Hospital, Indonesia
³Medical Faculty of Atma Jaya Catholic University of Indonesia
⁴International University of Health and Welfare School of Medicine, Japan

Received: 12th May 2023; Revised: 10th August 2023; Accepted: 19th December 2023

ABSTRACT

Corona virus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a new disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome corona virus 2 (SARS-COV-2). The COVID-19's symptoms are fatigue, muscle pain, and psychological disorders. The purpose of this study was to describe the occupational characteristics and health conditions of COVID-19 patients who had recovered after being treated at Udayana University Hospital. This study is a descriptive study with a quantitative method and cross-sectional design. The research samples were 110 COVID-19 patients treated at Udayana University Hospital from June to August 2020 and taken using random sampling. The results showed that the highest proportion of respondents were aged between 24-44 years (44.5%), with almost equal proportions of women (50.1%) and men (49.09%). Most of them lived in Denpasar (46.36%). Most respondents work as private sector employees (24.55%), and 70% of them were using personal protective equipment (PPE) while working. Most respondents needed less than seven days to return to work after being declared "in recovery state" (60%), with the remaining 55.5% having a decreased work duration to be less than 8 hours per day. The proportion of respondents with comorbidities was 30.91%. As many as 27.27% were experiencing previously similar symptoms (fever, fatigue, cough) 4 to 5 months after being declared "cured." COVID-19 patients who have recovered should be monitored for a longer period of time to evaluate the symptom reoccurrence and its impact on their occupational and health conditions.

Keywords: Occupations, Back To Work, Comorbidity, COVID-19, and Quality of life.

Highlights: This study provides an overview of the characteristics of COVID-19 patients who have recovered in terms of work and health at the Udayana University Hospital.

How to Cite: Karya, I. K. J. D., Wirawan, I. M. A., Purnamasidhi, C. A. W., Florensia, M. Occupational and Return-to-Work Characteristics of Covid-19 Patients After Treated in Udayana University Hospital. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 14-23. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.45414



^{*} Corresponding Author:

purnamasidhi@unud.ac.id

INTRODUCTION

Since December 2019, the world has been startled by the Chinese government's report on finding unusual pneumonia cases. In 2020, China confirmed the finding as COVID-19. COVID-19 is caused by Severe Acute Respiratory Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). This disease can cause pneumonia and severe respiratory distress like MERS and SARS. On March 11th, 2020, the WHO declared COVID-19 a pandemic after infecting 123 countries in Europe, Asia, America, and Africa. According to data from COVID-19 Task Force, up to March 20th, 2021, the number of confirmed positive COVID-19 cases has reached 124 million people with 223 countries infected, including Indonesia, since being found in Wuhan in December 2019.

Confirmed positive COVID-19 cases in Indonesia keep increasing, reaching 1.47 million people by January 23rd, 2021. From those numbers, 1.3 million people recovered, and 39,865 people died. Based on a study at several hospitals in Wuhan, of COVID-19 patients that had been declared recovered, 1038 out of 1655 respondents experienced fatigue and muscle pain, while 437 respondents experienced sleep disturbance. Meanwhile, 367 out of 1617 respondents had anxiety and depression. Patients with severe disease tend to experience lung diffusion and chest disturbance. These findings showed that patients that recovered from COVID-19 still might experience some physical or psychological symptoms.¹

Based on those findings, we are interested in conducting this study to determine the occupational and return-towork characteristics of patients treated at Udayana University Hospital in April-August 2020 after being declared recovered from COVID-19 for at least six months. Six months were taken as a cutoff for the respondents after declared recovered to minimize work-related activity affected by acute or long post-COVID phenomenon. Deep knowledge about these severe cases is expected to help clinicians in day-to-day practice in anticipating the worst possible outcomes during treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Methods

This study is a descriptive study with a quantitative method and cross-sectional design. The target population in this study is COVID-19 patients that recovered after being treated at Udayana University Hospital from June to August 2020. The sample size was determined using a sample size application by the WHO, resulting in 110 people.

Materials

Samples were taken using random sampling by accessing patients' medical records to determine which patients met the study criteria.² The inclusion criteria in this study were complete medical record data and the patient had completed education on how to fill the questionnaire. The exclusion criteria in this study were that the patient did not have device to support filling the google form, or illiterate patient. Data were collected using an online Google Form questionnaire respondents bv WhatsApp sent to application. The collected were data presented as univariable to describe each variable's frequency distribution.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION



Figure 1. Respondents' Quality of Life.



Figure 2. Respondents' Quality of Life Domain Distribution.

Respondents' Characteristics

A total of 110 respondents were included in this study. Respondents' characteristics, occupational characteristics, health conditions, and risky behaviors are shown in Table 1, Table 2, Table 3, and Table 4, respectively. Respondents' quality of life and quality of life domains are visualized in Figure 1 and Figure 2. Most (57,27%) were interviewed ten months after being declared recovered from COVID-19 (recovered in July).

Physical health domain was categorized as "poor" if the respondent experienced limitation in mild activities such as bending, kneeling, stooping, housework (e.g. carrying groceries, mopping the floor), or needed to routinely take medications for symptom relief, "sufficient" if the respondent experienced limitation in moderate activities such as moving table, climbing one flight of stairs, walking more than a kilometer, or occasionally needed to take medications for symptom relief, "good" if the respondent experienced limitation in vigorous activities, such as running, lifting heavy objects, or participating in strenuous sports, and "very good" if no significant limitation was experienced in doing physical activity, compared with the activity they used to do before diagnosed with COVID-19.

Psychological domain was assessed using several parameters, namely tiredness,

feeling energized, peacefulness, nervousness, feeling worn out, and feeling downhearted/blue. Respondents were categorized as "poor" if the psychological parameters were causing them to take days from their work. "sufficient" off respondents needed more time to finish their work compared than before diagnosed with COVID-19, "good" if they felt worse psychologically than before their COVID-19 diagnosis, but no significant effect on their work, and classified as "very good" if they never or only occasionally felt decrease in their psychological status after declared recovered from COVID-19.

social relation In the domain, respondents were assessed whether their physical and/or psychological problems interfered with their social activities such as visiting friends, relatives, attending social gatherings, and other social activities they normally used to do. They were categorized as "low" if the social problems were experienced most of the time, "sufficient" if the symptoms affected social life some of the time, "good" if the symptoms occasionally caused social issues, and "very good" if no social problems were experienced compared to before COVID-19 diagnosis.

For the financial and living environment domain, respondents were classified as "low" if they experienced significant decrease in their financial and/or living environment status, "sufficient" if they experienced moderate decrease, "good" if they experienced mild decrease, and "very good" if they experienced minimal or no issues in this domain.

Table 1. Respondents' Characteristics.

Characteristics	Ν	%
Age (mean ± SD)	(38.40±13.41)	
18-24 years	22	20.00
25-44 years	49	44.55
45-59 years	32	29.09
>60 years	7	6.36



Gender			Hotel/Restaurant/	1	0.91
Male	54	49.09	Commercial worker		
Female	56	50.91	Healthcare worker	6	5.45
Location at the time			Health professional	2	1.82
of COVID-19			Farmer/fisherman/	5	4.55
diagnosis			market trader		
Bangli	4	3.64	Labor/daily worker	5	4.55
Badung	19	17.27	Self-employed/	14	12.73
Buleleng	9	8.18	Entrepreneur		
Denpasar	51	46.36	Student/college student	11	10.00
Gianyar	15	13.64	Others	5	4.55
Jembrana	1	0.91	Duration of work per	$(6.38 \pm$	
Karangasem	7	6.36	day before confirmed	3.15)	
Klungkung	1	0.91	with COVID-19 (mean		
Tabanan	2	1.82	\pm SD)		
Outside Bali	1	0.91	<8 hours	54	49.09
Respondents'			8 hours	46	41.82
location after			>8 hours	10	9.09
declared recovered			Number of working	(4.88 ±	
from COVID-19			days per week before	2.24)	
Bangli	4	3.64	confirmed with		
Badung	17	15.45	COVID-19 (mean ±		
Buleleng	9	8.18	SD)		
Denpasar	41	37.27	0	16	14.55
Gianyar	16	14.55	1	1	0.91
Jembrana	1	0.91	2	2	1.82
Karangasem	10	9.09	3	3	2.73
Tabanan	4	3.64	4	25	22.73
Outside Bali	8	7.27	5	46	41.82
Time gap between			6	17	15.45
declared recovered			7		
until interview			Respondents' job after		
conducted			recovering from		
9 months	30	27.27	COVID-19		
(recovered on			Not working	14	12.73
August)			Governmental employee	18	16.36
10 months	63	57.27	Private sector employee	28	25.45
(recovered on July)			Hotel/Restaurant/	1	0.91
11 months	17	15.45	Commercial worker		
(recovered on June)			Healthcare worker	6	5.45
、 /			Health professional	2	1.82
Table 2. Respondent	ts' Occupat	ional	Farmer/fisherman/	5	4.55
Character	istics.		market trader		
			Labor/daily worker	6	5.45
			-		

Occupational	Ν	%
Characteristics		
Respondents' job		
before confirmed with		
COVID-19		
Not working	15	13.64
Governmental employee	19	17.27
Private sector employee	27	24.55





<8 hours	61	55.45	45-59 years
8 hours	41	37.27	>60 years
>8 hours	8	7.27	Usage of P
Number of working	(4.71 ±		working
days per week after	2.22)		Wearing PPE
recovered from			Not wearing H
COVID-19 (mean ±			Type of PPE
SD)			working (n=7
0	17	15.45	Face mask
2	1	0.91	Face shield
3	2	1.82	Medical latex
4	8	7.27	Hair cap
5	27	24.55	Gown/special
6	42	38.18	Protective boo
7	13	11.82	
Number of resting days	$(8.62 \pm$		Table 3. Re
before going back to	8.87)		
work after declared			Health Char
recovered (mean±SD)			History of Co
<7 days	66	60.00	Present
8-14 days	23	20.91	Absent
15-21 days	13	11.82	Types of Co
22-28 days	4	3.64	History (n=3-
>29 days	4	3.64	Pregnancy
Gender characteristics			Diabetes
of respondents who			Asthma
returned to work <7			Cardiovascula
days			Renal failure
Male	41	62.12	Nervous
Female	25	37.87	disturbance
Age characteristics of			Cancer
respondents who			Others (hyper
returned to work <7			Re-experienc
days			symptoms
18-24 years	12	18.18%	recovered
25-44 years	34	51.51%	Yes
45-59 years	18	27.27%	No
>60 years	2	3.03%	Types of
			experienced
Gender characteristics			recovered (n
of respondents who			Fever
returned to work >29			Sore throat
days			Cough
Male	3	75	Flu
Female	1	25	Shortness of b
Age characteristics of			Nausea/vomit
respondents who			Diarrhea
returned to work >29			Weakness
days			Headache
18-24 years	0	0	Loss of appeti
25-44 years	0	0	Neurological

45-59 years	2	50
>60 years	2	50
Usage of PPE while		
working		
Wearing PPE	77	70.00
Not wearing PPE	33	30.00
Type of PPE used while		
working (n=77)		
Face mask	76	98.70
Face shield	24	31.17
Medical latex gloves	22	28.57
Hair cap	14	18.42
Gown/special clothing	11	14.29
Protective boots/shoes	7	9.09

 Table 3. Respondents' Health Conditions.

Health CharacteristicsN%History of Comorbidity34 30.91 60.00Present76 69.09 20.91Absent76 69.09 11.82Types of Comorbidity3.643.64History (n=34) 76 67.09 3.64Pregnancy2 5.88 Diabetes8 23.53 Asthma6 17.65 Cardiovascular3 8.82 Renal failure3 8.82 62.12Nervoussystem25.88 37.87 disturbanceCancer1 2.94 Others (hypertension)12 35.29 Re-experiencingsymptomsaftersymptomsafterrecovered51.51%Yes 30 27.27 27.27% No 80 72.73 3.03% Types of symptomsexperienced afterrecovered (n=30)Fever1 3.33 75Flu4 13.33 25Shortness of breath2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting4 13.33 0Loss of appetite1 3.33 0Loss of appetite1 3.33)					
History of Comorbidity 34 30.91 60.00 Present 76 69.09 20.91 Absent 76 69.09 11.82 Types of Comorbidity 11.82 3.64 History (n=34) 5.88 3.64 Pregnancy 2 5.88 Diabetes 8 23.53 Asthma 6 17.65 Cardiovascular 3 8.82 Renal failure 3 8.82 Renal failure 3 $8.7.87$ disturbance $Cancer$ 1 2.94 Others (hypertension) 12 35.29 $Re-experiencing$ symptoms $after$ 51.51% Yes 30 27.27 27.27% No 80 72.73 3.03% Types of symptoms $experienced$ $after$ recovered 11 3.33 75 Flu 4 13.33 25 Shortness of breath 2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33		Health Characteristics	Ν	%		
		History of Comorbidity	34	30.91		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	60.00	Present	76	69.09		
11.82 Types of Comorbidity 3.64 History (n=34) 3.64 Pregnancy 2 5.88 Diabetes 8 23.53 Asthma 6 17.65 Cardiovascular 3 8.82 Renal failure 3 8.82 62.12 Nervous system 2 5.88 37.87 disturbance Cancer 1 2.94 Others (hypertension) 12 35.29 Re-experiencing symptoms after recovered 51.51% Yes 30 27.27 27.27% No 80 72.73 3.03% Types of symptoms experienced after recovered (n=30) Fever 12 40.00 Sore throat 1 3.33 25 Shortness of breath 2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 Diarrhea 1 3.33 O Loss of appetite 1 3.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33 <td>20.91</td> <td>Absent</td> <td></td> <td></td>	20.91	Absent				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11.82	Types of Comorbidity				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3.64	History (n=34)				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3.64	Pregnancy	2	5.88		
Asthma617.65Cardiovascular38.82Renal failure38.8262.12Nervoussystem25.8837.87disturbanceCancer12.94Others (hypertension)1235.29 Re-experiencing symptomsafter18.18%recovered51.51%Yes3027.2727.27%No8072.733.03%Types of symptomsexperienced afterrecovered (n=30)Fever1240.00Sore throat13.3325Shortness of breath26.67Nausea/vomiting413.33Diarrhea13.330Loss of appetite13.330Loss of appetite13.33		Diabetes	8	23.53		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccc} Cardiovascular & 3 & 8.82 \\ Renal failure & 3 & 8.82 \\ Renal failure & 3 & 8.82 \\ \hline Renal failure & 3 & 8.82 \\ \hline Renal failure & 3 & 8.82 \\ \hline Nervous & system & 2 & 5.88 \\ \hline 37.87 & disturbance \\ \hline Cancer & 1 & 2.94 \\ Others (hypertension) & 12 & 35.29 \\ \hline Re-experiencing \\ symptoms & after \\ \hline recovered \\ \hline 51.51\% & Yes & 30 & 27.27 \\ \hline 27.27\% & No & 80 & 72.73 \\ \hline 3.03\% & Types & of & symptoms \\ experienced & after \\ recovered & after \\ recovered (n=30) \\ \hline Fever & 12 & 40.00 \\ Sore throat & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline Cough & 7 & 23.33 \\ \hline 75 & Flu & 4 & 13.33 \\ \hline 25 & Shortness & of breath & 2 & 6.67 \\ \hline Nausea/vomiting & 4 & 13.33 \\ \hline Diarrhea & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline 0 & Loss & of appetite & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline 0 & Loss & of appetite & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline 0 & Neurological symptoms & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline \end{array}$		Asthma	6	17.65		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Cardiovascular	3	8.82		
		Renal failure	3	8.82		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	62.12	Nervous system	2	5.88		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	37.87	disturbance				
$\begin{array}{c ccccc} Others (hypertension) & 12 & 35.29 \\ \hline \textbf{Re-experiencing} \\ symptoms & after \\ \hline \textbf{recovered} \\ 51.51\% & Yes & 30 & 27.27 \\ 27.27\% & No & 80 & 72.73 \\ \hline 3.03\% & \textbf{Types of symptoms} \\ experienced & after \\ recovered (n=30) \\ \hline Fever & 12 & 40.00 \\ Sore throat & 1 & 3.33 \\ Cough & 7 & 23.33 \\ \hline 75 & Flu & 4 & 13.33 \\ 25 & Shortness of breath & 2 & 6.67 \\ Nausea/vomiting & 4 & 13.33 \\ Diarrhea & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline 0 & Loss of appetite & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline 0 & Loss of appetite & 1 & 3.33 \\ \hline \end{array}$		Cancer	1	2.94		
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Others (hypertension)	12	35.29		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Re-experiencing				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		symptoms after				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	18.18%	recovered				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	51.51%	Yes	30	27.27		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	27.27%	No	80	72.73		
experienced after recovered (n=30) Fever 12 40.00 Sore throat 1 3.33 Cough 7 23.33 75 Flu 4 13.33 25 Shortness of breath 2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 Diarrhea 1 3.33 Weakness 8 26.67 Headache 4 13.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33 0 Neurological symptoms 1 3.33	3.03%	Types of symptoms				
recovered (n=30) Fever 12 40.00 Sore throat 1 3.33 Cough 7 23.33 75 Flu 4 13.33 25 Shortness of breath 2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 Diarrhea 1 3.33 Weakness 8 26.67 Headache 4 13.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33 0 Neurological symptoms 1 3.33		experienced after				
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		recovered (n=30)				
Sore throat 1 3.33 Cough 7 23.33 75 Flu 4 13.33 25 Shortness of breath 2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 Diarrhea 1 3.33 Weakness 8 26.67 Headache 4 13.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33 0 Neurological symptoms 1 3.33		Fever	12	40.00		
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Sore throat	1	3.33		
75 Flu 4 13.33 25 Shortness of breath 2 6.67 Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 Diarrhea 1 3.33 Weakness 8 26.67 Headache 4 13.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33 0 Neurological symptoms 1 3.33		Cough	7	23.33		
25Shortness of breath26.67Nausea/vomiting413.33Diarrhea13.33Weakness826.67Headache413.330Loss of appetite10Neurological symptoms13.33	75	Flu	4	13.33		
Nausea/vomiting 4 13.33 Diarrhea 1 3.33 Weakness 8 26.67 Headache 4 13.33 0 Loss of appetite 1 3.33 0 Neurological symptoms 1 3.33	25	Shortness of breath	2	6.67		
Diarrhea13.33Weakness826.67Headache413.330Loss of appetite13.330Neurological symptoms13.33		Nausea/vomiting	4	13.33		
Weakness826.67Headache413.330Loss of appetite13.330Neurological symptoms13.33		Diarrhea	1	3.33		
Headache413.330Loss of appetite13.330Neurological symptoms13.33		Weakness	8	26.67		
0Loss of appetite13.330Neurological symptoms13.33		Headache	4	13.33		
0 Neurological symptoms 1 3.33	0	Loss of appetite	1	3.33		
	0	Neurological symptoms	1	3.33		

Timing of symptoms					
Re-experienced after	Re-experienced after				
recovered (n=30)					
1 month	4	13.33			
2 months	2	6.67			
3 months	3	10.00			
4 months	4	13.33			
5 months	4	13.33			
6 months	5	16.67			
7 months	5	16.67			
8 months	2	6.67			
9 months	1	3.33			

Table 4. Respondents' Risky Behaviors.

Risky Behavior	Ν	%
Characteristics		
History of Smoking		
Smoking	35	31.82
Not smoking	75	68.18
History of Alcohol		
Consumption		
Consuming alcohol	28	25.45
Not consuming alcohol	82	74.55
Travelling History		
Travelling	18	16.36
Not travelling	92	83.64
Travelling Destination		
(n=18)		
Buleleng	1	5.56
Denpasar	3	16.67
Jembrana	1	5.56
Karangasem	2	11.11
Klungkung	1	5.56
Outside Bali	10	55.56
Timing of travelling after		
recovered (n=18)		
2 months	2	11.11
3 months	1	5.56
4 months	1	5.56
5 months	2	11.11
6 months	2	11.11
7 months	5	27.78
8 months	2	11.11
9 months	3	16.67

This study found an almost equal proportion of male and female respondents. However, this result differs from other studies, where female patients were more common.^{3,4} The majority of respondents were

aged 25-44 years, considered a productive age group with a higher chance of being infected with COVID-19 due to their high mobility and frequent interactions. Almost all respondents lived in Bali, with the highest proportion living in Denpasar, with the highest number of COVID-19 cases in Bali. This finding is consistent with another study, where areas with higher population density and activity have higher COVID-19 cases.³

Occupational Characteristics

Most respondents worked as private sector employees before and after recovering from COVID-19. This finding was similar to another study, where the majority (30,67%) of respondents also worked as private sector employees.⁵ As many as 70% of respondents were using PPE while doing activity in the workplace, with face masks as the most common PPE used (98,70%). Strict regulation in Bali might be the cause of this finding.⁶

Return-To-Work Profiles

Most respondents (60%) required less than seven days of rest before returning to work. Those whose aged 25 to 44 years dominated this group (51%). A higher proportion of males (62%) was found within this group. Whereas, the respondents who needed >28 days before returning to work were all aged 45 years or older, and most of them were men (75%).This finding is in line with a study conducted by Jacobsen et al.⁸ that found women and older males had prolonged return to work. This might be related with other literature that stated males have more severe disease manifestations of COVID-19.^{7,8}

Another study found that some patients experienced symptoms for over 28 days, even after being declared recovered.⁸ In this study, almost half of the respondents worked less than eight hours per day (49.09%) before being diagnosed with COVID-19, which increased to 55.55% after recovery. In addition, there was a decrease in



the proportion of respondents working six days per week, from 41.82% before being confirmed positive to 38.18% after recovery.

The reduction in working hours and days may be caused by decreased health quality or regulations from their companies. However, it is also possible that factors such as employment status and government regulations may have affected the number of working days.

Health Characteristics

Several studies were conducted to investigate the impact of COVID-19 on the health and quality of life of patients who recovered from the disease. Results of these studies showed that hypertension was the comorbidity most common found in patients^{8–10}. and recovered individuals needed to control their blood pressure and pay attention to their lifestyle to prevent this condition.¹⁰

Additionally, many patients in this study experienced recurring symptoms after recovery, including fever, weakness, fatigue, and respiratory issues. This phenomenon, known as Chronic Post COVID-19, is common and emphasizes the need to practice health protocols to prevent re-infection.^{1,11,12} Family and friend support is vital in boosting the patient's confidence and quality of life.¹³⁻¹⁹

Risky Behaviors

The study found that a significant percentage of COVID-19 patients had engaged in risky behaviors such as smoking (31.82%) and alcohol consumption (25.45%), which could increase their risk for severe disease.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ The study also highlighted the importance of limiting travel to prevent the transmission of the virus, as almost all of the respondents did not travel to other regions (83.64%).^{15,20}

The findings were consistent with previous studies, which showed that smoking^{15,16,21} and alcohol consumption^{17,22} could increase the risk of severe COVID-19

disease and that limiting travel is an essential preventive measure during the pandemic.^{3,23-}²⁶ The study's results suggest that promoting healthy behaviors and limiting unnecessary travel could help prevent the spread of COVID-19 and maintain overall health.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The study was conducted online using Google Forms, which might have limited the participation of those who do not have access to digital devices. Respondents may have had different interpretations of the questions, which could lead to bias in the study's results. Additionally, the study was conducted around six months after the patients recovered, which may have affected their recall of events and experiences, leading to recall bias. Finally, the questionnaire may also have had words or questions difficult for some respondents to understand, which could have caused further bias.

CONCLUSIONS

This study had almost equal proportions of male and female respondents, with an average age of 38 years. Many respondents were of adult age, lived in Denpasar, and worked as private sector employees. Most used PPE and needed less than a week to return to work after recovery. The highest comorbidity found was hypertension. Reoccurrence of symptoms was experienced by some respondents, with fever, weakness/fatigue, and respiratory problems being the most common symptoms. Most respondents did not smoke, did not consume alcohol, and did not have a traveling history. It is recommended that COVID-19 patients who have recovered should be monitored for a longer period of time to possibility evaluate the of symptom reoccurrence and its impact on their occupational and health conditions.



ETHICAL CLEARANCE

The research protocol was approved by Chairperson of the Research Ethics Commission, Faculty of Medicine, Udayana University with protocol number 2021.01.1.0612.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We appreciate Public Health Graduate Program for facilitating this research, especially administratively; thus, this study could be conducted smoothly. We also thank Udayana University Hospital for allowing us to perform this study.

FUNDING

This study did not receive any funding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared that no conflict of interest might bias or fabricate the information and work stated within the paper.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

IMAW, MF and CAWP contributed to the proofreading and critically revised the article. IKJDK were responsible for data collection, analysis and interpretation of the data. IKJDK also wrote the article, and all authors, including IKJDK, IMAW, CAWP, MF, and HA gave final approval of the article.

REFERENCES

- Huang C, Huang L, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Gu X, et al. 6-month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. Lancet. 2021;397(10270):220–32.
- 2. Sugiyono. Quantitative Qualitative and R&D Research Methodology. 2013.

- 3. Duhri AP, Jabbar R, N. Yunus Characteristics COVID-19 of Confirmation **Patients** at Lamaddukkelleng Hospital, Wajo Regency (Patient Review Period March-September 2020). Media Kesehat Politek Makassar Kesehat [Internet]. 2020;15(2):319.
- Arifin Z, Fatmawati BR, Zuliardi Z. Identification of COVID-19 Patients Based on Contact History. J Ilm STIKES Yars Mataram [Internet]. 2022;10(2):1– 6.
- Yanti NPED, Nugraha IMADP, Wisnawa GA, Agustina NPD, Diantari NPA. Public Knowledge about Covid-19 and Public Behavior During the Covid-19 Pandemic. J Keperawatan Jiwa. 2020;8(3):485-90
- Bali Province's Legal Documentation and Information Network. Bali Governor Regulation Number 46 of 2020 concerning the Implementation of Discipline and Law Enforcement of Health Protocols as an Effort to Prevent and Control Corona Virus Disease 2019 in the New Era Life Order [Internet]. 2020.
- Kragholm K, Andersen MP, Gerds TA, Butt JH, Ostergaard L, Polcwiartek C, et al. Association between male sex and outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (Covid-19) - a Danish nationwide, register-based study. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73(11):e4025-30
- Jacobsen PA, Andersen MP, Gislason G, Phelps M, Butt JH, Køber L, Schou M, Fosbøl E, Christensen HC, Torp-Pedersen C, Gerds T, Weinreich UM, Kragholm K. Return to work after COVID-19 infection - A Danish nationwide registry study. Public Health. 2022;203:116-22.
- Guan W, Liang W, Zhao Y, Liang H, Chen Z, Li Y, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with COVID-19 in China: a nationwide analysis. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2020;55(5):2000547.



- Hardati AT, Ahmad RA. Effect of physical activity on the incidence of hypertension in workers (Analysis of Riskesdas 2013 data). Ber Kedokt Masy [Internet]. 2017;33(10):467.
- 11. Sykes DL, Holdsworth L, Jawad N, Gunasekera P, Morice AH, Crooks MG. Post-COVID-19 Symptom Burden: What is Long-COVID and How Should We Manage It? Lung [Internet]. 2021;199(2):113–9.
- 12. Ministry of Health of Republic of Indonesia. Corona Antibodies and Immunity Can Disappear After the Patient Recovers [Internet]. Directorate of Non-Communicable Disease Prevention and Control. 2020.
- Ma YF, Li W, Deng HB, Wang L, Wang Y, Wang PH, et al. Prevalence of depression and its association with quality of life in clinically stable patients with COVID-19. J Affect Disord. 2020;1(275):145-8
- 14. Zhang Y, Ma ZF. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and quality of life among local residents in Liaoning Province, China: A crosssectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(7):2381
- 15. Patanavanich R, Glantz SA. Smoking Is Associated With COVID-19 Progression: A Meta-analysis. Nicotine Tob Res [Internet]. 2020;22(9):1653–6.
- Reddy RK, Charles WN, Sklavounos A, Dutt A, Seed PT, Khajuria A. The effect of smoking on COVID-19 severity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Virol [Internet]. 2021;93(2):1045– 56.
- 17. Handayani RT, Kuntari S, Darmayanti AT, Widiyanto A, Atmojo JT. Factors Causing Stress in Health and Community When the Covid-19 Pandemic. J Keperawatan Jiwa [Internet]. 2020;8(3):353.
- 18. Purnamasidhi CA, Sukmawati NM, Gayatri AA, Utama IM, Somia IK,

Merati KT, Akatsu H. Clinical Features of COVID-19 Patients at Udayana University Hospital During First Three Months of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Media Kesehatan Masyarakat Indonesia. 2022;18(4):147-52.

- 19. Prabawa IM, Silakarma D, Prabawa IP, Manuaba IB. Physical rehabilitation therapy for long covid-19 patient with respiratory sequelae: A systematic review. Open Access Maced J Med Sci.. 2022;10(F):468-74.
- 20. Vanichkachorn G, Newcomb R, Cowl CT, Murad MH, Breeher L, Miller S, Trenary M, Neveau D, Higgins S. Post– COVID-19 syndrome (long haul syndrome): description of a multidisciplinary clinic at Mayo Clinic and characteristics of the initial patient cohort. In Mayo clinic proceedings 2021;96(7):1782-91.
- 21. Brehon K, Niemeläinen R, Hall M, Bostick GP, Brown CA, Wieler M, Gross DP. Return-to-work following occupational rehabilitation for long COVID: Descriptive cohort study. JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technologies. 2022;9(3):e39883.
- Baptista MC, Burton WN, Pawlecki B, Pransky G. A physician's guide for workers' return to work during COVID-19 pandemic. J Occup Environ Medic. 2021;63(3):199.
- 23. Villarreal J, Nieto SV, Vázquez F, Del Campo MT, Mahillo I, Rafael E. Time to a Negative SARS-CoV-2 PCR Predicts Delayed Return to Work After Medical Leave in COVID-19 Infected Health Care Workers. J Occup Environ Med. 2021;63(11):970.
- 24. Lai R, Tan L, Lai X, Zhang X, Zhou Q. Help-seeking behavior of returning to work in healthcare workers and its influencing factors during COVID-19 subsiding. J Occup Environ Medic. 2020;62(11):898-903.
- 25. Bratun U, Švajger A, Domajnko B,



Kavčič M, Asaba E. Return to work among workers recovering from severe COVID-19 in Slovenia: a focus group study. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2022:1-0.

26. Kurnianto AA, Fehér G, Tololiu KE, Wikurendra EA, Nemeskéri Z, Ágoston

I. Analysis of the return to work program for disabled workers during the pandemic COVID-19 using the quality of life and work ability index: cross-sectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20(4):3094.



Available online at IJTID Website: https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Original Article

In Silico Analysis of Inhibitor Potential of Punicalagin Compound in Pomegranate (*Punica granatum*) Against NS5 DENV-3 Protein

Radinal Kautsar¹, Yuanita Rachmawati^{2*}, Saiku Rokhim¹, Teguh Hari Sucipto³, Mamik Damayanti⁴, Aisyah Hadi Ramadhani⁵

¹Department of Biology, UIN Sunan Ampel Surabaya, Indonesia

²Genetics and Molecular Biology Laboratory, Faculty of Science and Technology UIN Sunan Ampel Surabaya, Indonesia ³Laboratory of Dengue, Institute of Tropical Disease, Universitas Airlangga, Indonesia ⁴University-CoE Research Center for Bio-Molecule Engineering, Universitas Airlangga, Indonesia

⁵Faculty of Environment and Resource Studies, Mahidol University, Thailand

Received: 7th December 2023; Revised: 11th December 2023; Accepted: 2nd January 2024

ABSTRACT

Indonesia is one of the Dengue Virus (DENV) endemic areas which are dominated by DENV-2 and DENV-3. Until now, no specific drug therapy has been found to cure Dengue Virus Infection (DVI). Punicalagin is one of the active compounds that have the potential to be used as an antiviral. Unfortunately, not many studies have used punicalagin as a DENV antivirus. This study aims to determine the inhibitory potential of punicalagin compounds against NS5 DENV-3 protein through molecular docking. Molecular docking was performed using AutoDock Tools, ChemDraw, and Discovery Studio Visualizer. The target protein used is NS5 DENV-3 protein with PDB ID code: 4V0Q. The ribavirin compound was used as a positive control. The results obtained show that the punicalagin compound has the ability to attach to target receptors in the C-Terminal domain complex. This docking produces a bond free energy (ΔG) of -6.39 kcal/mol. This result is better than the ΔG of the control compound. Punicalagin's Inhibition Constant (Ki) value also showed better results than ribavirin. So it can be seen that the compound punicalagin effectively inhibits DENV replication and has the potential as a DENV drug candidate.

Keywords: Antiviral, DENV-3, In Silico, NS5 Protein, and Punicalagin.

Highlights: Add one short sentence of research's novelty and one short sentence of research's benefit.

How to Cite: Kautsar, R., Rachmawati, Y., Rokhim, S., Sucipto, T. H., Damayanti, M., Ramadhani, A. H. *In Silico* Analysis of Inhibitor Potential of Punicalagin Compound in Pomegranate (*Punica granatum*) Against NS5 DENV-3 Protein. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 24-34. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.52320



^{*} Corresponding Author:

yuanitarhartono@uinsby.ac.id

Virus infection can occur to anyone and at any time, as it is still a global health problem.¹ One of the emerging virus is dengue virus (DENV) which can cause Dengue Virus Infection (DVI).² Dengue Virus (DENV) is a type of RNA virus that is transmitted through the bite of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes. This virus has four types of serotypes with a rapid spread throughout the world in recent years.³

WHO states that DVI has increased cases by 30 times worldwide in the last five decades. The distribution of DENV is faster in areas with tropical and subtropical climates.⁴ Indonesia is a tropical country which has a high humidity level so that mosquitoes can survive in almost all parts of Indonesia.⁵ The majority of areas in Indonesia are DENV endemic areas with DVI cases which tend to increase every year. This has resulted a health problem in Indonesia that is challenging to resolve.⁶

The data from the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia⁷ noted that there were 108,303 DVI cases in 2020 with the four DENV serotypes circulating throughout Indonesia.⁸ The results of a serological survey on the distribution of DENV serotypes in Indonesia stated that DVI cases in Indonesia were alternately dominated by DENV-2 and DENV-3. This change in dominance of the two serotypes is thought to have occurred due to the persistence or inheritance ability of the DENV serotypes in the main vector before being transmitted to humans.⁹

Currently, the handling of DVI cases focused on the development of antiviral drugs. This is an urgent need considering there is no specific drug therapy that is effective in inhibiting the growth of DENV. The development of a drug requires several stages of testing which takes a long time.¹⁰ One of the early stages of drug development is the *in silico* testing through molecular docking. This test was carried out to determine the interactions that occur between the test compounds and the target receptors.¹¹

So far, there have been many in silico studies to determine the antiviral activity of a compound to inhibit DENV replication. Secondary metabolites commonly found in natural products, such as quercetin, catechins, mangiferin, and arthemicin have been shown to inhibit DENV protein replication. This inhibition is based on the value of the Gibbs free energy (ΔG) with the highest inhibition value occurring in the mangiferin compound. The ΔG value represents the strength of the ligand binding to the receptor. The lower the ΔG value, the stronger the bond between the ligand and the receptor.¹² Several Indonesian herbal plants have also been tested to determine their ability to anti-DENV activity. The results of an in silico study conducted by Rosmalena et al.13 stated that the artesunic acid and homoegonol compounds found in Myristica fatua have the ability to bind to the NS5 DENV protein complex with bond energies of -7.2 kcal/mol and -7.1 kcal/mol.

NS5 is the largest and most conserved protein complex (with more than 70% sequence identity among the four serotypes). The NS5 protein complex consists of two domains, namely the methyltransferase (MTase) domain at the Nterminal end and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) at the C-terminus. The high level of conservation in the NS5 protein structure makes it often used as a target for designing drugs with broad activity against several flaviviruses. The MTase domain (residues 1-265) plays a role in limiting viral RNA as well as N7 and 2'O ribose methylation activity. The RdRp domain plays a role in viral RNA replication. These two domains are connected by 5-6 residues (residues 266-271). The lack of activity of RdRp in host cells makes the NS5 complex a promising antiviral target for designing specific inhibitors with low toxicity.¹⁴



Punicalagin is a polyphenolic compound that is commonly found in pomegranate peels.¹⁵ Punicalagin has been shown to have antiviral activity against the HSV-2 and SARS-CoV-2 viruses in silico. Until now, there has been no research regarding the effectiveness of punicalagin as a DENV-3 antiviral. Therefore, this study was conducted with the aim of knowing the potency of punicalagin inhibition against NS5 DENV-3 protein.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

The tool used for this research is a laptop device. The materials used for this study were three-dimensional files of punicalagin compounds and ribavirin compounds which were used as test and target ligands. The target receptor used in this study was the NS5 DENV-3 protein (PDB ID: 4V0Q).

Methods

This research was a descriptive observational study which aims to determine the ability of the punicalagin compound in pomegranates (*Punica granatum*) to bind the NS5 DENV-3 Protein using a pre-experimental one shot study design *in silico*.

Test of Physicochemical Properties

The physicochemical properties test refers to Lipinski's Five Laws or the Rule of Five. This test was conducted on the SwissADME website (http://www.swissadme.ch/).

Ligand Preparation and Optimization

Preparation begins by downloading the ligand and receptor structure data. Ligand structure data (punicalagin compounds and ribavirin compounds) are downloaded from the PubChem website (https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) in *sdf format. The downloaded data is converted to *pdb format using the ChemDraw Ultra application. The ligand optimization process was carried out in several stages including energy minimization, addition of H atoms, and addition of charge on the ligand structure. Ligand optimization was carried out using the AutoDock Tools and Chem3D Pro.

Receptor Preparation and Optimization

Receptor structure data (NS5 DENV-3 protein) was obtained through the Protein Data Bank database page (https://www.rcsb.org/) with PDB ID code: 4V00. Receptor preparation includes separation of native ligands and proteins, as well as other unnecessary molecules using the Discovery Studio Visualizer application. The final split result data is stored in *pdb format. Receptor optimization was carried out by adding H atoms and charges to the receptor structure using the Autodock Tools application. Optimization result data is saved in *pdbqt format.

Method Validation

Method validation was carried out by attaching native ligands to the protein structure using the AutoDock Tools application. The position of the grid box is placed at the midpoint of the ligand (X: 26.935; Y: 150.36; Z: 31.432) with dimensions X: 40; Y: 40; Z: 40. The method is said to be valid if the RMSD (Root Mean Square Deviation) value is below 2 Å.

Molecular Docking

The ligand binding process on the target protein was carried out using the AutoDock Tools application with the position of the grid box adjusted during method validation with dimension modification (X:126; Y:126; Z:126). The ligand binding process on the target protein will produce data and information that includes the bond interaction pattern formed,

the inhibition constant (Ki), and the bond free energy.

Visualization

The docking results are visualized using the Discovery Studio Visualizer application. The results are presented in the form of interaction patterns formed, inhibition constants (Ki), and bond free energy values (Δ G).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Test of Physicochemical Properties

This test is based on the Rule of Five or Lipinski's Law of Five with 4 test parameters including the log P value, molecular weight, number of donor H atoms, and number of acceptor H atoms.¹⁶ The results of the physicochemical properties of the test and control ligands are presented in the following table:

Table 1. Results of Test of PhysicochemicalProperties.

Test Deversations	Compound			
Test rarameters	Punicalagin	Ribavirin		
Log P Value	-3,29	-2,94		
Molecular Weight	1084,72	244,2		
(g/mol)				
Number of H-Bond	17	7		
Donors				
Number of H-Bond	30	4		
Acceptors				

The results of the physicochemical properties test showed in Table 1 explained the punicalagin compound did not meet the 3 test parameters based on Lipinski's Fifth Law, while the ribavirin compound used as a control ligand fulfilled all the parameters of Lipinski's Fifth Law. Lipinski's Law of Five has 4 test parameters including Log P value <5, molecular weight <500 g/mol, number of H donors <5, and number of H acceptors <10. According to Lipinski's Rule of Five, a compound that has the potential to be used as a drug must meet the requirements for all parameters that have been determined.¹⁷

This aura represents the level of capability of a compound to cross cell membranes.¹⁶

The Log P value is a parameter that shows the level of solubility of a compound in water or fat.¹⁸ Compounds with a high level of hydrophobicity also have a high level of toxicity due to the inability of these compounds to penetrate the lipid bilayer and will spread widely in the body which results in a reduced level of selectivity of compounds for target receptors.¹⁹ Log P values can still be tolerated at a ratio of -0.4 to 5.²⁰

The molecular weight of a compound affects the permeability of a compound in penetrating the cell membrane. A compound having a molecular weight > 500 g/mol is unable to diffuse across the cell membrane. The number of hydrogen bond donors and acceptors is a test parameter in Lipinski's Fifth Law which aims to determine the number of hydrogen bonds needed for a compound during the absorption process.¹⁸ The number of hydrogen bonds in a compound will be directly proportional to the amount of energy required during the absorption process.²¹

The process of designing a drug must be carried out carefully in order to avoid toxic effects and to optimize the effectiveness of the drug so that it can body. interact properly in the The physicochemical property test aims to minimize the toxic effects that arise from a drug on the basis of Lipinski's Five Laws. In addition, this law can also be used in predicting whether a compound can be given orally or not. Based on the 4 test parameters, the punicalagin compound did not meet the parameters of Lipinski's Fifth Law, while the ribavirin compound fulfilled all of the parameters of Lipinski's Fifth Law. A compound that does not meet the test parameters of Lipinski's Rule of Five cannot be administered orally. However, these compounds can still be given by injection.²⁰

Method Validation



The method validation process is carried out before starting the belay process using the test compound. The docking method is acceptable and is said to be valid if the RMSD value obtained is less than 2.00 Å from the result of native ligand binding with the receptor.²² RMSD (Root Mean Square Deviation) is a value that represents the relative deviation level when a ligand is tethered to the active site of the receptor.¹⁹ The results of the method validation show that the method used is valid with an RMSD value of 1,659 Å. RMSD value < 2 Å indicates a stable bond between the ligand and the receptor. The smaller the RMSD value indicates the position of the atomic bonds in the ligand the better and closer to the original conformation.²²

Molecular Docking

Molecular docking was performed with the AutoDock Tools 1.5.6 application. The test ligands used were punicalagin compounds, and ribavirin compounds as control ligands and glycerol as native ligands were used for comparison. The docking process was carried out 10 times to obtain the best conformation from the interaction between the ligand and the receptor. The docking results of the three ligands show different positions of the ligands and bonds formed. The binding positions of the three ligands are presented in the following figure:



Figure 1. Binding Position of Test Ligand, Control Ligand, and Native Ligand on NS5 DENV-3 Protein.*

*Description: yellow: test ligand position, blue: control ligand position, purple: native ligand position

Figure 1 is the result of the binding of three ligands to the NS5 DENV-3 protein structure with different binding sites. The NS5 DENV-3 protein is a protein complex that plays a role in the DENV-3 replication process. This protein complex includes the largest protein complexes with the most durable protein complexes with the most durable protein complex is composed of 900 amino acid residues which are divided into two active sites, namely the N-Terminal domain complex at residue range 1-262, and the C-Terminal domain complex at residue range 273-900.²³

The NS5 DENV-3 protein complex is commonly known as a conserve protein. This is due to the important role of this protein complex in DENV-3 replication. For this reason, the NS5 protein complex is often used as a target receptor in *in silico* studies for the development of drug candidates.²⁴ Visualization of conserved proteins can be used to predict the bonds formed from the results of molecular docking (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Representation of Conserved Protein on NS5 DENV-3 Protein.

Visualization of conserved protein NS5 DENV-3 shows the potential for 2 types of bonds. The green and purple colors in figure 3 represent the hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic bonds that can be formed in the NS5 DENV-3 protein complex. Hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic bonds are types of



bonds resulting from the interaction of the ligand with the receptor which play a role in maintaining the stability of the conformation of the ligand and receptor bonds.²⁵

The interaction that occurs due to tethering of the test ligand on the target receptor produces hydrogen bonds and electrostatic bonds with amino acid residues in the range 340-737. This is different from the results of the binding of the control ligand which forms hydrogen bonds with amino acid residues in the range 67-582, and hydrogen bonds with amino acid residues in the range 300-355. The bond formed from the docking of the test and native ligands occurs in the C-Terminal domain complex of the NS5 DENV-3 protein, while the control ligand binds to amino acid residues in the N-Terminal and C-Terminal complexes.

The N-Terminal and C-Terminal complexes are protein complexes that play a role in the multiprotein replication process found in the NS5 DENV-3 protein. The N-Terminal complex has a methyltransferase enzyme that functions in the RNA translation phase into polyproteins in the host cell, while the C-Terminal complex contains an RNA polymerase enzyme that helps speed up the process of RNA replication.²³



Figure 3. Bonds Formed by Molecular Docking of Test Ligand and Receptor.

Attachment of the test ligand to the target receptor results in three different types of bonds, namely electrostatic bonds (orange), hydrophobic bonds (purple), and hydrogen bonds (green) (Figure 3). These three bonds support the stable conformation of the ligand binding to the receptor. Electrostatic bonds are bonds that occur due to the distribution of electrons resulting in positive and negative charges on a molecule.²⁶ This type of bond helps to increase the conformational stability of the ligand bond with the receptor.²⁷ It also forms hydrogen bonds. Hydrogen bonds are said to

be strong if they have a bond length above 1.85 Å.²⁸ This bond supports the stability of the protein structure.²⁹ Most of the hydrogen bonds formed from the interaction of the tested ligand and the receptor have a bond length of above 1.85 Å so that they have strong hydrogen bonds.

The hydrophobic bond formed from the interaction of the test ligand with the receptor also helps in reducing interactions with water molecules through alignment of the positions of non-polar compounds, thereby helping to maintain protein stability.²⁵ This interaction is formed with



the residue of the amino acid valine at point 353. Valine is a non-polar amino acid that is hydrophobic.³⁰ The binding position of the test ligand on the active site of the protein in

the C-Terminal complex will interfere with the work of the RNA polymerase enzyme so that the process of viral replication cannot occur.



Figure 4. Bonds Formed by Molecular Docking of Control Ligand and Receptor.

Molecular docking of the control ligand with the target receptor produces only one type of bond, namely a hydrogen bond (Figure 4). The hydrogen bonds formed have a bond length above 1.85 Å. The strength of this bond contributes to maintaining the stability of the conformation of the ligand with the protein.²⁹

The binding position of the control ligand in the C-Terminal and N-Terminal complex will interfere with the work of the RNA polymerase and methyltransferase enzymes so that the process of viral replication cannot occur.

Analysis of Molecular Docking Results

Molecular docking results were analyzed by comparing several data parameters, including inhibition constant (Ki), bond free energy (ΔG), and bonds formed from the docking process of test ligands, native ligands, and control ligands. This analysis was conducted to assess the level of effectiveness and potential of the tested ligands as drug candidates.

I ison d	ΔG (kcal/mol)	Ki (μM)	Bond Type		
Ligand			Hydrogen	Hydrophobic	Electrostatic
Test	-6.39	20.67	MET340	VAL353	ASP538
			MET453		
			THR534		
			TRP537		
			SER600		
			ASP538		
			ASP663		
			ARG737		
Control	-6.09	34.52	GLU67	-	-
			ASN69		
			LYS95		

Table 2. Results of Molecular Docking.



5.26

GLU296 ARG581 PRO582

LYS300

LYS355

Native	-3.11	

The data presented in Table 2 is the best result from the 10x binding process of each ligand to the receptor. The inhibition constant (Ki) values of the three ligands have different values. The Ki value represents the level of strength of a compound in inhibiting the rate of action of the target receptor. The smaller the Ki value, the greater the inhibitory strength31. The test ligand Ki value was between the control and native ligand values. This shows that the inhibitory power of the tested ligands was lower when compared to the native ligands, but higher than the control ligands.

The bond free energy value (ΔG) is a value that indicates the degree of stability of the ligand conformation with the receptor. The ΔG value is inversely related to the level of affinity of the ligand for the receptor. The smaller the ΔG value, the greater the affinity of the ligand for the receptor.²² Based on the results of the ΔG values of the three ligands, the ΔG value of the tested ligands was the best at -6.39 kcal/mol. This indicates that the bond of the test ligand with the target receptor is more stable than the control and native ligands. The binding free energy of the tested ligand is negative indicating that the tested ligand can interact with the receptor so that it can be used as a DENV-3 inhibitor. The magnitude of the ΔG value is influenced by several factors, such as differences in the number and types of bonds formed from the interaction of the ligand with the receptor³², as well as the flexibility of the ligand structure during the binding process.³³

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this research was that the punicalagin compound has a better binding energy than the control compound for the - -

NS5 DENV-3 protein. This research was limited to computational tests only, so further *in vitro* tests are needed.

CONCLUSIONS

Based on the results obtained in this study, it can be concluded that the punicalagin compound is able to bind to the NS5 DENV-3 protein which is characterized by the presence of electrostatic bonds, hydrophobic bonds, and hydrogen bonds with amino acid residues in the C-Terminal domain complex which contains the RNA polymerase enzyme. The value of the inhibition constant of the punicalagin compound showed better affinity than the control compound, but lower than the ligand compound. Bond free energy (ΔG) values of punicalagin compounds showed the best results compared to native and control ligands. Therefore. the punicalagin compound is effective and has the potential to be used as a DENV-3 drug candidate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors thank to the Laboratory of Faculty of Science and Technology UIN Sunan Ampel Surabaya.

FUNDING

This study did not receive funding by any institution.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

All authors in this research confirmed that there is no conflict of interest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION
RK, SR, THS, MD, and AHR performed in charge of collecting data. RK writing article. YR is a principle investigator who provides study ideas and validates data.

REFERENCES

- 1. Usmar, Fitri AMNF, Yuliana D, Nainu F. Review: Imunoterapi Penanganan Infeksi Virus. Jurnal Mandala Pharmacon Indonesia [Internet]. 2021;7(1):83–111.
- Sabir MJ, Al-Saud NBS, Hassan SM. Dengue and Human Health: A Global Scenario of its Occurrence, Diagnosis and Therapeutics. Saudi J Biol Sci. 2021;28(9):5074–80.
- Kularatne SA, Dalugama C. Dengue Infection: Global Importance, Immunopathology and Management. Clinical Medicine. 2022 Jan 1;22(1):9–13.
- Islam MT, Quispe C, Herrera-Bravo J, Sarkar C, Sharma R, Garg N, et al. Production, Transmission, Pathogenesis, and Control of Dengue Virus: A Literature-Based Undivided Perspective. Biomed Res Int. 2021;2021.
- 5. Suryani ET. Gambaran Kasus Demam Berdarah Dengue di Kota Blitar Tahun 2015-2017. Jurnal Berkala Epidemiologi. 2018;6(3):260–7.
- Farasari R, Azinar M. Model Buku Saku Dan Rapor Pemantauan Jentik Dalam Meningkatkan Perilaku Pemberantasan Sarang Nyamuk. JHE (Journal of Health Education). 2018;3(2):110–7.
- 7. Kementerian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. Profil Kesehatan Indonesia Tahun 2020. Jakarta: Kementerian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia; 2021.
- Harapan H, Michie A, Yohan B, Shu PY, Mudatsir M, Sasmono RT, et al. Dengue Viruses Circulating in Indonesia: A Systematic Review and

Phylogenetic Analysis of Data from Five Decades. Rev Med Virol. 2019;29(4):1–17.

- 9. Hikmawati I, Huda S. Peran Nyamuk sebagai Vektor Demam Berdarah Dengue (DBD) melalui Transovarial. Banyumas: Satria Publisher; 2021.
- 10. sucipto Hari T, Churrotin S, Setyawati H, Cahyo Mulyatno K, Harlan Amarullah I, Ueda S, et al. Inhibitory Activity of Cobalt(II)-Complex Against Morin The Replication of Dengue Virus Type 2. Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 2017;6(6):141-4.
- Setiawan FF, Istyastono EP. Uji In Silico Senyawa 2,6-Dihidroksiantraquinon sebagai Ligan pada Reseptor Estrogen Alfa. Jurnal Farmasi Sains dan Komunitas. 2015;12(2):77–80.
- Herman R. Studi In Silico Lima Senyawa Aktif Sebagai Penghambat Protein Virus Dengue. Jurnal Kefarmasian Indonesia. 2019;9(1):40–7.
- Rosmalena R, Elya B, Dewi BE, Fithriyah F, Desti H, Angelina M, et al. The Antiviral Effect of Indonesian Medicinal Plant Extracts Against Dengue Virus in Vitro and In Silico. Pathogens. 2019;8(2):1–11.
- 14. Sahili A El, Lescar J. Dengue Virus Non-Structural Protein 5. Viruses. 2017;9(4):1–20.
- Magdalena BA, Bardi S, Indriyanti W, Maelaningsih FS. Formulasi Krim Antihiperpigmentasi Ekstrak Kulit Buah Delima (*Punica granatum* L.). IJPST. 2016;3(1):17–25.
- Rukmono R, Fajriaty I, Riza H, Handini M. Virtual Screening Metabolit Aktif Senyawa Asam dari Pacar Air (*Impatiens balsamina* L.) terhadap Reseptor Sulfonilurea. Jurnal Mahasiswa Farmasi Fakultas Kedokteran UNTAN. 2019;4(1).



- Sahu VK, Singh RK, Singh PP. Extended Rule of Five and Prediction of Biological Activity of peptidic HIV-1-PR Inhibitors. Trends Journal of Sciences Research. 2022;1(1):20– 42.
- 18. Shofi M. Analisis Senyawa aspinasterol Pada Biji Trembesi (Samanea saman (jacq.) Merr) Terhadap Penghambatan 3C-like Protease SARS-CoV-2 Melalui Uji In Silico. Agustus. 2021;2(2):74-88.
- Kilo A La, Aman LO, Sabihi I, Kilo J La. Studi Potensi Pirazolin Tersubstitusi 1-N dari Tiosemikarbazon sebagai Agen Antiamuba melalui Uji In Silico. Indo J Chem Res. 2019;7(1):9–16.
- Maftucha N, Manalu R, Amelia R, Cordia P, Bupu R. Potensi Senyawa Turunan Xanton dari Kulit Buah Manggis (*Garcinia mangostana* L.) Sebagai Inhibitor Protein Mycobacterium tuberculosis: Studi In Silico. Pharmaceutical Journal of Indonesia [Internet]. 2022;7(2):123–8.
- 21. Nurhijriah Pitaloka AD. CY. Musyaffa HA. Azzahra AM. Molecular Docking of Chemical Constituents Dayak of Onion (*Eleutherine palmifolia* (L.) Merr) towards VHR Receptors as Candidates for Cervical Anticancer Indonesian Journal Drugs. of Biological Pharmacy [Internet]. 2023;3(2):83-95. Available from: https://www.
- Kalontong PK, Safithri M, Tarman K. Penambatan Molekul Senyawa Aktif Spirulina platensis sebagai Inhibitor TMPRSS2 untuk Mencegah Infeksi SARS-COV-2. J Pengolah Has Perikan Indones. 2022 Aug 10;25(2):253–67.
- Zhao Y, Soh TS, Zheng J, Chan KWK, Phoo WW, Lee CC, et al. A Crystal Structure of the Dengue Virus NS5 Protein Reveals a Novel Inter-

domain Interface Essential for Protein Flexibility and Virus Replication. PLoS Pathog. 2015 Mar 1;11(3):1–27.

- 24. Nascimento IJ dos S, Santos-Júnior PF da S, de Aquino TM, de Araújo-Júnior JX, Silva-Júnior EF da. Insights on Dengue and Zika NS5 RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) inhibitors. Eur J Med Chem. 2021 Nov 15;224.
- Khaerunnisa S, Suhartati, Awaluddin R. Penelitian In Silico untuk Pemula. Surabaya: Airlangga University Press; 2020.
- Adawiyah SAS. Analisis Modifikasi Kotisan menggunakan Asam Trikarboksilat secara Molecular Docking. [Jember]: Universitas Jember; 2016.
- 27. Naufa F, Mutiah R, Indrawijaya YYA. Studi in Silico Potensi Senyawa Katekin Teh Hiiau (Camellia sinensis) sebagai Antivirus SARS CoV-2 terhadap Spike Glycoprotein (6LZG) dan Main Protease (5R7Y). Journal of Food and Pharmaceutical Sciences [Internet]. 2022;10(1):584-96.
- Riverson MS, Rizarullah. Potensi Antidiabetes Benzyl Beta D Glucopyranoside dari Daun Yacon sebagai Inhibitor Enzim DPP-4: Metode In Silico. Prosiding Seminar Nasional Biotik [Internet]. 2020;299– 305.
- 29. Frimayanti N, Zamri A, Eryanti Y, Herfindo N, Azteria V. Docking and Dynamic Simulations Molecular Study to Search Curcumin Analogue Compounds as Potential Inhibitor Against SARS-CoV-2: Α Computational Approach. Jurnal Kimia dan Aplikasi. Sains 2021;24(3):85-90.
- Subagiono AGK. Analisis Profil
 Protein Tulang Ikan Nila
 (Oreochromis niloticus) Sebelum dan
 Sesudah Dimasak menggunakan



Metode SDS-Page. [Jember]: Universitas Jember; 2019.

- 31. Hartanti IR, Putri AA, Auliya AS NN, Triadenda AL, Laelasari E, Suhandi C, et al. Molecular Docking Senyawa Xanton, Benzofenon, dan Triterpenoid sebagai Antidiabetes dari Ekstrak Tumbuhan Garcinia cowa. Jurnal Kimia. 2022 Jan 28;16(1):72–83.
- 32. Sinurat MR, Rahmayanti Y, Rizarullah. Uji Aktivitas Antidiabetes Senyawa Baru Daun Yakon

(*Smallanthus sonchifolius*) sebagai Inhibitor Enzim DPP-4: Studi in Silico. Jurnal IPA & Pembelajaran IPA. 2021 May 23;5(2):138–50.

33. Hanif AU, Lukis PA, Fadlan A. Pengaruh Minimisasi Energi MMFF94 dengan MarvinSketch dan Open Babel PyRx pada Penambatan Molekular Turunan Oksindola Tersubstitusi. Alchemy: Journal of Chemistry [Internet]. 2020;8(2):33– 40.



Available online at IJTID Website: https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Original Article

The Effect of C-Reactive Protein Levels, Neutrophil, and Lymphocyte Count to Mortality of COVID-19 Patients with Sepsis in Referral Hospital

Avina Norma Malikhah^{1*}, Dhani Redhono Harioputro², Agung Susanto³, Evi Nurhayatun²

¹Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, Indonesia ²Division of Tropic Infection, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, dr. Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Indonesia ³Division of Nefrology and Hypertension, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, dr. Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Indonesia

Received: 13th August 2023; Revised: 14th September 2023; Accepted: 23th November 2023

ABSTRACT

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease caused by infection of Severe Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrom Coronavirus-2 (SARS CoV-2). COVID-19 patients may develop sepsis, the disregulation of the immune system that causes organ dysfunction and life-threatening situations. High mortality of COVID-19 and sepsis make it important to study. The purpose of this study is to analyze the effect of CRP levels, neutrophil, and lymphocyte count to mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. This study is an analytic observational study with a cross-sectional approach. Samples were randomly retrieved of COVID-19 patients with sepsis admitted in referral hospital. Univariate, bivariate, and multivariate analysis used SPSS 26th version of Windows. The results of this study indicate a significant effect of CRP levels and neutrophil count on mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. Meanwhile, lymphocyte count had no significant effects. The multivariate analysis showed its significance value. Partially, the effect of neutrophils on the patient's mortality has a significant value. The conclusion of this study is CRP levels and neutrophil count simultaneously have an effect on higher mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis.

Keywords: COVID-19, Sepsis, CRP, Neutrophils, and Lymphocytes.

Highlights: This study examined the relationship of the C-Reactive Protein (CRP) levels, neutrophil, and lymphocyte count to COVID-19 with sepsis cases multivariately.

How to Cite: Malikhah, A. N., Harioputro, D. R., Susanto, A., Nurhayatun, E. The Effect of C-Reactive Protein Levels, Neutrophil, and Lymphocyte Count to Mortality of COVID-19 Patients with Sepsis in RSUD Dr. Moewardi Surakarta. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 35–42. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.48634



^{*} Corresponding Author:

avinanormam@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 or more commonly called COVID-19 is an infectious disease caused by Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 (SARS CoV-2) and it could be spread.^{1,2} On March 11, 2020, COVID-19 was declared as a global pandemic.³ Sepsis is the biggest problem that causes the mortality of COVID-19 patients. Abumayyaleh et al.⁴ show that patients suffering from sepsis in COVID-19 had higher rates of comorbidity; 11% of COVID-19 patients fall into sepsis conditions based on the definition of Sepsis-3 International Consensus.⁴ The sepsis itself is defined as the state of organ dysfunction caused by immune dysregulation to an infection. Infected pathogens can be bacteria, fungi, and viruses. This can lead to both danger and tissue damage. The high prevalence of sepsis, which about 31.5 million sepsis patients is worldwide makes it increasingly important to study. The extent of the organ dysfunction that is usually measured in terms of Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score causes a high mortality, 5.3 million people each year.^{5,6}

C-reactive protein (CRP) is an acute phase protein released in response to infection. Increased release of IL-6 is also capable of stimulating the CRP secretion primarily produced by hepar cells.^{7,8} Neutrophils constitute polymorphonuclear leukocytes that occupy the largest proportion of white blood cells in the body. Neutrophils become the first line of body defense against substance invasion.⁹ Its activity is stimulated by increased proinflammatory cytokines. Lymphocytes are white blood cells responsible for controlling the adaptive immune system. If the number of Tlymphocyte cells is reduced, then there can be hyperinflammatory until death.

There have been studies that have studied the relationship between CRP levels and leukocytes of both mortalities and clinical severities of COVID-19 patients. Additionally, some studies also link it with sepsis patients' mortality. Based on research conducted by Seung Mok Ryoo et al¹³, a significant correlation was found between the increase of CRP and the mortality of sepsis with a value of p = 0.003. Meanwhile, a study proved that CRP levels were higher in severe COVID-19 patients.¹⁰ Leucocyte count has also been studied on deceased COVID-19 patients. Leucocytosis, neutrophilia, and lymphocytopenia are among the results. Of the deceased patients, most of them were COVID-19 in a severe stage.¹¹

The COVID-19 prevalence is high and continues to have profound effects on life in this part of the world. Severe and critical patients of COVID-19 with sepsis have also contributed to a high mortality rate. According to previous studies, CRP levels affect clinical disseminations of both COVID-19 and sepsis patients. Moreover, the number of neutrophils and lymphocytes also affects the mortality of the COVID-19 patient. The previous studies examined such independent variables univariately either to COVID-19 patients or sepsis patients only so researchers are interested to study the effect of C-reactive protein levels, neutrophil, and lymphocyte count to mortality of COVID-19 patients - with depsis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study is an observational analytic study with a cross-sectional approach. Research location is the Isolation Ward Dr. Moewardi Hospital, Surakarta, Indonesia. The actual population is COVID-19 patients sepsis admitted to Dr. Moewardi's with hospital in January until December 2021. The criteria for inclusion is a COVID-19 patient who was hospitalized at Dr. Moewardi surakarta in January - December 2021 and are over 18 years old, while the exclusion criteria patients with immunodeficiency, are



paraneoplastic syndrome, and patients taking immunosuppressant or steroid drugs. Samples were taken using the simple random sampling technique until it obtained 88 samples as a minimal number of samples and then an additional 10% so that 97 samples were used in the study.

CRP levels, neutrophil count, and lymphocyte count are the independent variables while the mortality is the dependent variable. Data analysis used the Statistical Program for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 26th version for Windows. The analysis used is univariate, bivariate, and multivariate. Bivariate used Spearman correlations test and multivariate used binary regression logistic test. The study has been approved by Dr. Moewardi's health research ethics commission and has obtained an ethical clearance number 819/VI/HREC/2022.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results

This study is an observational analytic study with cross-sectional approach. Data were collected from COVID-19 patients with sepsis. Table 1 below shows the characteristic of samples with distribution based on age and gender.

Distribution	Total (n=97)	Outo Survivor (%)	come Non Survivor (%)	Neutrophils count, mean ± SD	Lymphocytes count, mean ± SD	CRP levels, mean ± SD
Age (years)						
0-18	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)			
19-39	15 (15.46%)	3 (20%)	12 (80%)	10.34 ± 8.58	1.24 ± 0.77	12.35 ± 7.50
40-59	42 (43.30%)	19 (45.24%)	23 (54.76%)	8.64 ± 5.09	1.14 ± 0.44	12.68 ± 9.16
≥60	40 (41.24%)	12 (30%)	28 (70%)	9.38 ± 5.60	0.92 ± 0.40	12.56 ± 10.78
Gender						
Male	60 (61.86%)	24 (40%)	36 (60%)	8.80 ± 5.45	0.99 ± 0.48	13.78 ± 9.83
Female	37 (38.14%)	10 (27.03%)	27 (72.97%)	9.86 ± 6.60	1.18 ± 0.52	10.62 ± 8.87

Table 1. Sample Characteristic.

Table 2. Outcome of COVID-19 Patients with Sepsis.

Sample		Frequency (%)	Neutrophil count, average ± SD	Lymphocyte count, average ± SD	CRP, average ± SD
Qutcomo	Survivor	34 (35.05%)	6.78 ± 4.01	1.15 ± 0.49	9.08 ± 7.84
Outcome	Non Survivor	63 (64.95%)	10.52 ± 6.36	1.02 ± 0.51	14.47 ± 9.91

Table 2. shows that the mortality of COVID-19 patient with sepsis was 63 patients from 97 samples. The table also mentions the average of each independent variable in both categories, survivor and non-survivor. Independent variables have been analyzed bivariously to know the correlation of each independent variable to the dependent variable. The significance of CRP levels is 0.005 and the significance of the neutrophil count is 0.001. At the same time, the significance of the number of lymphocytes is 0.151 (> 0.05). From the multivariate analysis, the determinant coefficient of the logistic regression is 0.193. From binary regression logistic test, the



significance value is 0.001 (<0.05) and thus it can be concluded that CRP levels and the number of neutrophils simultaneously affected the mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis.

Based on the binary regression logistic test, the significance of CRP levels is 0.098 (> 0.05) and the neutrophil count is 0.019 (< 0.05). From exp(b) it may be known as to the ratio of each independent variable. The exp(b) CRP levels are 1,047 and the variable neutrophil count is 1.150.

Discussion

CRP levels and mortality

The found significant study correlation (p=0.005) between CRP levels and mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. This coefficient correlation is positive, which means that the higher the CRP level, the higher the mortality rate of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. CRP levels have a 0.284 coefficient value of relations belonging to groups with weak correlation power. A study conducted by Wardika Sikesa ¹² supports the results of the study. There is a significant CRP difference between a COVID-19 patient with moderate and severe symptoms. Thus, CRP levels affected the severity of COVID-19. In the same study, it has been suggested that there is a significant correlation between raising CRP levels to raising mortality in COVID-19 patients.¹² Seung Mok Ryoo et al.13 conducted a sepsis related study and found a significant correlation between CRP increase and mortality of sepsis patients (p = 0.003).¹³

C-reactive proteins are acute phase proteins that are secreted more when inflammation occurs and reach peak values in 48 hours. Therefore, CRP can be used as an inflammation biomarker.^{12–14} The course of COVID-19 disease with sepsis involves an inflammatory response. The rapidly increasing CRP is part of the first line defense of the body as an innate immune system enabled in order to fight off viral infections. At severe COVID-19, proinflammatory cytokines are oversecreted so as to affect CRP levels in the body. This extreme response can be harmful to the body because it leads to advanced organ dysfunction in a COVID-19 patient. The more severe the COVID-19 disease in patients, the higher the CRP rate.^{12,15} Wardika and Sikesa ¹² indicate that the highest CRP rate is owned by severe and critical COVID-19 patients¹² who fit the diagnostic criteria of sepsis.¹⁶

Neutrophil Count and Mortality

The study found a significant correlation (p=0.001) between the number of neutrophils and the mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. This relationship is positive, which means that the higher the number of neutrophils, the higher mortality rate of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. The coefficient value of the neutrophils count is which means having moderate 0.348, correlation power. Patients with COVID-19 with severe disease had significantly higher absolute neutrophil counts.¹⁷ Sinurat et al.¹⁸ mention the distinct number of meaningful neutrophils in COVID-19 degrees, mild, moderate, and severe. That is illustrated by the higher number of neutrophils in severe groups than those of mild degrees (4.3 vs 3.2 ms)x $10^{9}/L$).¹⁸ Additionally, other studies cite the number of neutrophils measured within 24 diagnoses hours after confirming significantly correlated to COVID-19 mortality with a degree of significance of 0.002 (p<0.05).¹⁹

The increasing number of neutrophils is due to some of the things described in the pathophysiology of COVID-19 that occur with sepsis. Once the SARS CoV-2 enters the body then infects the cell through its bound with the ACE-2 receptors, including the epithelial alveolar, it first activates the immune system. This is where the many neutrophils are activated as a body defense line against foreign invasion. Sepsis makes



the neutrophil's lifespan longer than normal conditions.²⁰ The rise in production of neutrophils is also set off by an increase in secretion mediator inflammation of viral infections, such as IL-6 and GCSF.²¹ Neutrophil will make a neutrophil's extracellular traps (NETs) that acts to trap and kill the virus. Overdeveloped NETs, however, can harm the body by damaging lung tissue. In addition, neutrophils are also responsible for the formation of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) that can destroy the DNA of the cell and expel the virus from the cells.^{18,22} Not only this, another mechanism for neutrophils is the direct destruction of the virus through Antibody Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity (ADCC).¹⁸ The severe increase of neutrophils count can cause tissue damage and lead to poor outcomes.²³ At the state of sepsis, neutrophils can induce obstructive nasal paths that will cause mismatch and hypoxia conduction. Thus, neutrophils contributed to sepsis in ARDS.²⁴

Lymphocyte count and mortality

The study results in that the number of lymphocytes and mortalities of COVID-19 patients with sepsis had no significant correlation (p=0.151). As for the coefficient value of correlation, the lymphocytes count of 0.174 means having weak correlation power. Negative value of coefficient correlation means lower levels of lymphocytes do not significantly affect mortality levels. Some studies support these results. The study mentioned that there is no correlation between the number of lymphocytes and the mortality of sepsis patients (p=0.465).²⁵ In addition, a diagnostic test of COVID-19 patients mentioned that lymphocytes had poorer diagnostic marks in COVID-19 patients than the number of neutrophils and NLR.²⁶

Characteristics of the immune suppression on sepsis conditions is apoptosis of T-helper, cytotoxic lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, and dendritic cells.²⁷ Other reference mentioned that. in the case of sepsis. there will be an increase in the neutrophil count followed by an increase in the lymphocyte count. In turn, the number of lymphocytes may develop apoptosis if sepsis is not properly handled.²⁸ In a study from Martins et al.²⁹, lymphocytes count were significantllower in patients with sepsis than the control group y.²⁹ In COVID-19 patients with sepsis they can either increase or decrease the number of lymphocytes. Some samples in the study also showed high levels of lymphocytes in COVID-19 patients with sepsis who passed away in either 48 hours or more. Thus, according to analysis data of this study, the number of lymphocytes does not significantly affect the mortality of a COVID-19 patients with sepsis (p=0.151).

However, there are other studies that contradict those results. Tarigan et al.¹⁹ analyzed the correlation of lymphocyte count measured in the first 24 hours of COVID-19 patient mortality and had significant results (p= 0.002; P < 0.05).¹⁹ Other research also revealed that sepsis patients who have persistent lymphopenia were at a risk of dying by 5.66 times greater than being non persistent lymphopenia.³⁰ The differences in previous studies with these may be due to factors. One is the patient's some comorbidity, which has not been analyzed in this research. Based on a statistical analysis, comorbidity contributes more to affecting mortality than the number of absolute lymphocytes.²¹

CRP levels, neutrophil count, lymphocyte count, and mortality

The contribution of independent variables (CRP levels, neutrophil count, and lymphocyte count) to the dependency variable is 19.3%. CRP levels in a partial way have no significant impact on mortality while the number of neutrophils has a significant partial influence on mortality. Based on exp(b) ratio, patients with increasing CRP rates have a mortality risk of 1,047 times greater than those with low CRP levels. Meanwhile, patients with an increasing



number of neutrophils will have a mortality risk of 1,150 times greater than those with a low number of neutrophils.

No previous study has analyzed multivariately the number of neutrophils, the number of lymphocytes, and the CRP concentrations together in COVID-19 patients with sepsis. Previous studies analyzed the independent variable as Neutrophil Lymphocytes Ratio (NLR). The study from Nurhayatun et al.³¹ showed that in COVID-19 patients NLR increase increased the risk of death.³¹ Both neutrophils and CRP levels play a role and are directly involved in the human body's defense systems when there is both infection and inflammation. Previous studies have proved that each of these variables has significant correlation to the severity of both COVID-19 and sepsis and affects its mortality. Hyperactivated neutrophils lead to the formation of overloaded NETs and ROS results a danger condition to the body.¹⁸ In addition, neutrophils have a tendency to induce ARDS in sepsis patients.²⁴ CRP as a biomarker inflammation increases as the rate of inflammation increases. Increased CRP leads to increased risk of organ dysfunction and death in sepsis. The study proved that CRP levels and the neutrophil count simultaneously affected COVID-19 patients' mortality with sepsis.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this study was the novelty of research about COVID-19 with sepsis and using a multivariate analysis. The limitation of this study was no analysis about patient comorbidities.

CONCLUSIONS

The increase in CRP levels and the neutrophil count simultaneously have an effect on higher mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. The variable that has the most influence is neutrophils because in multivariate analysis neutrophils have significant partial influence value. Meanwhile the lymphocyte count had no significant correlation to mortality of COVID-19 patients with sepsis. For future research relevant to this study, comorbidities of the patients need to be analyzed beside the independent variables.

ETHICAL CLEARANCE

The research protocol was approved by Dr. Moewardi's health research ethics commission and has obtained an ethical clearance number 819/VI/HREC/2022.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors acknowledge the contribution of all research assistants involved in the collection of data and manuscript writing. The authors express their great gratitude to all participants who are the sample in this study.

FUNDING

This research did not receive any funding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have no potential conflicts of interest to disclose.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

ANM collected and analyzed data, wrote the manuscript and generated the figure and tables. DRH proofread the manuscript and revised the manuscript. AS proofread the manuscript. EN designed this study.

REFERENCES



- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Cuomo A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R. Features, Evaluation, and Treatment of Coronavirus (COVID-19). StatPearls [Internet]. 2022 Feb 5 [cited 2022 Mar 23]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK554776/
- Shi Y, Wang G, Cai X peng, Deng J wen, Zheng L, Zhu H hong, et al. An overview of COVID-19. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B [Internet]. 2020 May 1 [cited 2023 May 14];21(5):343. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7205601/
- Burhan E, Susanto AD, Nasution SA, Eka G, Pitoyo ceva W, Susilo A, et al. Pedoman Tatalaksana Covid-19. 4th ed. Jakarta; 2022. 79–85 p.
- Abumayyaleh M, Nuñez-Gil IJ, El-Battrawy I, Estrada V, Becerra-Muñoz VM, Uribarri A, et al. Sepsis of Patients Infected by SARS-CoV-2: Real-World Experience From the International HOPE-COVID-19-Registry and Validation of HOPE Sepsis Score. Front Med. 2021;8(October):1–10.
- Liwang F, Yuswar PW, Wijaya E, Sanjaya NP. Kapita Selekta Kedokteran. 5th ed. Jakarta: Media Aesculapius; 2020.
- Hotchkiss RS, Moldawer LL, Opal SM, Reinhart K, Turnbull IR, Vincent JL. Sepsis and septik shock. Nature Reviews. 2016;
- Nehring SM, Goyal A, Bansal P, Patel BC. C Reactive Protein. StatPearls [Internet]. 2021 Dec 28 [cited 2022 Feb 23];65(5):237–44. Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK441843/

- 8. Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ. Role of C-Reactive Protein at Sites of Inflammation and Infection. Front Immunol. 2018;9.
- 9. Tortora GJ, Derrickson B. Dasar Anatomi & Fisiologi. 13th ed.

Jakarta: EGC; 2017.

- 10. Guan W jie, Ni Z yi, Hu Y, Liang W hua, Ou C quan, He J xing, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2020 Apr 30 [cited 2022 Mar 20];382(18):1708– 20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/321 09013/
- 11. Zhao Y, Nie HX, Hu K, Wu XJ, Zhang YT, Wang MM, et al. Abnormal immunity of non-survivors with COVID-19: predictors for mortality. Infect Dis Poverty [Internet]. 2020 Aug 3 [cited 2022 Mar 20];9(1). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7396941/
- 12. Wardika IK, Sikesa IGPH. Pengukuran Interleukin-6 (IL-6), C-Reactive Protein (CRP) dan D-Dimer sebagai prediktor prognosis pada pasien COVID-19 gejala berat: sebuah tinjauan pustaka. Intisari Sains Medis. 2021;12(3):901.
- 13. Ryoo SM, Han KS, Ahn S, Shin TG, Hwang SY, Chung SP, et al. The usefulness of C-reactive protein and procalcitonin to predict prognosis in septic shock patients: A multicenter prospective registry-based observational study. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):1–8.
- 14. Anush MM, Ashok VK, Sarma RIN, Pillai SK. Role of c-reactive protein as an indicator for determining the outcome of sepsis. Indian J Crit Care Med. 2019;23(1):11–4.
- 15. Smilowitz NR, Kunichoff D, Garshick M, Shah B, Pillinger M, Hochman JS, et al. C-reactive protein and clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19. Eur Heart J. 2021;
- Tufan ZK, Aslan BK, Mer M. Covid-19 and Sepsis. Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences. 2021;
- 17. Lin M, Zhang L, Tang X, Tang Y. The Value of Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratio Combined with Red Blood Cell

Distribution Width in Evaluating the Prognosis of Emergency Patients with Sepsis. Emerg Med Int [Internet]. 2022 Nov 10 [cited 2023 Sep 29];2022:1–5. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9671714/

- Sinurat TR. Dinutanayo WW, Aditya AA. Puromo A. Perbandingan derajat keparahan terhadap jumlah neutrofil, limfosit dan. J Vokasi Kesehat. 2022;134–9.
- Tarigan LL, Silaen JC, Silalahi M. Korelasi Profil Hematologi 24 Jam Pertama Terhadap Mortalitas Pasien COVID-19 di Rumah Sakit Murni Teguh Memorial Kota Medan Tahun 2020. JURNAL PANDU HUSADA. 2023 Oct 30;4(4):50-7.
- 20. Shen XF, Cao K, Jiang JP, Guan WX, Du JF. Neutrophil dysregulation during sepsis: an overview and update. J Cell Mol Med [Internet].
 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Jun 1];21(9):1687–97. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/282 44690/
- 21. Pertiwi D, A. AP, Rahayu. Hubungan Antara Neutrophil Lymphocyte Ratio dan Absolute Lymphocyte Count dengan Mortalitas Pasien Covid -19. Medica Arter. 2022;4(1).
- 22. Lehman HK, Segal BH. The role of neutrophils in host defense and disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2023 May 14];145(6):1535. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8912989/
- 23. Ma Y, Zhang Y, Zhu L. Role of neutrophils in acute viral infection. Immunity, Inflamm Dis. 2021;9(4):1186–96.
- 24. Park I, Kim M, Choe K, Song E, Seo H, Hwang Y, et al. Neutrophils disturb pulmonary microcirculation in sepsis-induced acute lung injury. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2019;53(3).
- 25. Desnawisk F. Hubungan Antara Jumlah Leukosit, Neutrofil, dan

Limfosit dengan Outcome pada Pasien Sepsis yang Dirawat di Rumah Sakit Dr. Saiful Anwar Malang. Universitas Brawijaya. 2020.

- Zalfa AAA. Uji Diagnosis Neutrofil, Limfosit Dan RasioNeutrofil Limfosit (NLR) Pada Penderita COVID-19. Universitas Brawijaya. 2021.
- 27. Vahedi HSM, Bagheri A, Jahanshir A, Seyedhosseini J, Vahidi E. Association of Lymphopenia with Short Term Outcomes of Sepsis Patients; a Brief Report. Arch Acad Emerg Med. 2019;7(1):e14.
- 28. Fitriani EC, Amalia Y, Diah Andriana. Hubungan Kadar Dan Hitung Jenis Leukosit Pada Angka Mortalitas Neonatus Dan Bayi Akibat Sepsis Di Kabupaten Malang. Fak Kedokt Univ Islam Malang. 2019;183–9.
- 29. Martins EC, Da Fe Silveira L, Viegas K, Beck AD, Júnior GF, Cremonese RV, et al. Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in the early diagnosis of sepsis in anintensive care unit: a case-control study. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 May 14];31(1):63. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6443306/
- 30. Kurniawan J, Asdie RH, Subronto YW. Limfopenia Persisten sebagai Prediktor Mortalitas pada Pasien Sepsis di RSUP Dr. Sardjito [Internet]. Universitas Gadjah Mada. 2019.
- 31. Nurhayatun E. Prabowo NA. Harioputro DR, Putranto W, Indarto D, Purwanto B. Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio and Hs-CRP Predict Mortality in COVID-19 Patients. Proc 4th Int Conf Sustain 2020–Health Sci Innov Nurs (ICoSIHSN 2020) [Internet]. 2021 Jan 16 [cited 2023 May 14];33:80-2. Available from: https://www.atlantis-

press.com/proceedings/icosihsn-20/125951154.

Indonesian Journal of **Tropical and Infectious Disease**

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Case Report

Exploring the Therapeutic Potential of Glycyrrhizic Acid in Liver Implication in Dengue Infection: A Case Report

Indah Sagitaisna Putri^{1*}, Pipik Ripa'i², Donghwa Na³, Herry Wibowo⁴

¹Leuwiliang General Hospital, Bogor, Indonesia

²Departement of Internal Medicine, Leuwilliang General Hospital, Bogor, Indonesia ³Department of Medicine, Pusan National University, 49 Busandaehak-ro, Mulgeum-eup, Yangsan-si, Gyeongsangnam-do,

Korea

⁴Department of Biomedicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Surabaya, Surabaya, Indonesia

Received: 16th September 2023; Revised: 25th September 2023; Accepted: 30th October 2023

ABSTRACT

Dengue is one of the most common infectious diseases affecting humans. The virus is transmitted between humans by the Aedes mosquito. It occurs hyperendemically in tropical and subtropical climates worldwide. Dengue infection can affect numerous organs, with the liver being the most frequently affected organ. The clinical spectrum of liver disorders ranges from mild elevation of transaminase enzymes to severe conditions such as acute liver failure. Several mechanisms have been proposed to describe hepatic dysfunction observed in dengue fever and dengue hemorrhagic fever, such as immunological injury, hypoxic injury, and direct viral damage due to reduced hepatic perfusion during shock. Glycyrrhizic acid, extracted in the form of glycyrrhizin from the root of the licorice plant Glvcyrrhiza glabra, is referred to as Stronger Neo-Minophagen-C (SNMC®). It has shown effectiveness in reducing serum aminotransferase and bilirubin levels, attenuating hepatocyte apoptosis, and producing endogenous interferon. The following is a case report of a 23-year-old woman with dengue fever and elevated liver enzyme level. The patient's vital signs were stable. A physical examination revealed no abnormalities. A complete blood count test showed thrombocytopenia without an elevation of the hematocrit. AST level was 901 U/L after admission. Causes of other hepatitis infections, such as hepatitis A, B, and C, were excluded. The dengue IgM and IgG antibody levels were reactive. After several days of hospitalization, the patient experienced clinical improvement after supportive therapy and the administration of glicyrrhizic acid or SNMC®.

Keywords: Dengue Infection, Elevated Liver Enzyme, Glycyrrhizic Acid, Hepatic Dysfunction, and SNMC®.

Highlights: This report highlights the use of glycyrrhizic acid in the prevention of acute liver failure in dengue infection with liver involvement.

How to Cite: Putri, I. S., Ripa'i, P., Na, D., and Wibowo, H. Exploring the Therapeutic Potential of Glycyrrhizic Acid in Liver Implication in Dengue Infection: A Case Report. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 43-49. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.49833



^{*} Corresponding Author: indahsagitaisna18@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION

Dengue fever, an acute infectious disease transmitted between humans by the Aedes mosquito, and is caused by dengue virus (DENV). This RNA virus belongs to the genus Flavivirus and family Flaviviridae, with four distinct serotypes: DENV-1, DENV-2, DENV-3, and DENV-4. Although these serotypes share some antigenic similarities, their significant differences lead to the provision of cross-protection for only a limited period following infection with any one among the four. Secondary infections with a distinct serotype or the occurrence of several infections involving other serotypes can initiate extreme forms of dengue.^{1,2} dengue infection Furthermore, occurs hyperendemically in tropical and subtropical climates worldwide, particularly in urban and semi-urban regions.³ The occurrence of dengue has shown a substantial surge, experiencing an eight-fold increase over the last two decades. The cases climbed in 2000 from 505,430 to exceeding 2.4 million in 2010 and further escalated to 4.2 million by 2019.3,4

Dengue can affect numerous organs, with the liver being the most frequently affected. The clinical spectrum of liver disorders ranges from mild elevation of transaminase enzymes to severe conditions such as acute liver failure.⁵ Several mechanisms have been proposed to describe hepatic dysfunction observed in dengue fever and dengue hemorrhagic fever, such as immunological injury, hypoxic injury, and direct viral damage due to reduced hepatic perfusion during shock.^{6–8}

Glycyrrhizic acid, extracted in the form of glycyrrhizin from the root of the licorice plant Glycyrrhiza glabra, is referred to as Stronger Neo-Minophagen-C (SNMC®) by Dexa Medica in Indonesia. It is a triterpene glycoside majorly comprising flavonoids, hydroxyl coumarins, and β sitosterol, alongside glycyrrhetinic acid, which has various pharmacological and

biological activities.⁹ Additionally, it is effective against viral hepatitis, specifically chronic viral hepatitis, and is capable of endogenous stimulating interferon production.¹⁰ Glycyrrhizic acid derivates were reported to have anti-dengue activities by conjugating with amino acids. The introduction of aromatic acyl hydrazide residues into the carbohydrate part also strongly influenced on the antiviral activity of glycyrrhizic acid against DENV2.¹¹ In vitro analyses by Crance et al.¹² using human hepatoma cells demonstrated that glycyrrhizin could inhibit hepatitis A virus penetration, probably by changing the fluidity of the cell membrane.¹² Moreover, glycyrrhizin can help reduce elevated liver enzyme levels by inhibiting phospholipase A2 activation and controlling changes in hepatocyte membrane¹³ permeability, which represses the production of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg).¹⁴

This report presents a case of dengue fever in a 23-year-old female with liver implications, without any evidence of viral hepatitis infection. The focus of this discussion centers on the diagnosis and management of the liver affected by dengue infection.

CASE DESCRIPTION

A female aged 23 years presented at the emergency department with a primary complaint of high-grade fever persisting for three days, accompanied by myalgia and retro-orbital pain. Nausea and vomiting occurred four times daily, while spontaneous bleeding, such as epistaxis and gingival bleeding, was not reported. There was no history of previous illnesses, including hepatitis, diabetes mellitus, or allergies. No family members exhibited similar symptoms, and the patient had not recently traveled to another city.

Upon admission, consciousness was observed, along with the following vital signs: blood pressure (BP) 100/60 mmHg,



pulse per minute at 100 beats, respiratory rate per minute at 18 breaths, oxygen saturation at 98% in room air, as well as 37.7°C body temperature. Physical examination revealed petechiae in the upper extremities and mild tenderness in the right upper quadrant and epigastric region. Laboratory tests indicated 14.0 g/L (11.7-15.5 g/L) hemoglobin (Hb), 39% hematocrit (Hct); white blood cell count (WBC), $5.1 \times 10^3 / \mu L$, platelet count (PC) of $32 \times 10^3 / \mu L$, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), 255 U/L (normal < 35); aspartate aminotransferase (AST), 901 U/L (normal <35); and 123 mmol/L (135–147) serum sodium. Hepatitis markers were all negative, while clinical suspicion of dengue fever was verified by positive anti-dengue antibodies (IgM and IgG), as detailed in Table 1.

Table 1.	Laboratory	/ Test D	uring.	Admission.
----------	------------	----------	--------	------------

Table 1. Europatory Test During Memosion.						
Examination	Result					
Blood cell count						
Hb	14 g/dL					
Hct	39%					
WBC	$5.1 imes 10^3/\mu L$					
PC	$32 imes 10^3/\mu L$					
Blood chemistry						
AST	901 U/L					
ALT	225 U/L					
BUN	35 mg/dL					
Creatinine	0.66 mg/dL					
Glucose	85 mg/dL					
Na	123 mmol/L					
K	4.4 mmol/L					
Cl	97 mmol/L					
Immunoserology						
IgM anti-HAV	Negative					
IgG anti-HAV	Negative					
HBsAg	Negative					
Anti – HCV	Negative					
IgM anti-dengue	Positive					
IgG anti-dengue	Positive					

Hb, hemoglobin; Hct, hematocrit; WBC, white blood cell; PC, platelet count; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; IgM, immunoglobulin M; IgG, immunoglobulin G; HAV, hepatitis A virus; HCV, hepatitis C virus.

Chest radiological examination showed no abnormalities, while abdominal ultrasound indicated achalculous cholecystitis (blue arrow) are shown in Figure 1 and 2.



Figure 1. Chest X-Ray of The Patient.



Figure 2. Abdominal ultrasound of the patient.

A diagnosis of dengue fever with liver involvement was established. The patient received appropriate fluid therapy and symptomatic medication, along with glycyrrhizic acid infusion of two ampules daily for five days to correct serum sodium levels. The complete blood count (CBC) was monitored every 24 h, and liver enzyme levels were evaluated after completion of the infusion as detailed in Table 2.

		Day of hospitalization								
Markers	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Hb	14	10.7	10.5	11.3	11.3	10.9	11.0	11.8	11.5	
Hct	39	30	30	32	32	30	32	33	33	
WBC	5.1	3.8	4.0	4.4	5.0	4.9	4.8	5.1	5.5	

 Table 1. Laboratory Test During Hospitalization.





*) Hb, hemoglobin; Hct, hematocrit; WBC, white blood cell; PC, platelet count; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase.

Following five days of glycyrrhizic acid infusion, the liver enzyme levels showed slight improvement. The infusion was continued for an additional five days, with the addition of curcumin, containing curcumin and lysin, three times daily. After a total of 10 days, the liver enzyme levels exhibited significant improvement, and the patient was asymptomatic, leading to discharge.

DISCUSSION

46

The diagnosis of dengue fever in the patient was confirmed based on the criteria set by the WHO in 2011, including sudden onset of fever within 2-7 days, presence of petechiae, platelet count <150,000/mm³, and absence of plasma leakage signs. Additionally, the observed malaise symptoms such as headache, body aches, and retroorbital pain were consistent with the conventional manifestations of dengue infection.² The identification of acute primary infection through positive results for dengue antibodies further confirmed IgM the diagnosis of dengue.

Defective liver function in the patient was attributed to dengue fever infection, considering the negative consequences of hepatitis virus marker examinations. When a person has a dengue infection, their liver dysfunction can range from minor (as indicated by an increase in aminotransferases alone) to severe (as indicated by jaundice and even fulminant hepatic failure).¹⁵

This was in line with existing studies showing that the liver was repeatedly affected by dengue fever.⁵ Hepatitis is discovered in 60-90% of dengue fever cases, characterized by mild to moderately elevated transaminase levels almost five times above the normal value. Meanwhile. severe hepatitis, characterized by transaminase levels surpassing 10 times the upper limit of normal, is only encountered in a mere 3-11% of cases.¹⁶ The distinctive feature of liver cell damage is the elevation of ALT levels over AST levels, distinguishing it from liver damage caused by the hepatitis virus.^{5,17}

The liver damage pathophysiology in dengue remains incompletely comprehended but is generally related to interactions between the host, viruses, as well as the time of disease. Hepatocytes and Kupffer cells are primary viral targets.⁵ The virus attaches to the hepatocyte cell surface receptor, and protein E plays a crucial role in this process. Sulfate sulfur is also recognized to facilitate DEN virus entry into liver cells, referred to as HepG2. Liver cells in the G2 phase are sensitive to the disease, enabling viral multiplication. Subsequently, liver lesions, microvesicular steatosis, apoptosis, as well as the appearance of Councilman-Rocha Lima bodies, comparable to the conditions in vellow fever as well as different hemorrhagic viral infections are presented.^{18,19} Liver damage may result from direct viral effects on hepatocytes, as previously described, or due to disruptions in the response of the host immune system toward the virus; additional factors contributing to liver injury include ischemia or hypoxia in hepatocytes initiated by circulatory disorders. Furthermore, drug administration, including paracetamol or acetaminophen, which are frequently used to manage fever or discomfort in dengue, tends to promote liver damage.^{5,16}



No specific therapy is available for hepatitis in dengue cases; however, the primary treatment objectives focus on viral clearance, seroconversion, and reducing inflammation.²⁰ In contrast to viral hepatitis, achieving viral clearance and seroconversion in dengue hepatitis treatment is not feasible, making mitigation of inflammation the primary target. Glycyrrhizin is known to have anti-inflammatory, antioxidant. and hepatocyte membrane-stabilizing properties.²⁰ Additionally, it exhibits antihypertransaminase effects by disrupting the release of transaminase enzymes into the bloodstream of patients with liver damage or inflammation, parenchymal namely, hepatocyte necrosis.²¹ SNMC® in Indonesia is available in the form of ampoules (20 ml) comprising 40 mg of glycyrrhizin, 400 mg of glycine, and 20 mg of L-cysteine (BPOM).

In case of dengue fever, SNMC® was administered at two ampoules (40 ml) for a total of eight consecutive days. This is in accordance with the recommended dosage displayed in the package insert, which suggests 40-60 ml but does not exceed 100 ml daily (BPOM). The observed advancement in liver function was similar to the significant enhancement in transaminase activity reported by Lin et al (2015) after administering 100 ml of SNMC® for five days in a case of acute exacerbation of hepatitis B.²²

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this study is that it demonstrated the effectiveness of SNMC® as an anti-inflammatory agent in liver involvement in dengue infection. A limitation of this study is that future large-scale studies are required.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, this case report shows the potential efficacy of glycyrrhizic acid

treatment, known as SNMC®, in managing dengue hepatitis. However, there is a need to conduct further extensive and well-designed research focusing on the use of SNMC® in dengue hepatitis.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this study is that it demonstrated the effectiveness of SNMC® as an anti-inflammatory agent in liver involvement in dengue infection. A limitation of this study is that future large-scale studies are required.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, this case report shows the potential efficacy of glycyrrhizic acid treatment, known as SNMC®, in managing dengue hepatitis. However, there is a need to conduct further extensive and well-designed research focusing on the use of SNMC® in dengue hepatitis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We are grateful to all medical workers and nurses in for their support and facilities.

FUNDING

No detailed grants were received from any funding agency in the commercial, public, or not-for-profit sectors.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Data curation, writing-review and editing, and validation: ISP. Data curation, supervision, and validation: PR.

REFERENCES

- Murugesan A, Manoharan M. Dengue virus. In: Emerging and Reemerging Viral Pathogens: Volume 1: Fundamental and Basic Virology Aspects of Human, Animal and Plant Pathogens. Elsevier; 2019. p. 281–359.
- World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia. Comprehensive guidelines for prevention and control of dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever. World Health Organization Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2011. 196 p.
- Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, et al. The global distribution and burden of dengue. Nature. 2013 Apr 25; 496(7446):504–7.
- 4. Tsheten T, Clements ACA, Gray Adhikary DJ. RK, Furuya-Kanamori L, Wangdi K. Clinical predictors of severe dengue: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Vol. 10. Infectious Diseases of Poverty. BioMed Central Ltd; 2021.
- Samanta J. Dengue and its effects on liver. World J Clin Cases. 2015; 3(2):125.
- Guabiraba R, Besnard AG, Marques RE, Maillet I, Fagundes CT, Conceição TM, et al. IL-22 modulates IL-17A production and controls inflammation and tissue damage in experimental dengue infection. Eur J Immunol. 2013 Jun; 43(6):1529–44.
- Thepparit C, Khakpoor A, Khongwichit S, Wikan N, Fongsaran C, Chingsuwanrote P, et al. Dengue 2 infection of HepG2 liver cells results in endoplasmic reticulum stress and induction of

multiple pathways of cell death. BMC Res Notes. 2013;6(1).

- Beltrán D, López-Vergès S. NK cells during dengue disease and their recognition of dengue virusinfected cells. Vol. 5, Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2014.
- 9. Girish C, Pradhan SC. Herbal Drugs on the Liver. In: Liver Pathophysiology: Therapies and Antioxidants. Elsevier; 2017. p. 605–20.
- Savès M, Raffi F, Clevenbergh P, Marchou B, Waldner-Combernoux A, Morlat P, et al. Hepatitis B or Hepatitis C Virus Infection Is a Risk Factor for Severe Hepatic Cytolysis after Initiation of a Protease Inhibitor-Containing Antiretroviral Regimen in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Patients. Vol. 44. 2000.
- Crance JM, Lévêque F, Biziagos E, Van Cuyck-Gandr6 H, Jouan A, Deloince R. Studies on mechanism of action of glycyrrhizin against hepatitis a virus replication in vitro. Antiviral Res. 1994; 23:63–76.
- 12. Jung JC, Lee YH, Kim SH, Kim KJ, Kim KM, Oh S, et al. Hepatoprotective effect of licorice, the root of Glycyrrhiza uralensis Fischer, in alcoholinduced fatty liver disease. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2016 Jan 22; 16(1).
- 13. Xie C, Li X, Wu J, Liang Z, Deng F, Xie W, et al. Anti-inflammatory Activity of Magnesium Isoglycyrrhizinate Through of Inhibition Phospholipase A2/Arachidonic Pathway. Acid Inflammation. 2015 Aug 21: 38(4):1639-48.
- 14. Ali M, Khan T, Fatima K, Ali Q ul A, Ovais M, Khalil AT, et al. Selected hepatoprotective herbal



medicines: Evidence from ethnomedicinal applications, animal models, and possible mechanism of actions. Vol. 32, Phytotherapy Research. John Wiley and Sons Ltd; 2018. p. 199–215.

- Seneviratne SL, Malavige GN, deSilva HJ. Pathogenesis of liver involvement during dengue viral infections. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2006; 100 (8): 608-614.
- 16. Tan SS, Bujang MA. The clinical features and outcomes of acute liver failure associated with dengue infection in adults: A case series. Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2013 Mar; 17(2):164–9.
- Ling LM, Wilder-Smith A, Leo YS. Fulminant hepatitis in dengue haemorrhagic fever. Journal of Clinical Virology. 2017 Mar; 38(3):265–8.
- Arunpriyandan V, Sundaresan KT. Fulminant Hepatic Failure in Dengue Fever Without Plasma Leakage: A Case Report. Cureus. 2022 Apr 9;
- 19. Paula Gomes Mourão M, Vinícius Guimarães de Lacerda M,

Albuquerque de, Duarte Alecrim W. Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever and Acute Hepatitis: A Case Report. The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases [Internet]. 2004; 8(6):461–4. Available from: www.bjid.com.br

- 20. Matsumoto Y, Matsuura T, Aoyagi H, Matsuda M, Hmwe SS, Date T, et al. Antiviral Activity of Glycyrrhizin against Hepatitis C Virus In Vitro. PLoS One. 2013 Jul 18; 8(7).
- 21. Hidaka I, Hino K, Korenaga M, Gondo T, Nishina S, Ando M, et al. Stronger Neo-Minophagen C^{TM} , a glycyrrhizin-containing preparation, protects liver against carbon tetrachloride-induced oxidative stress in transgenic mice expressing the hepatitis C virus polyprotein. Liver International. 2017 Aug; 27(6):845–53.
- 22. Lin CC, Wang PH. Intravenous glycyrrhizin improved serum transaminases rapidly in a chronic hepatitis B patient with acute exacerbation. Journal of the Formosan Medical Association. 2015 Feb 1; 114(2):188–9.



Available online at IJTID Website: https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Original Article

Relationship between Knowledge and Stigma with Attitude Towards People with Leprosy in Professional Nursing Students

Ishomatul Faizah^{1*}, Laily Hidayati², Ika Nur Pratiwi²

¹Faculty of Nursing, Universitas Airlangga, campus C Mulyorejo Surabaya, Indonesia
²Departementof Medical Surgical Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Universitas Airlangga, campus C Mulyorejo Surabaya, Indonesia

Received: 19th September 2022; Revised: 6th October 2022; Accepted: 19th October 2023

ABSTRACT

The bacteria *Mycobacterium leprae* is the source of the chronic infectious illness leprosy (*M. leprae*). In society, leprosy still carries a shame. The erroneous impression of leprosy gives birth to stigma. Leprosy is thought to be brought on by curses, witchcraft, divine retribution, sin, or genetics. A person's perception of leprosy and lack of understanding about it might have an impact on how they feel about those who have it. Even among health students, information alone will not be sufficient to end the stigma against those who have leprosy; also, students need to learn how to develop greater empathy for those who have the disease. This study sought to ascertain the association between leprosy knowledge and stigma and attitudes among nursing students at the professional level. In this study, a cross-sectional methodology is used with a descriptive correlational design. A total 320 professional nursing students participated in the survey. Total sampling was used to select respondents based on inclusion and exclusion criteria. Utilizing the SPSS version 21, data were gathered by questionnaire and analyzed using the Spearman's rho test at a significance level of 0.05. The Spearman's rho test results revealed a positive link between attitude and knowledge (p=0.001), but a negative relationship between attitude and stigma (p=0.000). It was determined that attitudes toward people with leprosy were significantly influenced by information, stigma, and those attitudes. The better the mindset, the more one knows about leprosy. Leprosy patients are treated better when there is less stigma associated with their condition.

Keywords: Leprosy, Knowledge, Stigma, Attitude, and Nursing Student.

Highlights: As a development of the Precede Proceed behavioral theory from Laurence Green (1980), the results of this study are expected to have a positive impact on developing the concept of nursing science regarding nursing care management.

How to Cite: Faizah, I., Hidayati, L., Pratiwi, I. N. Relationship Between Knowledge and Stigma with Attitude Towards People with Leprosy in Professional Nursing Students. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 50-57. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.39109

* Corresponding Author:

Ishomatul.faizah26@gmail.com



INTRODUCTION

Leprosy is a systemic disease and has a pre-examination of skin and nerves.¹ Leprosy is a chronic infectious disease caused by the obligate intracellular Mycobacterium *leprae* (*M. leprae*) which attacks the peripheral nerves of the skin as the first affinity, then the skin and oral mucosa, respiratory tract and spreads from the upper to other organs except the central part nervous system.² Leprosy is also a disease that is still a stigma in society. This stigma arises because of wrong perceptions of leprosy. Many people think that leprosy is a disease caused by curses, witchcraft, divine punishment, sin, food, or heredity.³ Even in the area of health students, education is not enough to suppress the stigma and negative attitudes toward lepers, so knowledge about how to increase empathy for lepers must be added⁴. According to research conducted by Raju and Kopparty in the National Leprosy Eradication Program (NLEP) in India, knowledge does not necessarily eliminate stigma and negative attitudes towards leper.⁵ This illustrates the low awareness and negative attitude toward leprosy.⁶ Indonesia is one of the countries with leprosy cases that are still stable due to the decrease in the number of cases. East Java is the largest contributor to leprosy cases in Indonesia. Also according to research conducted by Rufina⁷, the relationship between the level of knowledge and the stigma of Hansen's disease in USU Medical Faculty students is very low. And according to a study conducted by Da Silva and Paz⁴ entitled Nursing Care Experiences with Hansen's Disease Patients: Contributions from Hermeneutics, there is still stigma and discrimination against people with leprosy from health professionals.⁴

In 2017, the highest distribution of new cases of leprosy in Indonesia by province population of 100,000 occurred in East Java with 3.373 new cases.⁸ Based on data from east Java Health Office, until January 21st 2020 there were 2,668 new lepers found.

Meanwhile, 3.351 lepers were still in treatment; 255 of them infected children arrived at stage 2 or disabled and 194 children were at stage 1. A preliminary study conducted by the researcher on February 1st 2020, by interviewing nursing students at Airlangga University from 14 respondents selected randomly obtained data such as nursing professional students know what leprosy is and leprosy transmission. However, there is still a negative perception of lepers (stigma) and from the results of preliminary study it can be concluded that they will refuse to visit the house of lepers, besides refusing to buy food from a former leper and finally there is an opinion that they will stay away from the person affected by leprosy. From the statement, it has impact on lepers because nursing professional students as prospective health workers should be responsive and always care for patients as well as giving good attitudes toward the desires of patients who want to get treatment; however, it is feared that they will not provide optimal services.9

Knowledge is the result of human sensing or the result of knowing about an object through sensory organs such as eyes, nose, ears, etc.¹⁰ Meanwhile, stigma is a negative name for a person or group so that it is changes their self-concept and social identity.² The impact of stigma on the lives of leprosy clients occurs in four domains: emotions, thoughts, behavior and relationships.¹¹ Knowledge and stigma in nursing professional students at the professional stage have a role in determining how is their attitudes toward lepers. Meanwhile, attitudes are a readiness or willingness to act, and not an implementation of a particular motive. Attitudes are not an action (open reaction) or activity, but a predisposition to behavior (actions) or closed reaction.¹² In a study conducted on medical students at Saint James School of Medicine, Bonaire, Dutch Caribbean in 2015, it was found that knowledge of Hansen's disease among first, second, and third semester



students was higher than that of fourth semester students ¹³. This is thought to be due to the factors of forgetting what they have learned about the disease in the third semester.¹²

The researcher intends to do research on the professional stage of nursing students who are prospective health workers who will later face various patients including lepers and is also supported by the absence of research on professional students on the stigma and their attitudes toward leprosy sufferers.

In addition, it is a development of the theory of Precede Proceed by Laurence Green¹⁴ which states that human behavior is influenced by behavioral factors and factors outside of behavior applied in nursing as a service to individuals, families, and communities.¹⁴ The results of this study are expected to have a positive impact on developing the concept of nursing science about nursing care management. In the field of nursing itself, it is contained in the Indonesian Nursing Professional Standards, which is included in the area of caregiving and nursing care management in core competencies, as nurse graduates are able to compile nursing plans and take nursing actions according to the plan.¹⁵

From the introduction described above, researchers are interested in examining the relationship between knowledge and stigma with the attitudes of students at the nursing professional stage toward leprosy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This research design used a correlational design with a cross-sectional approach. The

cross-sectional approach is carried out by identifying and measuring only once at a time without any follow up.¹⁶

Population

The population of this study were nursing students who were in the professional stage at the national universities in East Java, such as Airlangga University, Brawijaya University, and Jember University. In this study, researchers used total sampling, a sampling technique where the number of samples is the same as the population.¹⁷ The number of samples in this research is 320 people.

Variables

This research variable measures the level of knowledge about leprosy, the stigma of leprosy sufferers and attitudes toward lepers.

Instruments

The instrument in this research for knowledge variables used knowledge questionnaire from Asmaradianty's research modified by the researcher,¹⁸ while stigma variables used the Explanatory Model Interview Catalogue (EMIC) stigma scale, and for attitude variables used the Social Distancing Scale (SDS).^{19,20} In measuring attitudes, SDS was chosen because it measures the level of social distance; a high score indicates a person's high tendency to maintain social distance from sufferers.²¹

Statistical Analysis

This research used Spearman's rho test analysis with significance level $\alpha = 0.05$ in SPSS software version 21.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results



Respondent Demographic Characteristics	Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	
Sex	Male	53	16.6	
	Female	267	83.4	
	Total	320	100	
Location	Airlangga	111	34.7	
	Brawijaya	61	19	
	Jember	148	46.3	
	Total	320	100	
Age	22 years	23	7.19	
-	23 years	236	73.75	
	24 years	61	19.06	
	Total	320	100	

Table 1. Distribution of Demographic Characteristics of Respondents, The Relationship Between Knowledge and Stigma and Attitudes Toward Leprosy among Nursing Students at The Professional stage.

Table 1 is a distribution of demographic characteristics of respondents. It shows that from a total of 320 respondents spread from three national universities in East Java, almost all respondents have female

gender (267 people or 83.4%) and almost half of the respondents came from the University of Jember (148 people or 46.3%). In addition, almost all respondents were 22 years old (236 people or 73.75%).

Table 2.	The Relationship	Between Stigma	and Attitude	Toward	Lepers in	Nursing	Students	at The
Professional Stage.								

		Att	itude		Т	tal	P-		
Stigma	Negative		Positive		Total		Value	r	
	f	%	f	%	Σ	%			
Low	6	4.9	117	95.1	123	100	0.000	0.286	
Medium	29	18.1	131	81.9	160	100	0.000	-0.280	
High	15	40.5	22	59.5	37	100			

Table 2 shows the relationship between stigma and attitude toward lepers in nursing students at the professional stage. The results of the analysis of the relationship between stigma and attitude show that the stigma level of nursing students in the professional stage toward leprosy show that the majority of respondents (160) have a moderate stigma level and the attitude of nursing students in the professional stage toward leprosy show that most respondents (270) have a good attitude level. Almost half of the respondents (131, 81.9%) have a moderate stigma against lepers with a positive attitude. The results of further statistical tests obtained the value of p = 0.000 (p < 0.05), it can be concluded that H1

is accepted, so that there is a relationship between stigma and attitudes toward lepers among nursing students at the professional stage.

Discussion

The results of statistical tests using Spearman's rho show that there is a significant relationship with the level of correlation being at a very weak level between knowledge and attitude. In addition, the correlation coefficient shows that the correlation coefficient is positive, which means that the higher the knowledge, the better the attitude shown by the professional stage nursing students toward lepers.



Knowledge is an important factor in determining attitudes toward lepers. The results of this study indicate that the majority of respondents (259 respondents) have high knowledge and the majority of respondents (270 respondents) have a good attitude, which can be seen from the aspect of trust toward lepers. This is the same as research conducted by Britton²² which states that nurses are equipped with knowledge while still in education and believe that a person will not easily contract leprosy if they have treated lepers well.²² It is also corresponds with the theory that someone's knowledge will adopt a new behavior.¹⁰

The results of the respondents' answers distribution analysis on to the knowledge variable showed that the mode of respondents with most number of correct answers was on the disability aspect of leprosy and the most number of answers was wrong on the aspect of leprosy transmission. This is slightly different from Sharma's²³ research in India to second, third, and fourth year medical students with the highest scores being those who answered correctly about the causes of leprosy, while the lowest scores were those who answered correctly about the pathology of leprosy.²³ The respondents answers distribution analysis to the attitude variable showed that the mode of the respondents was mostly willing to answer the emotional aspects of life, such as showing an attitude of not objecting to being neighbors with people with leprosy.

According to this result, it can be said that the high level of knowledge possessed can make someone behave well. Education is a process of changing a person's behavior and attitudes. Besides that, one of the factors that influence human behavior is the knowledge factor itself. It was found that the high knowledge possessed can encourage someone to have good behavior. The results of statistical tests using Spearman's rho show that there is a significant relationship with the level of correlation being at a weak level between stigma and attitude. In addition, the correlation coefficient shows that the correlation coefficient is negative or inverse, which means that the lower the level of stigma, the better the attitude shown by professional nursing students toward lepers. It is the same with the theory that stigma is formed from stereotypes or beliefs in something. Stereotypes are beliefs about certain groups. Stereotypes can be positive or negative and stereotypes in lepers are they are disgusted by the clinical seen as manifestations seen from the type of leprosy they have and the disability that has been experienced. Thus, the stigma about leprosy that is owned can affect the attitude toward lepers.

The results of this research indicate the majority of respondents (160 respondents) gave medium stigma. One of the causes of stigma is belief about the cause of stigma where trust itself is a component of attitude. A stigma example of leprosy patients is that they are seen as disgusted because of the clinical manifestations that appear from the type of leprosy suffered and the disability experienced. Stigma can encourage prejudice against a person or group of people.

It is slightly different from the research conducted by Singh²⁴ in the community in Nepal; according to the results of the study, the majority of the respondents (44%) have a high stigma about lepers, supported by myths and misconceptions that exist in the community about leprosy.²⁴ The results of this research show that the majority of respondents (270 respondents) have good attitude toward lepers. This contrasts with other case studies of chronic diseases such as HIV/AIDS; people with HIV/AIDS report receiving bad care by health workers. Patients with chronic diseases who are stigmatized as bad also report that health workers feel frustrated with them, complain, and treat them differently or unfairly.²⁵

The results of the respondents' answers distribution analysis to the stigma variable



found that the most respondents' mode of answering was probably located in the prejudice aspect, while the mode that had the least answer was yes, which was located in the stereotype aspect. This is the same as research conducted by Kaehler²⁶ on people in Thailand which showed that 49.8% said they would not buy food from lepers because of the fear of contracting leprosy and also negative perceptions about leprosy. In addition, the difficulty of lepers in finding work is also supported by research conducted on leprosy sufferers in Nolombo where leprosy sufferers are required to leave work because of their illness.²⁶

In addition, some of the factors that influence attitude of leprosy patients in terms of the quality of management leprosy are: the high social stigma of leprosy in the community and among health workers, which hinders case finding and management of leprosy; the community does not know the early symptoms of leprosy; most leprosy control program holders are not doctors; comprehensive management of leprosy (including prevention of disability) is not optimal; leprosy clinically resembles many other skin diseases, so supporting examinations are needed. While supporting examination facilities for diagnosis are not yet available in all healthcare facilities, the leprosy journey is very long so that reactions that arise after treatment are not monitored.²⁷

It can be said that the level of owned stigma can make a person behave well. Owned stigma can change a person's behavior and attitudes. In addition, one of the causes of stigma is belief about the causes of stigma, where belief itself is a component of attitude. According to this statement, it was found that the level of stigma possessed could encourage a person's good behavior.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this study was that it is known that the level of stigma possessed can make a person behave well. The stigma possessed can change a person's behavior and attitude. In addition, one of the causes of stigma is a belief about the cause of stigma, where the belief itself is a component of attitude. It has been found that the level of stigma possessed can encourage a person's good behavior. The limitation of this study was the Covid-19 virus pandemic which caused all research processes to be carried out online.

CONCLUSIONS

According to the results and discussions of this research, it can be concluded:

- 1. Knowledge of leprosy has a relationship with attitudes toward lepers. Knowledge of leprosy has a positive relationship with attitudes toward lepers and the two variables have a very weak relationship.
- 2. The stigma of leprosy has a significant relationship with attitudes toward lepers. The stigma about lepers has negative relationship with the attitudes toward lepers and the two variables have a weak relationship.
- 3. In this research, it was found that the high knowledge of leprosy which is obtained by nursing students at the professional stage during education can deal with the stigma and bad attitudes of nursing students at the professional stage of leprosy.

ETHICAL CLEARANCE

This research has passed the ethical approval of the Health Research Ethics Commission of the Faculty of Nursing, Airlangga University with ethics certificate number 1994-KEPK.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We thank the professional nursing students of Airlangga University, Brawijaya University, Jember University for their participation in the study.



FUNDING

This study did not receive funding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

There are no conflicts of interest between authors in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Ishomatul Faizah: Study design, methodology, software, data collection, writing of the original manuscript. Laily Hidayati, Ika Nur Pratiwi: Study design, methodology. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Amiruddin MD. Penyakit kusta: Sebuah pendekatan klinis. Firstbox Media; 2019.
- 2. Ridwan M. Analisis Faktor Yang Berhubungan Dengan Timbulnya Stigma Kusta Pada Masyarakat Berdasarkan Teori Transcultural Puskesmas Nursing Di Burneh Kabupaten Bangkalan. Universitas Airlangga; 2017.
- 3. Van Brakel W. Stigma in leprosy: concepts, causes and determinants. Lepr Rev. 2014;85:36–47.
- 4. Da Silva MCD, Paz EPA. Nursing care experiences with Hansen's disease patients: Contributions from hermeneutics. ACTA Paul Enferm [Internet]. 2017;30(4):435–41. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/recor d.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85033697274&doi=10.1590%2F1982

0194201700064&partnerID=40&md5 =e640204f8c5d355821b0569641ee8b 83

5. Gopalakrishnan S, Grace GA, Sujitha

P, Eashwar VMA. Knowledge, attitude, and health seeking behavior on leprosy among urban adults in Kancheepuram district of Tamil Nadu: A Community-based cross-sectional study. J Fam Med Prim Care. 2021;10(5):1895.

- Grewal I, Negi Y, Kishore J, Adhish S
 V. Knowledge and attitude about Leprosy in Delhi in post elimination phase. Indian J Lepr. 2013;85:123–7.
- 7. Rufina A. Hubungan Antara Tingkat Pengetahuan dengan Stigma Terhadap Hansen's Disease pada Mahasiswa FK USU. 2018;
- 8. Kemenkes RI. infoDatin-kusta-2018. 2018.
- 9. Aulia PW 2019. Stigma Terhadap Penderita Kusta. 2019.
- 10. Laili Hubungan Akses Afnur. Pelayanan Kesehatan, Dukungan Keluarga Dan Pengetahuan Penderita Dengan Diri Kusta Perawatan Penderita Kusta (Studi di Puskesmas Grati Kabupaten Pasuruan Tahun 2016). Universitas Airlangga; 2017.
- 11. Lusli M, Zweekhorst M, Miranda-Galarza B, Peters RMH, Cummings S, Seda FSSE, et al. Dealing with stigma: experiences of persons affected by disabilities and leprosy. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015.
- Yuda AA. Hubungan Karakteristik, Pengetahuan, Sikap Dan Tindakan Penderita Tuberkulosis Paru Dengan Kepatuhan Minum Obat Di Puskesmas Tanah Kalikedinding. Universitas Airlangga; 2019.
- Multinovic M, Dusic A, Gugnani HC, Heckburn R, Marcelin D. Awareness of Leprosy in Students of Basic Sciences in Saint James School of Medicine, Bonaire (Dutch Caribbean). Indian J Commun Dis. 2015;1(1).
- Green LW, Kreuter M, Deeds SG, Partridge KB. Health education planning: A diagnostic approach. In:



Health education planning: a diagnostic approach. 1980. p. 306.

- 15. PPNI, AIPNI Aipd. Standar Kompetensi Perawat Indonesia Edisi IV. 2013;
- Nursalam. Metode Penelitian Ilmu Keperawatan, Pendekatan Praktis. Edisi 4. Lestasi PP, editor. Jakarta: Salemba Medika; 2017. 454 p.
- Kurniasari CI. Pengaruh Gabungan Sugesti dan Musik Instrumentalia Terhadap Peningkatan Kualitas Tidur Pada Lansia di Griya Lansia Santo Yosef Surabaya. Universitas Airlangga; 2015.
- Asmaradianti A. Correlation Of Knowledge With Attitude And Stigma Towards Leprosy Among Medical Students And Non Medical Students In Universitas Airlangga. Universitas Airlangga; 2018.
- Morgado FF da R, Silveira EMKX da, Sales AM, Nascimento LPR do, Sarno EN, Nery JA da C, et al. Cross-cultural adaptation of the EMIC Stigma Scale for people with leprosy in Brazil. Rev Saude Publica. 2017;51:80.
- Peters RMH, Dadun WH, Zweekhorst MBM, Damayanti R, Bunders JFG. The cultural validation of two scales to assess social stigma in leprosy. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2014;8(11).
- 21. NWOKEJI SC. Assessment of stigma among people living with Hansen's disease in south-east Nigeria. Lepr Rev. 2017;88:43–57.
- 22. Bergman L, Britton A. Nurse's experiences of leprosy related stigma in Ghana. 2014.
- 23. Sharma A, Garima G, Sharma N, Sharma S, Singh N, Vohra P, et al.

Comparative study of knowledge and awareness about leprosy among medical college students pre and post state leprosy sensitisation program in mewat, haryana, india. J Clin Diagnostic Res [Internet]. 2018;12(8):BC29–32. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/recor d.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85051144512&doi=10.7860%2FJCD R%2F2018%2F33981.11958&partner ID=40&md5=8aaac8a4c2b7acaab7dd c646a9a3cad4

- 24. Singh R, Singh B, Mahato S. Community knowledge, attitude, and perceived stigma of leprosy amongst members community living in Dhanusha and Parsa districts of Southern Central Nepal. PLoS Negl Trop Dis [Internet]. 2019;13(1). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/recor d.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85059879350&doi=10.1371%2Fjourn al.pntd.0007075&partnerID=40&md5 =265ab570fd25d487f9b89b6c2074e8 c3
- 25. Earnshaw VA, Quinn DM. The impact of stigma in healthcare on people living with chronic illnesses. J Health Psychol. 2012;17(2):157–68.
- 26. Kaehler N, Adhikar B, Raut S, Marahatta SB, Chapman RS. Perceived stigma towards leprosy among community members living close to Nonsomboon leprosy Colony in Thailand. PLoS One. 2015;10(6):e0129086.
- 27. Menaldi SLSW. Pedoman Nasional Pelayanan Kedokteran Tata Laksana Kusta. 2019;



Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Review Article

Re-Emergence of Ampicillin Sensitive Salmonella Typhi and the Increase of Ciprofloxacin Resistance in Typhoid Fever Treatment in Asia: A Systematic Review

Felicity Tanjaya¹, Johan Nathan², Ita M. Nainggola^{3,4}, Lucky H. Moehario^{2*}, Anita Devi Krishnan Thantry⁵, Andi Miyanza R.

L. Tunru¹, Sherlyn Sean¹

¹School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universitas Katolik Indonesia Atma Jaya, Jakarta, Indonesia
 ²Department of Microbiology, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universitas Katolik Indonesia Atma Jaya, Jakarta, Indonesia
 ³Department of Clinical Pathology, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universitas Katolik Indonesia Atma Jaya, Jakarta, Indonesia
 ⁴Eijkman Research Center for Molecular Biology, The National Research and Innovation Agency, Kabupaten Bogor, Jawa Barat, Indonesia
 ⁵Department of Microbiology, Manipal University College Malaysia, Batu Hampar, Bukit Baru, 75150 Melaka, Malaysia

Received: January 8th 2023; Revised: January 24th 2023; Accepted: July 4th 2023

ABSTRACT

Typhoid fever is a disease caused by *Salmonella* Typhi infection. In 2000, 2.16 million people were affected worldwide, with more than 90% morbidity and mortality in Asia. Ampicillin is the first-line antibiotic used for typhoid management. However, the rise in resistance to first-line antibiotics has shifted ciprofloxacin as an alternative. This study aimed to describe the trends in ciprofloxacin- and ampicillin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi in Asia. This study was a systematic review that conformed to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses criteria. Search was indicated toward studies on *Salmonella* Typhi susceptibility toward ciprofloxacin and ampicillin were identified using PubMed, Cochrane Library, and ProQuest. Of the 1542 studies found, only 16 fulfilled the criteria. In 1996, *Salmonella* Typhi was not found to be resistant to ciprofloxacin, whereas 3.5% was resistant to ampicillin. In 2005, ciprofloxacin resistance increased to 19.3%, whereas ampicillin resistance increased from 27.5% to 85.2%. This the high ampicillin resistance in South and East Asia. In Asia, there was an increase in ciprofloxacin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi from 1996 to 2019, whereas ampicillin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi decreased from 1996 to 2015. Between 2016 and 2019, contrasting evidence was found in East Asia and South Asia, where resistance toward ampicillin increased.

Keywords: Salmonella Typhi, Ciprofloxacin, Ampicillin, Susceptibility, and Resistance.

Highlights: In Asia, there was an increase in ciprofloxacin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi, while a corresponding decrease was observed in ampicillin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi.

How to Cite: Tanjaya, F., Nathan, J., Nainggolan, I. M., Moehario, L. H., Thantry, A. D. K., Tunru, A. M. R. L., Sean, S. Re-Emergence of Ampicillin Sensitive *Salmonella* Typhi and the Increase of Ciprofloxacin Resistance in Typhoid Fever Treatment: A Systematic Review. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 58–66. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.42305



^{*} Corresponding Author: lucky.moehario@atmajaya.ac.id

Typhoid fever is a serious disease that can threaten life. It is caused by Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi (Salmonella Typhi).¹⁻ ³ There were 2.16 million typhoid cases in the world in 2000, where 90% of its morbidity and mortality occurred in Asia. According to the WHO, five countries in Asia, China, India, Indonesia, Pakistan, and Vietnam, are typhoid fever. endemic countries for incidence However. South Asia is significantly higher than Southeast and Northeast Asia.4

First-line antibiotics consist of ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (cotrimoxazole).^{5,6} On the other hand, the inappropriate uses of antibiotics caused an increased number of multi drug resistant (MDR) and extensively drug resistant (XDR) Salmonella Typhi. MDR is defined as S. Typhi is resistant to that first-line antibiotics^{7,8} while, XDR is defined as Salmonella Typhi that is resistant to fluoroquinolone, third-generation cephalosporin, in addition to first line antibiotics.9

Ampicillin is one of the first-line antibiotics against typhoid fever that is often used due to several factors, such as easy access, relatively cheap price, and fewer side effects.¹⁰ Although chloramphenicol reduces fever more quickly, it has notable side effects such as suppression of bone marrow that can lead to bone marrow aplasia and death.^{11,12} Therefore, ampicillin is preferred over chloramphenicol.¹³

Chloramphenicol was used as firstline antibiotic against typhoid since 1948; however, increasing resistance and side effects gave rise to increased ampicillin and co-trimoxazole use.¹⁴ Improper use of firstline antibiotics led to the emergence of MDR in the 1960s.⁹ Fluoroquinolone was then used as alternative due to the emergence of resistance toward first-line antibiotics.¹⁵ The universal use of fluoroquinolone caused emergence of resistant strains.¹⁶ A study conducted in Cambodia in 2008-2015 reported that, over time, there was a decrease of ciprofloxacin susceptibility from 100% to 93.1% and a decrease in the number of MDR from 62.9% to 17.2%.¹⁷ Another study conducted in India, reported a decrease in ampicillin resistance from 53% to 23% in the of time after course the use of fluoroquinolone, cephalosporin, and azithromycin.¹⁸ This fluctuating trend of Salmonella Typhi antibiotic resistance, in addition to the high morbidity and mortality of typhoid fever in Asia, encourages the need to evaluate further the overall trends of ciprofloxacin resistance and sensitivity to ampicillin in Asia. This study aimed to describe the ciprofloxacin and ampicillin resistant Salmonella Typhi in Asia.

METHODS

Eligibility Criteria

This study was a systematic review that was made based on PRISMA criteria. This review used data from studies that have been published from 1991-2021 regarding susceptibility Salmonella Typhi to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin in Asia. The exclusion criteria were studies designed as case report, review, or systematic review, study with only title or abstract as well as the following: used language other than Indonesian or English, could not be accessed, did not show data of interest, did not specify Salmonella as Salmonella Typhi, used methods other than disk diffusion for antibiotic susceptibility test, and did not identify year or location.

Literature Searching

Literature search was done in May 2022 on PubMed, Cochrane, and ProQuest with keywords: "Salmonella typhi OR Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi OR salmonella typhosa AND ciprofloxacin OR ciprofloxacin hydrochloride OR Ciprofloxacin Hydrochloride Anhydrous AND ampicillin resistance OR Ampicillin Resistances OR Resistance, Ampicillin OR Resistances, Ampicillin". The search was set to obtain studies from 1991-2021.

Study Selection and Data Extraction

Search results from each database were collected with Zotero to remove duplicates. Next, title and abstract were screened based on inclusion and exclusion criteria defined. The data from studies included that were extracted are : first author, publication year, experiment year, study area, numbers of sample tested, specimen type, numbers of resistant isolates per year, antibacterial resistance testing method, and interpretation criteria.

The main outcomes in this review, which are the number of resistant isolates and total isolates per year tested with the disk diffusion method, were combined, and converted into percentages. These percentages were then made into bar charts grouped for each geographical region (Asia, South Asia, South-East Asia, and East Asia).

Risk of Bias Assessment

All selected studies were assessed for risk of bias using "Critical Appraisal Tools for Use in Joanna Briggs Institute Systematic Reviews for quasi-experimental studies." Study was included if they fulfilled more than 50% of the criteria.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Search Results and Study Characteristics

Out of 1542 studies that were collected from the databases, 72 were excluded for duplicates. A total of 1470 studies were screened by reading the title and abstract. Further screening was carried out resulting in 208 full-text articles. As many as 78 studies could not be assessed, 73 studies did not show data of interest, 23 studies did not specify Salmonella as Salmonella Typhi, 12 used methods other than disk diffusion for antibiotic susceptibility test, and six studies which showed unidentified year or location were excluded (Figure 1). All these screenings and selections resulted in 16 studies included and assessed for their quality using JBI. JBI consisted of nine criteria, assessing if the study: 1) showed clearly the cause and effect from the study; 2) similar participants included in any comparisons; 3) participants included in any comparisons received similar treatment or care; 4) studies had a control group; 5) there were multiple measurements of the outcome both pre and post the exposure; 6) the follow up was complete; 7) outcomes of participants included in any comparisons were measured in the same way; 8) outcomes were measured in a reliable way; 9) and appropriate statistical analysis were used. These criteria were answered with yes, no, unclear, or not applicable (Table 1). More than 50% of all questions were answered with "yes" in all the studies, resulted in 16 studies for further analysis.

The studies included were published from 1998-2020 and covered several Asian countries, six from India^{19–24}, three from Nepal^{25–27}, two from Bangladesh^{28,29}, two from Pakistan^{30,31}, two from Indonesia^{32,33}, and one from Iraq³⁴. Specimens tested consisted of 7162 blood and 56 feces samples. Susceptibility testing methods used were Kirby Bauer or disk diffusion. All our studies used Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) or National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards (NCCLS) as the interpretation criteria.







 Table 1. Quality Assessment for Risk of Bias

 using JBI Criteria.

No	Study	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Conclusio
											n
1	Khadka et al. ²⁵	1	1	1	1	1	✓	✓	✓	✓	Included
2	Ali et al. ²⁸	~	1	1	X	1	1	✓	✓	?	Included
3	Alam et al. ¹⁹	~	1	1	?	1	1	1	1	?	Included
4	Shah et al. ³⁰	1	1	1	?	1	1	1	1	1	Included
5	Ahmed et al. ²⁹	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	~	Included
6	Lugito et al. ³²	~	1	1	?	1	1	1	1	1	Included
7	Khanal et al. ²⁶	~	1	1	?	1	1	1	✓	1	Included
8	Mohanty et al. ²⁰	~	1	1	1	✓	✓	✓	✓	?	Included
9	Kumar et al. ²¹	~	~	~	~	<	~	<	~	~	Included
10	Saeed at al. ³¹	~	1	1	?	1	1	1	1	?	Included
11	Khanal et al. ²⁷	~	1	X	?	✓	✓	✓	✓	?	Included
12	Sharvani et al. ²²	~	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	?	Included
13	Dutta et al. ²³	~	1	1	1	✓	1	✓	✓	?	Included
14	Kumar et al. ²⁴	~	1	1	?	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	✓	✓	Included
15	Al-Mayahi et al. ³⁴	~	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	?	Included
16	Amdani et al. ³³	1	1	~	?	~	~	~	~	?	Included

✓=question answered with "Yes", ★= question answered with "No", ? = question answered with "Unclear"

Trend of S. Typhi Resistance to Ciprofloxacin and Ampicillin

There were 16 studies that reported *Salmonella* Typhi resistance to ciprofloxacin and 13 studies to ampicillin using disk diffusion.

Percentage of ciprofloxacin resistance varied from 0%-95%, while ampicillin ranged from 0 to 100%. In this review, there was a study by Ahmed et al.²⁹ which showed the ciprofloxacin susceptibility data as sensitive, intermediate, and resistant isolates. Intermediate susceptible *Salmonella* Typhi were classified as resistant isolates.



Figure 2. Percentage of *Salmonella* Typhi Isolates Rsistant to Ciprofloxacin and Ampicillin in Asia from 1996 to 2019.

Figure 2 represents the percentage of *Salmonella* Typhi isolates resistant to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin in each year that were tested with disk diffusion method.

Number of resistant *Salmonella* Typhi isolates reported from 1996-2019 were combined (Figure 2). These data were extracted from India, Nepal, Bangladesh, Pakistan, Iraq, and Indonesia. However, there was no data found that reported results from the year 1997, 1998, and 2017.

In a five year period from 1996 until 2001, there was no ciprofloxacin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi found. However, there were 3.5%, 30.9%, 40.7%, and 55.5% *Salmonella* Typhi resistant to ampicillin. The number of *Salmonella* Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin contrasted with ampicillin that increased in those years.

In 2002 to 2003, *Salmonella* Typhi remained relatively sensitive to ciprofloxacin, while highly resistant toward ampicillin. Studies from South Asia in 2004-2005 reported a huge turning point where *Salmonella* Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin increased from 0.8% to 19.3%, while ampicillin decreased from 54.9% to 13.3%. In the year 2005 until 2014, the number of



Salmonella Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin always remained higher than the one resistant to ampicillin. Resistance toward ciprofloxacin varied from 13.4% to 27.8% while ampicillin ranged from 4.8% to 13.3%. Salmonella Typhi resistant to ampicillin reached 4.8% in 2012, whereas Salmonella Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin increased reaching 27.8% in 2013.

In 2015, a report by Lugito et al.³² found that no *Salmonella* Typhi was resistant to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin in Indonesia. Furthermore, other studies from 2016 to 2019 reported percentage of *Salmonella* Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin increased simultaneously; however, it must be noted that, in 2016 and 2019, only one study in each year reported the resistant isolates.



Figure 3. Percentage of *Salmonella* Typhi isolates that are resistant to Ciprofloxacin and Ampicillin in South Asia from 1999 to 2019.

The resistance trend to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin of Salmonella Typhi in South Asia countries included from India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, and Nepal is shown in Figure 3. From 1999 until 2004, Salmonella Typhi appeared to be relatively susceptible toward ciprofloxacin, while resistance toward ampicillin was quite high ranging from 28.2% to 55.5%. The breaking point was seen in 2005, where the percentage of Salmonella Typhi that was resistant to ciprofloxacin increased while ampicillin decreased. The percentage of Salmonella Typhi isolates resistant to ciprofloxacin continued to exceed isolates resistant to ampicillin until 2019. From 2005 until 2013, Salmonella Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin remained high, on the other hand, resistance to ampicillin gradually decreased. In 2014, the percentage Typhi Salmonella resistant of to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin were relatively similar, with resistance toward ciprofloxacin slightly higher than ampicillin. In 2016, Salmonella Typhi resistant to ampicillin fell to 2.7%. From 2018 until 2019, there was a ampicillin-resistant further increase in isolates with both year results reported by Shah et al.³⁰ and Saeed et al.³¹ from Pakistan. This showed that Pakistan had a high percentage of Salmonella Typhi resistant to ampicillin in 2018 and 2019.



Figure 4. Percentage of *Salmonella* Typhi Isolates that Are Resistant to Ciprofloxacin and Ampicillin in Southeast Asia from 1996-2015.

Salmonella Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin in South-East Asia is shown in Figure 4. Since 1996, it showed that Salmonella Typhi was resistant to ampicillin while there was no isolate that is resistant to ciprofloxacin until 2012. Percentage of Salmonella Typhi resistant to ciprofloxacin seemed to be low. This study aligns with studies from Moehario et al.35 which reported there was no Salmonella Typhi isolates that were resistant to ciprofloxacin in 2002-2010, which showed low ciprofloxacin resistance in Indonesia. Percentage of Salmonella Typhi that was resistant to ampicillin increased from 1996 to 2011 and decreased each year reaching 0% in



2014 and 2015. A study from Thailand conducted by Techasaensiri et al.³⁶ reported similar results from 1998 through 2007, *Salmonella* Typhi and *Salmonella* Paratyphi resistant to ampicillin remained below 40% and decreased as of 2007.



Figure 5. Percentage of *Salmonella* Typhi isolates resistant to Ciprofloxacin and Ampicillin in East Asia.

Figure 5 represents *Salmonella* Typhi isolates resistant to ciprofloxacin and ampicillin that were tested with disk diffusion method and obtained from studies originating from Iraq.

The resistance trend in East Asia only consists of one study from Iraq (Figure 5). This study reported a high level of Salmonella Typhi resistance in 2018, which was 53.6% resistant to ciprofloxacin and 100% resistant to ampicillin. This showed similar with results found in Nepal and Pakistan in 2018. Khadka et al.²⁵ reported Salmonella Typhi resistant to 43.5% ciprofloxacin in Nepal. Saeed et al.³¹ reported 90.2% reported 90.2% isolates resistant to ciprofloxacin and 74.4% resistant to ciprofloxacin in Pakistan.

Despite all data that have been analyzed, this study still could not represent the whole of Asia, since the studies collected thus far originated from India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Nepal are South Asia countries, Iraq an East Asia country, and Indonesia a Southeast Asia country, furthermore, limited number of samples were tested in several included studies, and fewer studies found *Salmonella* Typhi resistant to ampicillin more reported amoxicillin instead.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this study was using PRISMA method as the foundation for doing this study. Critical appraisal was also done for all the studies included. On the other hand, the limitation of this study was we could not include some of the studies which were not in English or Indonesian language.

CONCLUSION

In Asia, there was an increase in ciprofloxacin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi from 1996 until 2019, while, on the contrary, ampicillin-resistant *Salmonella* Typhi decreased from 1996 until 2015. In 2016 until 2019, contrasting evidence was found in East Asia and South Asia where resistance toward ampicillin rose.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors would like to thank our colleagues from the Atma Jaya Catholic University of Indonesia, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, for their support.

FUNDING

This study did not receive funding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Writer, literature searcher, collecting data from literature: FT. Conceptor and supervision: LHM and IMN. Review and supervision: JN, AMRLT and SS.

REFERENCES

1. Home | Typhoid Fever | CDC [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Dec 27]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/typhoid-fever/index.html.

- Typhoid fever Symptoms and causes [Internet]. Mayo Clinic. [cited 2022 Dec 27]. Available from: https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseasesconditions/typhoid-fever/symptomscauses/syc-20378661.
- Typhoid fever [Internet]. nhs.uk. 2018 [cited 2022 Dec 27]. Available from: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/typhoidfever/.
- Acosta CJ, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Baiqing D, Bhattacharya SK, Agtini MD, Bhutta ZA, et al. A study of typhoid fever in five Asian countries: disease burden and implications for controls. World Health Organization Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2008 Apr; 86(4):260–8.
- Kalra S, Naithani N, Mehta S, Swamy A. Current Trends in the Management of Typhoid Fever. Med J Armed Forces India. 2003 Apr; 59(2):130–5.
- 6. Typhoid Treatment [Internet]. Take on Typhoid. [cited 2022 Dec 27]. Available from:

https://www.coalitionagainsttyphoid.org /the-issues/typhoid-treatment/.

- Mutai WC, Muigai AWT, Waiyaki P, Kariuki S. Multi-drug resistant Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi isolates with reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin in Kenya. BMC Microbiol. 2018 Nov 14; 18:187.
- 8. Drug-Resistant Typhoid [Internet]. Take on Typhoid. [cited 2022 Dec 27]. Available from: https://www.coalitionagainsttyphoid.org /the-issues/drug-resistant-typhoid/.
- Dyson ZA, Klemm EJ, Palmer S, Dougan G. Antibiotic Resistance and Typhoid. Clin Infect Dis. 2019 Mar 15; 68(Suppl 2):S165–70.
- Ajum HA. Evaluasi Kerasionalan Penggunaan Antibiotik pada Pasien Anak dengan Demam Tifoid

Berdasarkan Kriteria Gyssens di Instalasi Rawat Inap RSUD Panembahan Senopati Bantul Yogyakarta Periode Januari-December 2013. 2015 [cited 2021 Nov 19]; Available from: https://repository.usd.ac.id/42/2/118114 171_full.pdf.

- Wiest DB, Cochran JB, Tecklenburg FW. Chloramphenicol Toxicity Revisited: A 12-Year-Old Patient With a Brain Abscess. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. 2012; 17(2):182–8.
- 12. Chloramphenicol Side Effects: Common, Severe, Long Term -Drugs.com [Internet]. [cited 2022 Dec 27]. Available from: https://www.drugs.com/sfx/chloramphe nicol-side-effects.html.
- 13. Chloramphenicol an overview | ScienceDirect Topics [Internet]. [cited 2021 Nov 19]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/ag ricultural-and-biologicalsciences/chloramphenicol.
- 14. Choudhary A, Gopalakrishnan R, Senthur NP, Ramasubramanian V, Ghafur KA, Thirunarayan MA. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Salmonella enterica serovars in a tertiary care hospital in southern India. Indian J Med Res. 2013 Apr; 137(4):800-2.
- 15. Chatham-Stephens K. Emergence of Extensively Drug-Resistant Salmonella Typhi Infections Among Travelers to or from Pakistan — United States, 2016–2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Dec 27];68. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/68 /wr/mm6801a3.htm.
- 16. Veeraraghavan B, Pragasam AK, Bakthavatchalam YD, Ralph R. Typhoid fever: issues in laboratory detection, treatment options & concerns in management in developing countries. Future Sci OA. 2018 Jul;4(6):FSO312.



- 17. Kuijpers LMF, Phe T, Veng CH, Lim K, Ieng S, Kham C, et al. The clinical and microbiological characteristics of enteric fever in Cambodia, 2008-2015. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2017 Sep;11(9):e0005964.
- Swami OC. Ampicillin: Rise Fall & Resurgence. JCDR [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2021 Nov 19]; Available from: http://jcdr.net/article_fulltext.asp?issn=0 973-709x&year=2014&volume=8&issue=5 &page=ME01&issn=0973-

709x&id=4356.

- 19. Alam M, Pillai P, Kapur P, Pillai K. Resistant patterns of bacteria isolated from bloodstream infections at a university hospital in Delhi. J Pharma Bioallied Sci. 2011 Oct; 3(4):525–30.
- Mohanty S, Renuka K, Sood S, Das BK, Kapil A. Antibiogram pattern and seasonality of Salmonella serotypes in a North Indian tertiary care hospital. Epidemiology & Infection. 2006 Oct;134(5):961–6.
- 21. Kumar Y, Sharma A, Mani KR. Antibiogram Profile of Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi in India - A Two Year Study. Trop Life Sci Res.
- Sharvani R, Hemavathi null, Dayanand DK, Shenoy P, Sarmah P. Antibiogram of Salmonella Isolates: Time to Consider Antibiotic Salvage. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016 May;10(5):DC06-08.
- 23. Dutta S, Das S, Mitra U, Jain P, Roy I, Ganguly SS, et al. Antimicrobial Virulence Profiles Resistance, and Molecular Subtypes of Salmonella enterica Serovars Typhi and Paratyphi A Blood Isolates from Kolkata, India during 2009-2013. Mantis NJ, editor. PLoS ONE. 2014 Aug 6; 9(8):e101347.
- 24. Kumar S, Rizvi M, Berry N. Rising prevalence of enteric fever due to multidrug-resistant Salmonella: an epidemiological study. J Med Microbiol. 2008 Oct; 57(Pt 10):1247–50.

- 25. Khadka S, Shrestha B, Pokhrel A, Khadka S, Joshi RD, Banjara MR. Antimicrobial Resistance in Salmonella Typhi Isolated From a Referral Hospital of Kathmandu, Nepal. Microbiol Insights. 2021; 14:11786361211056350.
- 26. Khanal PR, Satyal D, Bhetwal A, Link to external site this link will open in a new window, Maharjan A, Shakya S, et al. Renaissance of Conventional First-Line Antibiotics in Salmonella enterica Clinical Isolates: Assessment of MICs Therapeutic Antimicrobials for in Enteric Fever Cases from Nepal. BioMed Res Int. [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Aug 21]; 2017. Available from: https://www.proquest.com/docview/193 9715782/abstract/AA148688476E40CC PO/70.
- Khanal B, Sharma SK, Bhattacharya SK, Bhattarai NR, Deb M, Kanungo R. Antimicrobial Susceptibility Patterns of Salmonella enterica Serotype Typhi in Eastern Nepal. J Health, Popul Nutri. 2007 Mar; 25(1):82–7.
- Ali MK, Sultana S. Antimicrobial sensitivity patterns of salmonella typhi in children. Bangladesh J Med Sci. 2016; 15(3):416–8.
- 29. Ahmed D, Nahid MA, Sami AB, Halim F, Akter N, Sadique T, et al. Bacterial etiology of bloodstream infections and antimicrobial resistance in Dhaka, Bangladesh, 2005–2014. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017 Jan 5; 6(1):2.
- 30. Shah SAA, Nadeem M, Syed SA, Abidi STF, Khan N, Bano N. Antimicrobial Sensitivity Pattern of Salmonella Typhi: Emergence of Resistant Strains. Cureus [Internet]. 2020 Nov 29 [cited 2022 Oct 21];12(11). Available from: https://www.cureus.com/articles/42316antimicrobial-sensitivity-pattern-ofsalmonella-typhi-emergence-ofresistant-strains.
- 31. Saeed M, Rasool MH, Rasheed F, Saqalein M, Nisar MA, Imran AA, et al. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases

producing extensively drug-resistant Salmonella Typhi in Punjab, Pakistan. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2020 Feb; 14(2):169– 76.

- 32. Hardjo Lugito NP, Cucunawangsih null. Antimicrobial Resistance of Salmonella enterica Serovars Typhi and Paratyphi Isolates from a General Hospital in Karawaci, Tangerang, Indonesia: A Five-Year Review. Int J Microbiol. 2017; 2017:6215136.
- Amdani SK. Antibiotic resistance pattern of pediatric Typhoid fever patients at Harapan Kita Children and Maternity Hospital Jakarta, 1996. Med J Indones. 1998;7: 253–6.
- 34. Al-Mayahi FSA, Jaber SM. A preliminary study of multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) and extensively drug-

resistant (XDR) of bacterial causing typhoid fever isolated from stool specimens in Al-Diwaniya, Iraq. EurAsian J BioSci. 2020; 14(1):2369– 78.

- 35. Moehario LH, Tjoa E, Kalay VNKD, Abidin A, Moehario LH, Tjoa E, et al. Antibiotic Susceptibility Patterns of Salmonella Typhi in Jakarta and Surrounding [Internet]. Areas Salmonella - A Diversified Superbug. IntechOpen; 2012 [cited 2022 Nov 20]. Available from: https://www.intechopen.com/state.item.i d.
- Techasaensiri C, Radhakrishnan A, Als D, Thisyakorn U. Typhoidal Salmonella Trends in Thailand. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2018 Sep; 99(3 Suppl):64–71.



Available online at IJTID Website: https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Case Report

Purple Urine Bag Syndrome: a Rare Manifestation of Urinary Tract Infection

Ilma Dzurriyyatan Toyyibah^{1*}, Rosida Fajariya², Catur Budi Keswardiono², Lucas Teixeira Campos Queiroz³, Tarissa Diandra Putri Wibowo¹

¹ Faculty of Medicine, Airlangga University, Surabaya, Indonesia
 ²RSUD Syarifah Ambami Rato Ebu, Bangkalan, Indonesia
 ³Faculdade Ciências Médicas de Minas Gerais, Alameda Ezequiel Dias, Brazil

Received: 3rd January 2023; Revised: 24th January 2023; Accepted: 6th September 2023

ABSTRACT

Purple urine bag syndrome (PUBS) is rare manifestation of urinary tract infection (UTI). Epidemiological study showed the prevalence of purple urine bag syndrome about 8.3%-16.7% worldwide. There are some factors which lead to the disease including female, long-term urinary catheter, bedridden or immobile for long time, constipation, and urinary tract infection. The mechanism of this condition involves the tryptophan in intestine that is degraded into indole. In the liver, indole is conjugated into indoxyl sulphate. This conjugate product then is excreted into urine by the kidney. In the infected urinary tract, some gram-negative bacteria produce enzymes called sulphatase and phosphatase. It converts the conjugated product, indoxyl sulphate into pigments, red indirubin and blue indigo. The two pigments-combination produces purple pigment which appears in urine. We present a-61-year-old female who has history of cerebrovascular accident who came to our emergency room with purple urine over the previous seven days.

Keywords: : Purple Urine Bag Syndrome, Urinary Tract Infection, Chronic Urinary Catheterization, Beta Lactamase, and Escherichia coli.

Highlights: an adequate antibiotic treatment of UTI bring the clinical improvement of purple urine bag syndrome. Urine culture may give the benefit in choosing appropriate antibiotic.

How to Cite: Toyyibah, I. D., Fajariya, R., Keswardiono, C. B., Queiroz, L. T. C., Wibowo, T. D P. Purple Urine Bag Syndrome: a Rare Manifestation of Urinary Tract Infection. Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease. 12(1). 67 - 72. April. 2024.

DOI: 10.20473/ijtid.v12i1.42151

* Corresponding Author: ilma.toyyibah95@gmail.com


INTRODUCTION

Purple Urine Bag Syndrome (PUBS) is a rare manifestation Urinary Tract Infection (UTI) and first reported in 1978^{1} . The unusual urine color can be distressing for the patient and families. Actually, the first case of purple urine bag syndrome was reported in 1812; this phenomenon happened to King George $III.^2$ Epidemiological study reported prevalence of PUBS 8.3%-16.7%.^{3,4} Literature review by Yang et al.⁵ collecting data from October 1980 to August 2016 showed 116 case reports with PUBS.5,6 Female, elderly patient, constipation and chronically debilitated are considered to be the risk factor of PUBS.^{3,7} This condition has been considered as benign condition and appropriate antibiotic remains to be suggested for its treatment.⁵ We report a-61-year-old female with CVA pneumonia and PUBS as complication of UTI et causa prolong catheterization with Escherichia coli ESBL +.

CASE REPORT

A-61-year-old female with а background of cerebrovascular accident and chronic hypertension presented to emergency room with purple urine over the previous seven days (Figure 1). Due to neurogenic bladder. she had folev catheterization for one year which was changed every two weeks. For a few days, she lost appetite and did not drink enough water. There was no history of fever but she complained of pain on the tip of urethra. She was also suffering from melena and pneumonia. Her recent medication: adalat oros, candesartan, clopidogrel and citicoline.

The vital signs were stable while physical examination revealed pale conjunctiva, bilateral rhonchi, ascites and pitting edema in upper and lower extremities. Thorax photo showed

effusion. pneumonia with pleural Laboratory test showed anemia (Hb 6.3, normal range 11.7-15.5). hypoalbuminemia (1.2, normal range 3.4-4.8), slight increase of creatinine serum (1.66, normal range 0.45-0.75) and BUN (40, normal range 4.6-23). Her urinalysis at the emergency room showed pH 8, Protein +3, leucocyte esterase 500, Leucocyte 25-30/HPF, erythrocyte 2-4/HPF and bacteriuria +. While urine sample was sent for culture and antibiotic sensitivity test, patient was treated by ceftriaxone 2x1 gram. The foley catheter changed. also She received was transfusion of PRC and albumin to treat anemia hypoalbuminemia.

After three days of admission, urine returned to yellow, but the symptom of UTI was not completely improved. Second urinalysis was conducted and it showed pH 7.5, albumin +2, leucocyte esterase 500, blood +1, leucocyte 10-15/HPF, erythrocyte 15-20/HPF, uric amorphous +, cast + and bacteriuria ++. Urine culture revealed significant growth of *Escherichia coli* ESBL+ (>10⁵ cfu/ml) which was sensitive to amikacin. doripenem, ertapenem, meropenem, nitrofurantoin, minocycline and tetracycline. The patient was then given intravenous meropenem 3x1 gram for five days. After antibiotic was changed, the symptoms of UTI improved. The patient was discharged after 14 days of treatment.



Figure 1. Purple Urine in Urine Bag and Tubbing.



DISCUSSION

Urine Bag Syndrome Purple (PUBS) is an uncommon manifestation of UTI with prevalence 9.8% in patients with long term urinary catheter use.⁸ The mechanism of PUBS involves a sequence reaction of dietary digestion and absorption of tryptophan in the intestine.^{6,9} The tryptophan in the intestine is degraded by the bacteria and produces indole.^{5,10} Indole transported to liver by hepatic circulation and hepatic enzyme converts indole into conjugate indoxyl sulphate. ^{1,5,9} The indoxyl sulphate is secreted into the urine bv kidney.⁵ The sulphatase and phosphatase produced by certain gramnegative bacteria in the urinary tract converts the indoxyl sulphate into blue indigo pigment and red indirubin pigment through the oxidation process.^{1,5} The pigments combine causing purple staining of the urine. Not all the same species of bacteria produce sulphatase and phosphatase, but the bacteriuria is always present in all patients with PUBS even those without clinical symptoms of UTI⁵. Hepatic enzymes, bacterial urine oxidation, and the combination of indigo, a blue pigment, and indirubin, a red pigment, are the causes of the purplish discolorations of PUBS. The mechanism of purple urine bag syndrome us shown in Figure 2 below.



Figure 2. Mechanism of PUBS.

Based on the pathogenesis of PUBS, UTI is the factor developing the disease.¹⁰ It is because the bacteria contribute to produce enzyme degrading indoxyl sulphate into the pigment so that the urine became purple.⁵ All of the factors for UTI are also indirectly become risk factors for PUBS. Female has shorter urethra than male so that they are more likely to develop UTI.⁴ Some of studies showed female obviously associated with PUBS.^{5,10,11} The picture of PUBS in an old female patient are shown in Figure 3. In this presented case, the patient was an old debilitated female who complained pain on the tip of urethra which was a common symptom of UTI. She was on urine catheterization for a long time which is also the risk factor of PUBS. The condition of bedridden in this patient also has role in developing the disease. The bedridden condition is prone to reduce gut motility which is found relating to PUBS.⁴ In this condition of patient, urine catheter cannot be removed and it is important to reduce the risk of infection by improve the hygiene.¹²



Figure 3. The PUBS in an Old Female Patient with Long-Term Urinary Catheter.¹⁰

The bacteria that are most commonly associated with PUBS are



Providencia stuartti and rettgeri, Proteus mirabilis. Pseudomonas auruginosa. Klebsiella pneumoniae, Escherichia coli, Morganella, and citrobacter species, Enterococci, and Group B Streptococci^{2,12} The resistance organisms are infrequently reported.¹¹ The bacterium found in this patient was E. coli. The species of bacteria are the same with previous study, but in this case the bacteria produce extendedspectrum-beta-lactamase enzyme. The prevalence of extended spectrum betalactamase is high in Southeast Asia, Africa and Central America.¹³ E. coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae are frequently organisms that produce its enzyme to became resistant to beta-lactam antibiotics including cephalosporin-third generation and penicillin, which are most commonly used due to broad spectrum activity and less toxicity.14,15

Urine culture and antibiotic sensitivity test have a significant role for the treatment in this presented case. Urine culture shows type of pathogen and sensitivity test helps the physician to consider antibiotic treatment especially when there is no improvement after empirical antibiotic. In this patient, the symptom of UTI did not improve with ceftriaxone as an empirical antibiotic. After she got cultured guide antibiotic, the symptom of UTI was diminished.

Alkaline urine is also considered as an associated factor because indoxyl turns into indigo and indirubin in alkaline condition.⁴ Some cases, reported the patients with PUBS with alkaline urine.^{1,6,8} The urinalysis of this patient revealed pH > 7. However, it had ever been reported PUBS in acidic urine and it has shown us that the pH is not a causative factor, but an associated factor.⁴

PVC plastic catheter is also reported to contribute in developing the disease^{1,8}. PUBS is more frequent in patients with PVC urine bag than non-PVC urine bag. The interactions between the plastic urine catheter bag, the pigment produced by the bacteria and high bacterial load have a significant role in the disease¹.

There are many factors which contribute to develop the disease. Despite this, it is a benign ; purple urine bag syndrome is an indicate recurrent UTI due to improper hygiene⁸. Since there is no specific guideline for the disease, the management of UTI including antibiotic therapy is considered to be the important thing in PUBS treatment. Besides, good hygiene, changing the catheter regularly, considering non plastic catheter bag, treating underlying medical condition, and control of modified risk factors also bring about its resolution.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATION

The strength of this study is this was a rare case so it can give insight to manage a similar condition. The limitation of this study is the case presented is only a single case, so it is limited.

CONCLUSIONS

PUBS is rare manifestation of UTI and considered as a benign condition. There are many factors which contribute in developing the disease. Appropriate antibiotic treatment, good hygiene, good catheter care, treating underlying medical condition which precipitate to the disease and control of modified risk factors are the key in PUBS treatment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to thanks RSUD Syarifah Ambami Rato Ebu which supported this study.

ETHICAL CLEARANCE

This research was approved by the Health Reseach Ethics Committee of



UOBK RSUD Syarifah Ambami Rato EbuBangkalanwith0047/KEPK/XII/2023.

FUNDING

This research did not receive sponsors or specific funding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

IDT involved in conceptualization, collecting data, writing manuscript. RF involved in conceptualization, data review, and supervision. CBK involved in conceptualization, data review, and supervision.

REFERENCES

- Kalsi DS, Ward J, Lee R, Handa A. Purple Urine Bag Syndrome: A Rare Spot Diagnosis. Vol. 2017, Disease Markers. Hindawi Limited; 2017.
- 2. Neniwal VK, Swain S, Rulaniya SK, Hota D, Agarwal P, Yadav PK. Purple urine bag syndrome: An unusual manifestation of urinary tract infection, our experience at a tertiary care center. Curr Urol. 2023 Jun 1; 17(2):125–9.
- Kumar U, Singh A, Thami G, Agrawal N. Purple urine bag syndrome: A simple and rare spot diagnosis in Uroscopic rainbow. Urol Case Rep. 2021 Mar 1;35:101533
- Sabanis N, Paschou E, Papanikolaou P, Zagkotsis G. Purple Urine Bag Syndrome: More Than Eyes Can See. Curr Urol. 2019 Nov 18; 13(3):125–32.

- Yang HW, Su YJ. Trends in the epidemiology of purple urine bag syndrome: A systematic review. Vol. 8, Biomedical Reports. Spandidos Publications; 2018. p. 249–56.
- Worku DA. Purple urine bag syndrome: An unusual but important manifestation of urinary tract infection. Case report and literature review. SAGE Open Med Case Rep. 2019 Jan;7:2050313X1882310.
- Ywe W, Wong YWE AN, Wong Yi Wah E, Abdullah N. Purple urine bag syndrome: A startling phenomenon of purple urine in a urine drainage bag. A primary care approach and literature review. Vol. 13, Malaysian Family Physician. 2018.
- 8. al Montasir A, al Mustaque A. Purple urine bag syndrome. J Family Med Prim Care [Internet]. 2013; 2(1):104. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/10.4103/2 249-4863.109970
- Traynor BP, Pomeroy E, Niall D. Purple urine bag syndrome: A case report and review of the literature. Oxf Med Case Reports. 2017 Nov 1; 2017(11):215–7.
- Yaqub S, Mohkum S, Mukhtar KN. Purple urine bag syndrome: A case report and review of literature. Indian J Nephrol. 2013 Mar; 23(2):140–2.
- Llenas-García J, García-López M, Pérez-Bernabeu A, Cepeda JM, Wikman-Jorgensen P. Purple urine bag syndrome: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Eur Geriatr Med. 2017 Jul 1; 8(3):221–7.
- Pandey S, Pandey T, Sharma A, Sankhwar S. Purple urinary bag syndrome: What every primary healthcare provider should know. Vol. 2018, BMJ Case Reports. BMJ Publishing Group; 2018.
- Castanheira M, Simner PJ, Bradford PA. Extended-spectrum β-



lactamases: An update on their characteristics, epidemiology and detection. Vol. 3, JAC-Antimicrobial Resistance. Oxford University Press; 2021.

- 14. Vachvanichsanong P, McNeil EB, Dissaneewate P. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamase Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae urinary tract infections. Epidemiol Infect. 2020.
- Larramendy S, Deglaire V, Dusollier P, Fournier JP, Caillon J, Beaudeau F, et al. Risk factors of extendedspectrum beta-lactamasesproducing escherichia coli community acquired urinary tract infections: A systematic review. Vol. 13, Infection and Drug Resistance. Dove Medical Press Ltd; 2020. p. 3945–55.



Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease Author Guidelines

This journal is a peer-reviewed journal established to promote the recognition of emerging and reemerging diseases specifically in Indonesia, South East Asia, other tropical countries and around the world, and to improve the understanding of factors involved in disease emergence, prevention, and elimination.

The journal is intended for scientists, clinicians, and professionals in infectious diseases and related sciences. We welcome contributions from infectious disease specialists in academia, industry, clinical practice, public health, and pharmacy, as well as from specialists in economics, social sciences, and other disciplines. For information on manuscript categories and suitability of proposed articles see below and visit <u>https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/index</u>

Before you submit your manuscript, go back and review your title, keywords and abstract. These elements are key to ensuring that readers will be able to find your article online through online search engines such as Google. Submitted article must be appropriate with IJTID Author Guidelines. Please kindly check our **Template**. An author must upload a **Copyright Transfer Agreement** at supplementary file when submitting articles.

The process of Submission Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease is a fully electronic journal. All manuscripts MUST be submitted to the following <u>Online Submission</u>. DO NOT email the manuscript to the journal or editors. This journal is open access journal that is freely available to both subscribers and the wider public with permitted reuse.

SUBMISSION

To submit a manuscript, please go to <u>https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/user/register</u> If you do not have an IJTID author account on the Editorial Manager, create an account and log in with your username and password. Before uploading your manuscript to the Editorial Manager, ensure you have all the documents described in the manuscript preparation section.

All submitted manuscripts undergo rigorous editorial checks before they are sent for peer review. The manuscripts are checked for plagiarism and format. Manuscripts that do not pass the initial checks will be unsubmitted without peer review.

Download Conflict of Interest Form and Copyright Transfer Agreement, which can be obtained from Instructions & Forms tab. Completed forms should be submitted along with manuscripts during the submission period.

The manuscript will not be accepted if they are not formatted according to journal style and follow the instruction to authors.

All materials submitted for publication should be submitted exclusively to the IJTID unless stated otherwise.

REVIEW PROCESS

Peer Review

All manuscripts submitted undergo a double-blinded peer review process and are managed online. Authors are allowed to suggest up to 3 individuals who are qualified in the field to review the article. However, the reviewers must not be affiliated with the same institution(s), or have any potential conflict of interests in reviewing the manuscript. The editor's decision to accept or reject these reviewers is final. Decisions on manuscripts are made in accordance with the 'Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to IJTID (<u>https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/</u>).

Revision

Articles sent for revision to the authors does not guarantee that the paper will be accepted. Authors are given approxiately 2 weeks to return their revised manuscript. Note that if the revision is not received within 3 months, the Editorial Office will decide to reject.

PUBLICATION PROCESS

The final decision to publish or not to publish the articles lies with the Editor in Chief. The Editor retains the right to determine the style, and if necessary, edit and shorten any material accepted for publication.

When the galley proof is ready, the Editorial Office will send the proof to authors to check for its completeness. Confirmation or comments from the authors must be given within 48 hours of receipt of the proof, in order to avoid delays in publication of the manuscript. Significant alterations to the text will not be entertained at this stage, and the authors are responsible for all statements made in their work, including changes made by the Editorial team and authorised by the corresponding author.

Manuscripts without the approval of the galley proof by the authors and a completed Copyright Form will not be published. Once the author gives approval for publication, the Editorial Office will not be held responsible for any mistakes thereafter. No complimentary hard copy of the journal to authors is given. However, the soft copy of the article can be obtained from the journal's webpage <u>https://ejournal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/</u>

STATEMENTS, PERMISSIONS AND SIGNATURES

Authors and contributors

Designated authors should meet all four criteria for authorship in the IJTID Recommendations. Journal articles will not be published unless signatures of all authors are received. Author statement form should be uploaded. Written consent of any cited individual(s) noted in acknowledgements or personal communications should be included.

Conflict of Interests

All submissions to IJTID must include disclosure of all relationships that could be viewed as presenting a potential or actual conflict of interest. **All authors must declare the interest and complete the declaration form**. Completed declaration form should be uploaded, and the information about conflict of interest must bestated in the article body text.

Authors must state all possible conflict of interest in the manuscript, including financial, consultant, institutional and other relationships that might lead to bias or a conflict of interest. If there is no conflict of interest, this should also be explicitly stated as none declared. All sources of funding should

be acknowledged in the manuscript. All relevant conflict of interest and sources of funding should be included on the title page of the manuscript with the heading "Conflict of interest and Source of Funding:"

A conflict of interest appear when professional judgement concerning a primary interest (such as patients' welfare or validity of research) may be influenced by a secondary interest (such as financial gain). Financial relationships can also occur because of personal relationships or rivalries, academic competition, or intellectual beliefs. Failure to disclose conflicts might lead to the publication of a statement in our Department of Error or even to retraction.

The Editor may use such information as a basis for editorial decisions and will publish such disclosures if they are believed to be important to readers in judging the manuscript.

Agreements between authors and study sponsors that interfere with authors' access to all of a study's data, or that interfere with their ability to analyse and interpret the data and to prepare and publish manuscripts independently, may represent conflict of interest, and should be avoided.

Permissions to reproduce previously published material

Authors should include with their submission, copies of written permission to reproduce material published elsewhere (such as illustrations) from the copyright holder. Authors are responsible for paying any fees to reproduce the material.

MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

Language

All articles submitted must be written in English language. The Editorial Office does not offer proofreading services; therefore, it is the author's responsibility to ensure that the English language is thoroughly revised before submitting the work for publication. It is the responsibility of the authors to send their articles for grammar and editing services. Editorial Office reserves the right to reject a manuscript if the language is poor.

Organisation

The following documents are required for each submission, in this order:

- Cover Letter
- Proofreading Manuscript
- Copyright Transfer Agreement (signed by all the authors)
- Conflict of Interest Disclosure
- Publication Status Disclosure Form

Covering Letter

The covering letter should be uploaded at the stage of the online submission process. Explain in the covering letter, why your paper should be published in IJTID

Title Page

The title page should be an individual document, uploaded separately, that provides:

- Title of manuscript
- Full name of all authors;
- Details of the corresponding author
 - o Designation and Name of the corresponding author
 - o Contact details: email, telephone and fax number

Please refer to the sample of 'Title Page' that could be obtained from 'Instruction & Forms' tab Note: Persons designated as authors should have participated sufficiently in the work to justify authorship. Kindly refer to the section on authorship in the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts.

Submitted to IJTID Journals, available at <u>https://e-journal.unair.ac.id/IJTID/</u> The Editor may require authors to justify the assignment of authorship

Manuscript

Abstract and Keywords

- A concise and factual abstract is required. The abstract should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results, and major conclusions. The abstract should not exceed 250 words. It should include objectives and rationale of the study, the method used, main findings and significance of findings. It should be accompanied by up to 5 Keywords. The abstract should be available in English and Bahasa.
- Abstracts for should follow the structured format; with the heading of Introduction, Methods, Results and Conclusion.

Keywords

- Below the abstract, provide a maximum of 5 keywords that will assist in the cross-indexing of the article.
- Check and confirm that the keywords are the most relevant terms found in the title or the Abstract, should be listed in the medical subject headings (MeSH) list of Index Medicus found in http://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/meshhome.html

Main Text

- Please make the page settings of your word processor to A4 format, with the margins
- Moderate Style:
 - Top and Bottom : 1", Left and Right : 0.75"
- The manuscript should be in one columns with line spacing 1.15 lines; using Times New Roman font with font size 12; line number
- Restart Each Page style; insert page number in Bottom of Page. For Title, using Arial 14.
- The section headings are on boldface capital letters (UPPERCASE style). Second level headings are typed in boldface capital and lowercase letters (Capital Each Word style) except conjunction. Third level headings are typed in boldface italic capital and lowercase letters.
- Do not use boldface for emphasis within text

Figures

- Provide figures embedded in page. Figures should be drawn professionally. Photographs should be sharp (contrast). Provide footnotes and other information (e.g., source/copyright data, explanation of boldface) in the figure legend.
- Ensure that each illustration has a caption. Supply captions separately, not attached to the figure. A caption should comprise a brief title (not on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used
- Abbreviate "Figure" as "Fig.", e.g. Fig. 1, Fig. 2.
- Number the figures consecutively in Arabic numerals (e.g. Fig. 1, Fig. 2) in the order of their first citation in the text.
- Images as TIFF/JPEG files should be submitted with a minimum resolution of 300 DPI and a

minimum dimension of 1,000 x 1,000 pixels. Colour images should be submitted in CMYK format, instead of RGB format.

- Letters, numbers and symbols should be clear and even throughout, and of sufficient size so that when they are reduced in size for publication, each item will still be clearly identifiable.
- If a Figure has been previously published, acknowledge the original source and submit written permission from the copyright holder to reproduce the material.
- Authors' names and affiliations should not appear on the images.
- All Figures/Figure-parts relating to one patient should have the same Figure number.
- Symbols, arrows or letters used in photomicrographs should contrast with the background.

Please refer to sample of 'Figure' that could be obtained from 'Instruction & Forms' tab

Equations

Equations (refer with: Eq. 1, Eq. 2,...) should be indented 5 mm (0.2"). There should be one line of space above the equation and one line of space below it before the text continues. The equations have to be numbered sequentially, and the number put in parentheses at the right-hand edge of the text. Equations should be punctuated as if they were an ordinary part of the text. Punctuation appears after the equation but before the equation number. The use of Microsoft Equation is allowed. $c^2 = a^2 + b^2$.

Clinical Pictures

- The ideal Clinical Picture provides visual information that will be useful to other clinicians.
- Clinical Pictures should be interesting, educational, and respectful of the patient. IJTID is less interested in pictures that simply illustrate an extreme example of a medical condition.
- Authors must obtain signed informed consent for publication.
- Use no more than 450 words, with no references. The text should include brief patient history and must put the image in context, explaining what the image shows and why it is of interest to the general reader.

Tables

- Submit all tables in Microsoft word format only.
- Each table should be submitted separately.
- Number the tables consecutively in Roman numerals (e.g. Table I, Table II, Table III) in the order of their first citation in the text
- Provide a brief title, which should be shown at the top of each table
- Main table heading should be in 11 point Times New Roman font **BOLD**
- Legends should be in 11 points, single-spaced
- Tables should be in 10 point Times New Roman font, single-spaced
- Headings within tables should be in 8 points BOLD
- Place table explanations in the footnotes of the table
- Explain all non-standard abbreviations in the footnotes to the tables
- Obtain permission for publication before submission of the manuscript and acknowledge fully if data from another published source is used

Abbreviations and Symbols

- The full term for which an abbreviation or acronym stands should precede its first use unless it is a standard unit of measurement
- Symbols and abbreviations should be those used by British Chemical and Physiological Abstracts
- Weights, volumes, etc. should be denoted in metric units

Data

- International System of Units (S.I.) is required
- Numbers in text and tables should always be provided if % is shown
- Means should be accompanied by Standard Deviation and Medians by Inter-Quartile Range
- Exact p values should be provided, unless p<0.0001

Drug names

• Recommended international non-proprietary name (rINN) is required

References

- Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa).
- A minimum of 25 references for the original article, 35 for the review article should be included, and 15 for case report.
- References wrote on Vancouver (superscript) Style.
- In the Vancouver Style, citations within the text of the essay/ paper are identified by Arabic numbers in superscript. This applies to references in text, tables and figures. The writing process of article is suggested to use reference manager program (Mendeley, etc.). The Vancouver (Superscript) System assigns a number to each reference as it is cited. A number must be used even if the author(s) is named in the sentence/text. e.g. Smith 10 has argued that... The original number assigned to the reference is reused each time the reference is cited in the text, regardless of its previous position in the text. When multiple references are cited at a given place in the text, use a hyphen to join the first and last numbers that are inclusive. Use commas (without spaces) to separate non-inclusive numbers in a multiple citation e.g. 2,3,4,5,7 is abbreviated to... The placement of citation numbers within text should be carefully considered e.g. a particular reference may be relevant to only part of a sentence. As a general rule, reference numbers should be placed outside full stops and commas and inside colons and semicolons, however, this may vary according to the requirements of a particular journal. Examples There have been efforts to replace mouse inoculation testing with in vitro tests, such as enzyme linked Immunosorbent assays 57,60 or polymerase chain reaction 20-23 but these remain experimental. Moir and Jessel maintain "that the sexes are interchangeable". 1
- Use the form of references adopted by the US National Library of Medicine and used in the Index Medicus. Use the style of the examples cited at the end of this section.
- Personal communications and unpublished observation may not be used as a reference.
- Two references are cited separated by a comma, with no space. Three or more consecutive references are given as a range with an en rule. To create an en rule on a PC: hold down CTRL key and minus sign on the number pad, or on a Mac: ALT hyphen
- References in tables, figures and panels should be in numerical order according to where the item is cited in the text
- Give any subpart to the title of the article. Journal names are abbreviated in their standard form as in Index Medicus
- If there are six authors or fewer, give all six in the form: surname space initials comma
- If there are seven or more, cite the first three names followed by et al
- For a book, give any editors and the publisher, the city of publication, and year of publication
- For a chapter or section of a book, cite the editors, authors and title of the section, and the page numbers (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK7271/#A34171)
- For online material, please cite the URL, together with the date you accessed the website
- Online journal articles can be cited using the DOI number
- Do not include references in the Abstract.

Examples of reference style are given below:

Vancouver Citation Style for IJTID

Standard Format for Books:

Author Surname Initials. Title: subtitle. Edition (if not the first). Place of publication: Publisher; Year.

Book with 1-6 authors/editors

- 1. Abul A, Lichtman A, Pillai S. Cellular and molecular immunology. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders; 2012.
- 2. Calder PC, Field CJ, Gill HS, editors. Nutritional and immune function. Oxon: CABI Publishing; 2002.

More than 6 authors/editors (Book, Chapter in a book & etc.)

3. Fauci AS, Braunwald E, Kasper DL, Hauser SL, Longo DL, Jameson JL, et al. Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine. 17th ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 2008.

Chapter in a book

4. Vidyadaran S, Ramasamy R, Seow HF. Stem cells and cancer stem cells: Therapeutic Applications in Disease and Injury. In: Hayat MA, editor. New York: Springer; 2012.

Corporate/Organization as Author

5. Canadian Dental Hygienists Association. Dental hygiene: definition and scope. Ottawa: Canadian Dental Hygienists Association; 1995.

E-book

 Frank SA. Immunology and Evolution of Infectious Disease [Internet]. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2002 [cited 2014 December 17]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK2394/pdf/TOC.pdf

Standard Format for Journal Articles:

Author Surname Initials. Title of article. Title of journal, abbreviated. Year of Publication: Volume Number (Issue Number): Page Numbers.

Journal article 1-6 authors

1. Ramasamy R, Tong CK, Yip WK, Vellasamy S, Tan BC, Seow HF. Basic fibroblast growth factor modulates cell cycle of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Prolif. 2012;45(2):132-9.

Journal article with more than 6 authors

2. Abdullah M, Chai PS, Chong MY, Tohit ERM, Ramasamy R, Pei CP, et al. Gender effect on in vitro lymphocyte subset levels of healthy individuals. Cellular Immunology. 2012;272(2):214-9.

Journal article in press

3. Clancy JL, Patel HR, Hussein SM, Tonge PD, Cloonan N, Corso AJ, et al. Small RNA changes enroute to distinct cellular states of induced pluripotency. Nature communications.2014; 5:5522. Epub 2014/12/11.

It is the authors' responsibility to check all references very carefully for accuracy and completeness. Authors should avoid using abstracts as references. "Unpublished observations" and "personal communications" may not be used as references; if cited, a letter (from the person quoted) granting permission must be submitted. Subject to editorial approval, the person quoted will be cited in parentheses in the text and not in the reference section.

Acknowledgements

State contributions that need to be acknowledged, but do not justify authorship.

Acknowledgeable contributions include (not in exhaustive order) general support by a Department Head or Chairman, technical help, and financial and/or material support (including grants). Mention conflict of interest, if any.

ARTICLE CATEGORIES

The format for the text varies depending on the type of article. The article types and their respective formats are as follows: Original Article, Review Article, and Case Report.

Original Article

- An original article is a report on the research objectives and analytical process, as well as a discussion of the implications of the results of a study
 - The manuscript should be organised according to the of following headings:
 - o Title of the manuscript
 - o Abstract (Structured & 250 words) and Keywords
 - o Introduction
 - o Materials and Methods
 - o Results
 - o Discussion
 - o Conclusions
 - o Acknowledgements
 - o Conflict of Interest
 - o References (minimum 25 references)
- Use of subheadings in the main body of the text is recommended. Photographs and illustrations are encouraged. These are detailed studies reporting original research and are classified as primary literature.

Review Article

- It is usually a solicited/invited article written by an expert, providing critical analysis and recent information on a given speciality.
- The manuscript file should be organised according to the following headings:
 - o Title of the manuscript
 - o Abstract (Unstructured & 250 words) and Keywords
 - o Introduction
 - o Relevant section headings of the author's choice
 - o Summary
 - o References (minimum 35 references)
- Review articles give an overview of existing literature in a field, often identifying specific problems or issues and analyzing information from available published work on the topic with a balanced perspective.

Case Report

- These articles report specific instances of interesting phenomena. A goal of Case Studies is to make other researchers aware of the possibility that a specific phenomenon might occur. Case reports/ studies present the details of real patient cases from medical or clinical practice. The cases presented are usually those that contribute significantly to the existing knowledge on the field. The study is expected to discuss the signs, symptoms, diagnosis, and treatment of a disease. These are considered as primary literature and usually, have a word count similar to that of an original article. Clinical case studies require a lot of practical experience.
- The manuscript file should be organised according to the following headings:
 - o Title of the manuscript
 - o Abstract (Unstructured & 250 words) and Keywords
 - o Introduction
 - o Case Report
 - o Discussion
 - o Conclusions
 - o Acknowledgements
 - o Conflict of Interest
 - o References (Minimum 15 references)

PLAGIARISM

- Please be advised that all manuscripts submitted to the IJTID will be screened for plagiarism/ duplication.
- Authors are required to paraphrase <u>all</u> references citations in their own words. This is to prevent any misunderstandings regarding plagiarism.
- In the case where a particular citation would lose its original meaning and essence if paraphrasing is attempted, the Journal requires authors to enclose the citation in quotation marks ("") to indicate that it is a direct quote from the source. However, excessive use of such quotation marks is discouraged and should be utilised only when absolutely necessary.
- IJTID adopts a zero-tolerance towards plagiarism. Failure to comply with these instructions will result in the outright rejection of manuscripts without peer review, and appropriate action will be taken.
- The manuscript has not been published previously (partly or in full), unless the new work concerns an expansion of previous work (please provide transparency on the re-use of material to avoid the hint of text-recycling ("self-plagiarism"). Please kindly tell us if you already use plagiarism check (Turnitin, etc.).

POLICY ON DUAL SUBMISSION

- Submissions that are identical (or substantially similar) to previously published, or accepted for publication, or that have been submitted in parallel to other conferences are NOT appropriate for submission to IJTID and violate our dual submission policy.
- If you are in doubt (particularly in the case of material that you have posted on a website), we ask you to proceed with your submission but to include a copy of the relevant previously published work or work under consideration by other journals.
- Policy on Near-Duplicate Submissions o Multiple submissions with an excessive amount of overlap in their text or technical content are NOT acceptable. The Editors reserve the right to reject

immediately all submissions which they deem to be excessively similar and by the same authors. Such "shotgun submissions" are unacceptable, unfair to authors who submit single original papers, and place an additional strain on the review process.

ETHICS

Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease hence IJTID is a journal aims to be a leading peer- reviewed platform and an authoritative source of information. We publish original research papers, review articles and case studies focused on the epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment of infectious disease and control of infectious diseases with particular emphasis placed on those diseases as well as related topics that has neither been published elsewhere in any language, nor is it under review for publication anywhere. This following statement clarifies ethical behavior of all parties involved in the act of publishing an article in this journal, including the author, the editor, the reviewer, and the publisher (Institute of Tropical Disease – Universitas Airlangga). This statement is based on COPE's Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors.

Duties of Authors

1. Reporting Standards:

Authors should present an accurate account of the original research performed as well as an objective discussion of its significance. Researchers should present their results honestly and without fabrication, falsification or inappropriate data manipulation. A manuscript should contain sufficient detail and references to permit others to replicate the work. Fraudulent or knowingly inaccurate statements constitute unethical behavior and are unacceptable. Manuscripts should follow the submission guidelines of the journal.

2. Originality and Plagiarism:

Authors must ensure that they have written entirely original work. The manuscript should not be submitted concurrently to more than one publication unless the editors have agreed to co-publication. Relevant previous work and publications, both by other researchers and the authors' own, should be properly acknowledged and referenced. The primary literature should be cited where possible. Original wording taken directly from publications by other researchers should appear in quotation marks with the appropriate citations.

3. Multiple, Redundant, or Concurrent Publications:

Author should not in general submit the same manuscript to more than one journal concurrently. It is also expected that the author will not publish redundant manuscripts or manuscripts describing same research in more than one journal. Submitting the same manuscript to more than one journal concurrently constitutes unethical publishing behavior and is unacceptable. Multiple publications arising from a single research project should be clearly identified as such and the primary publication should be referenced

4. Acknowledgement of Sources:

Authors should acknowledge all sources of data used in the research and cite publications that have been influential in determining the nature of the reported work. Proper acknowledgment of the work of others must always be given.

5. Authorship of the Paper:

The authorship of research publications should accurately reflect individuals' contributions to the work and its reporting. Authorship should be limited to those who have made a significant contribution to conception, design, execution or interpretation of the reported study. Others who have made significant contribution must be listed as co-authors. In cases where major contributors are listed as authors while those who made less substantial, or purely technical, contributions to the research or to the publication are listed in an acknowledgement section. Authors also ensure that all the authors have seen and agreed to the submitted version of the manuscript and their inclusion of names as co-authors.

6. Disclosure and Conflict of interest:

All authors should clearly disclose in their manuscript any financial or other substantive conflict of interest that might be construed to influence the results or interpretation of their manuscript. All sources of financial support for the project should be disclosed.

7. Fundamental Errors in Published Works:

If the author discovers a significant error or inaccuracy in the submitted manuscript, then the author should promptly notify the journal editor or publisher and cooperate with the editor to retract or correct the paper.

8. Hazards and Human or Animal Subjects:

The author should clearly identify in the manuscript if the work involves chemicals, procedures or equipment that have any unusual hazards inherent in their use.

Duties of Editor

1. Publication Decisions:

Based on the review report of the editorial board, the editor can accept, reject, or request modifications to the manuscript. The validation of the work in question and its importance to researchers and readers must always drive such decisions. The editors may be guided by the policies of the journal's editorial board and constrained by such legal requirements as shall then be in force regarding libel, copyright infringement and plagiarism. The editors may confer with other editors or reviewers in making this decision. Editors have to take responsibility for everything they publish and should have procedures and policies in place to ensure the quality of the material they publish and maintain the integrity of the published record.

2. Review of Manuscripts:

Editor must ensure that each manuscript is initially evaluated by the editor for originality. The editor should organize and use peer review fairly and wisely. Editors should explain their peer review processes in the information for authors and also indicate which parts of the journal are peer reviewed. Editor should use appropriate peer reviewers for papers that are considered for publication by selecting people with sufficient expertise and avoiding those with conflict of interest.

3. Fair Play:

The editor must ensure that each manuscript received by the journal is reviewed for its intellectual content without regard to sex, gender, race, religion, citizenship, etc. of the authors. An important part of the responsibility to make fair and unbiased decisions is the upholding of the principle of editorial independence and integrity. Editors are in a powerful position by making decisions on publications, which makes it very important that this process is as fair and unbiased as possible.

4. Confidentiality:

The editor must ensure that information regarding manuscripts submitted by the authors is kept confidential. Editors should critically assess any potential breaches of data protection and patient confidentiality. This includes requiring properly informed consent for the actual research presented, consent for publication where applicable.

5. Disclosure and Conflict of interest:

The editor of the Journal will not use unpublished materials disclosed in a submitted manuscript for his own research without written consent of the author. Editors should not be involved in decisions about papers in which they have a conflict of interest.

Duties of Reviewers

1. Confidentiality:

Information regarding manuscripts submitted by authors should be kept confidential and be treated as privileged information. They must not be shown to or discussed with others except as authorized by the editor.

2. Acknowledgement of Sources:

Reviewers must ensure that authors have acknowledged all sources of data used in the research. Reviewers should identify relevant published work that has not been cited by the authors. Any statement that an observation, derivation, or argument had been previously reported should be accompanied by the relevant citation. The reviewers should notify the journal immediately if they come across any irregularities, have concerns about ethical aspects of the work, are awareof substantial similarity between the manuscript and a concurrent submission to another journal or a published article, or suspect that misconduct may have occurred during either the researchor the writing and submission of the manuscript; reviewers should, however, keep their concerns confidential and not personally investigate further unless the journal asks for further information or advice.

3. Standards of Objectivity:

Review of submitted manuscripts must be done objectively and the reviewers should express their views clearly with supporting arguments. The reviewers should follow journals' instructions on the specific feedback that is required of them and, unless there are good reasons not to. The reviewers should be constructive in their reviews and provide feedback that will help the authors to improve their manuscript. The reviewer should make clear which suggested additional investigations are essential to support claims made in the manuscript under consideration and which will just strengthen or extend the work

4. Disclosure and Conflict of Interest:

Privileged information or ideas obtained through peer review must be kept confidential and not used for personal advantage. Reviewers should not consider manuscripts in which they have conflict of interest resulting from competitive, collaborative, or other relationships or connections with any of the authors, companies, or institutions connected to the papers. In the case of double-blind review, if they suspect the identity of the author(s) notify the journal if this knowledge raises any potential conflict of interest.

5. Promptness:

The reviewers should respond in a reasonable time-frame. The reviewers only agree to review a manuscript if they are fairly confident they can return a review within the proposed or mutually agreed time-frame, informing the journal promptly if they require an extension. In the event that a reviewer feels it is not possible for him/her to complete review of manuscript within stipulated time then this information must be communicated to the editor, so that the manuscript could be sent to another reviewer.

COPYRIGHT NOTICE

As an author you (or your employer or institution) may do the following:

- make copies (print or electronic) of the article for your own personal use, including for your own classroom teaching use;
- make copies and distribute such copies (including through e-mail) of the article to research colleagues, for the personal use by such colleagues (but not commercially or systematically, e.g. via an e-mail list or list server);
- present the article at a meeting or conference and to distribute copies of the article to the delegates

attending such meeting;

- for your employer, if the article is a 'work for hire', made within the scope of your employment, your employer may use all or part of the information in the article for other intra-company use (e.g. training);
- retain patent and trademark rights and rights to any process, procedure, or article of manufacture described in the article;
- include the article in full or in part in a thesis or dissertation (provided that this is not to be published commercially);
- use the article or any part thereof in a printed compilation of your works, such as collected writings or lecture notes (subsequent to publication of the article in the journal); and prepare other derivative works, to extend the article into book-length form, or to otherwise re-use portions or excerpts in other works, with full acknowledgement of its original publication in the journal;
- may reproduce or authorize others to reproduce the article, material extracted from the article, or derivative works for the author's personal use or for company use, provided that the source and the copyright notice are indicated, the copies are not used in any way that implies IJTID endorsement of a product or service of any employer, and the copies themselves are not offered for sale.
 All copies, print or electronic, or other use of the paper or article must include the appropriate

Requests from third parties

Although authors are permitted to re-use all or portions of the article in other works, this does not include granting third-party requests for reprinting, republishing, or other types of re-use. Requests for all uses not included above, including the authorization of third parties to reproduce or otherwise use all or part of the article (including figures and tables), should be referred to IJTID by going to our website at <u>http://e-journal.unair.ac.id/index.php/IJTID</u>

Every accepted manuscript should be accompanied by "Copyright Transfer Agreement" prior to the article publication

PRIVACY STATEMENT

The names and email addresses entered in this journal site will be used exclusively for the stated purposes of this journal and will not be made available for any other purpose or to any other party.

CONTACT

The Editorial Office can be contacted at ijtid@itd.unair.ac.id

bibliographic citation for the article's publication in the journal.

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease Conflicts of Interest Statement

Manuscript title: _____

The authors whose names are listed immediately below certify that they have NO affiliations with or involvement in any organization or entity with any financial interest (such as honoraria; educational grants; participation in speakers' bureaus; membership, employment, consultancies, stock ownership, or other equity interest; and expert testimony or patent-licensing arrangements), or non-financial interest (such as personal or professional relationships, affiliations, knowledge or beliefs) in the subject matter or materials discussed in this manuscript.

Author names:

The authors whose names are listed immediately below report the following details of affiliation or involvement in an organization or entity with a financial or non-financial interest in the subject matter or materials discussed in this manuscript. Please specify the nature of the conflict on a separate sheet of paper if the space below is inadequate.

Author names:

This statement is signed by all the authors to indicate agreement that the above information is true and cor-rect (*a photocopy of this form may be used if there are more than 10 authors*):

Author's name (typed)		Author's signature		Date
	-		-	
	-		-	
	-		-	
	-		-	
	-		-	
	-		-	
	-		-	
	-		-	
	_		-	

(Please fax completed conflict of interest statement to Institute of Tropical Disease at +62-31-5992445: Attention to Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease, Universitas Airlangga, or scan the completed form and email to <u>ijtid@itd.unair.ac.id</u>)

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease Copyright Transfer Agreement

Manuscript No: Manuscript Title:		Category:	
••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••

in the *Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease* ("the Journal") if the Work is accepted for publication. The undersigned authors transfer all copyright ownership in and relating to the Work, in all forms and media, to the Proprietor in the event that the Work is published. However, this agreement will be null and void if the Work is not published in the Journal.

Copyright Transfer Agreement: Each author must sign this form to certify that:

- 1. I/We hereby assign completely and absolutely to IJTID with effect from the date of acceptance of the above titled manuscript for publication in IJTID, all present and future copyrights to the manuscript. Such assignment of copyright shall include, without limitation to the foregoing, the exclusive right to do any and all acts in all countries in which the copyright (or analogous rights) in the manuscript subsists (or in the future subsists) together with all rights of action in respect of any past or existing infringement of such copyright;
- 2. The manuscript above is my/our original work without fabrication, fraud, or plagiarism and has not been published previously elsewhere (printed or electronic form in the internet/discussion groups/electronic bulletin boards) or has been submitted or under consideration for publication elsewhere.
- 3. That the manuscript contains no violation of any existing copyright or other third party right or any material of an obscene, libelous or otherwise unlawful nature, and that I/we will indemnify the Editors of IJTID against all claims and expenses (including legal costs and expenses) arising from breach of this warranty and the other warranties on my/our behalf in this agreement.
- 4. That I/we have obtained permission for and acknowledged the original authors of the source of any illustrations, diagrams or other materials used in the manuscript of which I am/we are not the original copyright owner/s.
- 5. All authors warrant that they each meet the requirements for authorship enumerated in the Journal's Instructions for Authors and understand that if the paper or part of the paper is found to be faulty or fraudulent, each shares the responsibility.

I have read and understand the above conditions and provide the appropriate signatures and information below:

Name (in FULL):	Signature	
(Corresponding or senior author/Copyright holder)	Date:	

if co-authors have agreed for corresponding author to sign on behalf of them

Co-Authors (Names in full with signatures and date). Attached an additional sheet if there is insufficient space below.

Author's name, signatures	Date	Author's name, signatures	Date
Author's name, signatures	Date	Author's name, signatures	Date
Author's name, signatures	Date	Author's name, signatures	Date
Author's name, signatures	Date	Author's name, signatures	Date
Author's name, signatures	Date	Author's name, signatures	Date

(Please fax completed copyright transfer agreement to Institute of Tropical Disease at +62-31-5992445: Attention to Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease, Universitas Airlangga, or scan the completed form and email to <u>ijtid@itd.unair.ac.id</u>)

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease Disclosure Form Publication

Manuscript title: _____

Authorship Responsibility: I have read the submitted manuscript that includes my name as an author and vouch for its accuracy. I certify that I have participated sufficiently in the conception and design of this work and the analysis of the data (where applicable), as well as the writing of the manuscript, to take public responsibility for its content. I believe the manuscript represents honest and valid work. To the best of my knowledge, it contains no misrepresentations. I have reviewed the final version of the submitted manuscript and approve it for publication. If requested, I shall produce the data on which the manuscript is based for examination by Archives or its assignees.

Signature: _____

Prior or Duplicate Publication: I warrant that the manuscript is original and its essential substance, tables, or figures have not been previously published in part or in whole. The manuscript or one with substantially similar content under my authorship or the data within it has not been accepted for publication elsewhere and it is not presently under review by any other publisher. The manuscript will not be submitted for publication elsewhere until a decision has been made on its acceptability for publication in Archives. This restriction does not apply to brief abstracts or press reports published in connection with scientific meetings.

Signature: _____

Plagiarism statement: I certify that this assignment/report is my own work, based on my personal study and/or research and that I have acknowledged all material and sources used in its preparation, whether they be books, articles, reports, lecture notes, and any other kind of document, electronic or personal communication. I also certify that this assignment/report has not previously been submitted for assessment in any other unit, except where specific permission has been granted from all unit coordinators involved, or at any other time in this unit, and that I have not copied in part or whole or otherwise plagiarised the work of other students and/or persons. I acknowledge and understand that plagiarism is wrong.

Signature: _____

(Please fax completed copyright transfer agreement to Institute of Tropical Disease at +62-31-5992445: Attention to Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease, Universitas Airlangga, or scan the completed form and email to <u>ijtid@itd.unair.ac.id</u>)

Indonesian Journal of Tropical and Infectious Disease

ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO REVIEWER

Vol. 12 No. 1 January - April 2024

Dr. Eko Budi Koendhori, dr., M.Kes., SpMK(K) Puri Safitri Hanum, dr., Sp.PD Prof. Dr. Aryati,dr, MS, Sp.PK(K) Prof. Dr. drh. Fedik Abdul Rantam dr. Pepy Dwi Endraswari, M.Si Heri Budiono, dr., SpU dr. Diah Puspita, SpPK Aditea Etnawati Putri, dr. sp.P.K dr. Ulfa Kholili, Sp.PD Dr. Ni Njoman Juliasih, dr., M.Kes, Dr. Mochammad Bagus Qomaruddin, drs, MSc Deby Kusmaningrum, dr., M.Si., Sp MK